
SCRUTINY : REGENERATION, 
PLANNING AND 

COUNTRYSIDE MEETING
2.30 pm TUESDAY, 13TH DECEMBER, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 

possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow Up 
Actions 
To receive an update from the Chair

4. Performance Report - Policy and Implementation 
To consider the attached report 1 - 16

5. LDP Annual Monitoring Report 2016 
To consider the attached report 17 - 124

6. Vibrant and Viable Places (VVP) Report 
To consider the attached report 125 - 136

7. Performance Report - Corporate Plan Priority Area 
6 (Employability) 
To consider the attached report 137 - 150

8. Performance Report - Corporate Plan Priority Area 
5 (Economic Development) 
To consider the attached report 151 - 164

9. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair



10. Scrutiny Work Programme 2016-17 
To consider the attached report 165 - 178

11. Any Other Business deemed urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillor:  G Jones (Chair)

Councillors: B Carter, H Barrett, S P Brown, 
E Galsworthy, D Jones and M O'Neill

Co-optee(s): H Jackson

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN
Main Tel:  01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report – Policy and Implementation 

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
1.1. This report provides an overview of the Policy & Implementation Group which is part 

of the wider Planning and Countryside Division within the Place and Transformation 
Directorate. 

1.2. In 2016 outcomes are good as the Local Development Plan has been adopted and is 
monitored annually and because the Open Space Strategy have been approved.

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1. The judgements and evaluations are noted and debated.

Date Written 01 December 2016

Report Author Christopher O’Brien / Judith Jones

Service Policy & Implementation

Committee Date 13 December 2016

Page 1

Agenda Item 4

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

National Context
3.1. All local authorities in Wales are required to secure continuous improvement in the 

exercise of their functions by identifying their own priorities for improvement.  This 
legal requirement is set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

Council Vision
3.2. To strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the 

Valleys, and be a place to be proud of where:

a) People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions
b) People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life
c) People visit, enjoy and return

Planning and Countryside Strategic Vision
3.3. To ensure that the development and use of land in Merthyr Tydfil is undertaken in a 

sensitive manner following a holistic approach with the central organising principle of 
sustainable development, to facilitate sustained growth, promote social inclusion, 
safeguard the environment, and provide an excellent quality of life for all.

Planning and Countryside 
3.4. Planning is a statutory, customer focussed service with a high public and political 

profile. The service is acknowledged by the Audit Commission and others as being 
pivotal to the County Borough’s regeneration ambitions and is a key factor in achieving 
the Council’s corporate priorities.

3.5. The purpose of the Planning & Countryside service is to discharge its regulatory 
functions to control the development and use of land and buildings in the public 
interest within an adopted policy framework, thus playing a key enabling role in the 
continued regeneration of Merthyr Tydfil.

3.6. The service is divided into three specialist sections which work together to bring their 
expertise to individual projects:-
• Planning Policy & Implementation
• Development Control
• Building Control. 

3.7. The Policy & Implementation Group comprises nine members of staff, including one 
part-time. The group receives leadership support from the Head of Planning & 
Countryside and technical support from within the Planning and Countryside 
department. Corporate support is provided by communications, legal, HR, payroll and 
ICT.

Page 2



3.8. The group comprises:
• Group leader – Policy and Implementation. The post is filled by a chartered Town 

Planner and Member of the Institute of Leadership and Management.
• Planning (Countryside) Officer. The post is filled by a qualified ecologist.
• Landscape Architect. The post is filled by a Chartered Landscape Architect.
• Biodiversity Officer. This post is filled by an officer with species licences.
• Geographical Information Systems (Planning) Officer. This post is filled by a 

Chartered Geographer and fellow of the Royal Geographic Society.
• Design, Heritage and Conservation Officer. This post is filled by a licentiate member 

of Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors and of the Institute of Historic Building 
Conservation.

• Planning (Policy) Officers x 2.6. These posts are filled by officers eligible for 
membership of the Royal Town Planning Institute.

3.9. There has been some staff turnover since 2013; however the structure remains largely 
intact with the reduction of 0.4 of a Planning (Policy) Officer post an efficiency saving 
in 2015. The group provides expert advice into policy development, decision making 
and in delivering outcomes across six broad areas:

• Town and Country Planning
• Landscape
• Geographical Information Systems
• Ecology and Biodiversity
• Countryside
• Design, Heritage and conservation.

3.10. Significant benefits are realised through cooperation of the specialist officers within the 
group. For example on preparing the evidence base to inform the Local Development 
Plan (LDP). 

Performance Board
3.11. The Planning and Countryside Performance Board was held on 28th September 2016. 

A brief overview of the discussion that too place can be found in Appendix III and the 
actions and subsequent updates can be found in Appendix II. 

Page 3



4. WHERE WE WERE
4.1. In 2012/13 the self-evaluation of the Town Planning Division found as follows:

• Outcomes – Adequate
• Provision of Service Delivery – Good 
• Strategic Leadership and Management – Adequate 

March 2013 March 2013

Key Indicator
Merthyr Tydfil Wales LDP 

Target
Number of additional affordable housing units provided 
during the year as a percentage of all additional housing 
units provided during the year (PLA/006).

49% 45% 10%

Policy & Implementation
4.2. The Local Development Plan (LDP) was adopted in May 2011, providing a strong 

basis for the determination of planning applications.

4.3. The number of additional affordable housing units provided during the year as a 
percentage of all additional housing units provided (49%) was above the Wales 
average (45%). The LDP target reflects Policy AS22 of the Local Development Plan 
which seeks the provision of 10% affordable housing on sites of 10 units or more in the 
Primary Growth Area.

4.4. The 60% target for the number of additional units provided during the year on 
previously developed land as a percentage of all additional housing units provided 
during the year (PLA/007) was exceeded.1

4.5. Good progress was being made towards adopting 4 Supplementary Planning 
Guidance Notes (SPGs).

4.6. Progress for introducing the Community Infrastructure Levy and for preparing 
Conservation Area Appraisals was slower than anticipated. 

4.7. The service operated within budget. 

5. WHERE WE WANT TO BE
5.1. In 2017 we want to maintain the performance level achieved by progressing the 

preparation of; the replacement Local Development Plan; reviewing the Buildings at 

1 The number of additional units provided during the year on previously developed land as a percentage of all 
additional housing units provided during the year (PLA/007) is no longer collected as a national indicator.

Page 4



Risk records and updating the Built Heritage Strategy; by preparing a Corporate GIS 
strategy; and by continuing to make improvements to open spaces.

5.2. We also want to ensure the requirements of the Environment (Wales) Act are met.

Key Indicators
March 2016
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2017
Merthyr Tydfil

Number of additional affordable housing units provided 
during the year as a percentage of all additional housing 
units provided during the year (PLA/006).

36 10

6. WHERE WE ARE NOW

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

Policy & Implementation
6.1. Outcomes for the community for Policy & Implementation are good as the Local 

Development Plan remains within its plan period which provides certainty to 
developers and a vehicle to enable a number of corporate priorities to be realised (i.e. 
Economic Growth and a Sustainable Environment). 

March 2015/16 March 2015/16

Key Indicators
Merthyr Tydfil Wales 

Average
LDP 
Target

Number of additional affordable housing units provided 
during the year as a percentage of all additional housing 
units provided during the year (PLA/006).

36% 36% 10%

6.2. 6 SPGs have been completed, the first Community Infrastructure Levy contribution 
was received in August 2015 and 3 Conservation Area Appraisals were completed in 
2014 (Dowlais, Thomastown, Council and Urban Street).

6.3. The Council has adopted the Open Space Strategy. 

6.4. It is considered that the outcomes that are now clearly defined for the service will 
ensure a more consistent.

Page 5



7. HOW DID WE GET HERE

Reference to Initiatives
(Full details in Appendix II)

Initiatives completed
7.1. A full review of the adopted Local Development Plan has been undertaken has been 

undertaken which indicated the requirement for a replacement plan to be prepared.

7.2. Annual Monitoring Report submitted to Welsh Government.

7.3. Open Space Strategy adopted.

Lessons learnt
7.4. A full replacement Local Development Plan is required.

8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

New initiatives
8.1. Review the implications of the Planning (Wales) Act 2015 legislation.

8.2. Review the implications of the Environment (Wales) Act 2015 legislation.

8.3. Invest in upskilling staff by reviewing workforce planning.

8.4. Submission of Annual Monitoring Report to Welsh Government.

9. WELLBEING AND FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT  
9.1. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (WFG) Act became law in Wales on 29 April 

2015. The Act is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural 
wellbeing of Wales.

Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
9.2. The Act sets out a number of sustainable development principles:

• Long term: balancing short term need with long term and planning for the future;
• Collaboration: working together with other partners to deliver objectives;
• Involvement: involving those with an interest and seeking their views;
• Prevention: putting resources into preventing problems occurring or getting worse;
• Integration: positively impacting on people, economy and environment and trying to 

benefit all three.

Page 6



9.3. The work undertaken by Local Planning Authority directly contributes to the 
achievement of sustainable development.  

Planning (Wales) Act 2015
9.4. The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 was given Royal Assent on 6th July 2015. The act sets 

out a series of legislative changes to deliver reform of the planning system in Wales, to 
ensure that it is fair, resilient and enables development. The act addresses 5 key 
objectives:
• A modernised framework for the delivery of planning services – the act introduces 

powers to allow planning applications to be made directly to Welsh Ministers in 
limited circumstances.

• Strengthening the plan led approach – the act introduces a legal basis for the 
preparation of a National Development Framework and Strategic Development 
Plans.

• Improved resilience – the act will allow the Welsh Ministers to direct local planning 
authorities to work together and for local planning authorities to be merged.

• Frontloading and improving the development management system – the act will 
introduce a statutory pre application procedure for defined categories of planning 
application.

• Enabling effective enforcement and appeals – the act enables changes to 
enforcement procedures to secure prompt, meaningful action against breaches of 
planning control and increase the transparency and efficiency of the appeal system.

9.5. Taken together with proposed changes to secondary legislation, policy and guidance, 
the act will:
• Support delivery of the homes, jobs and infrastructure that Wales requires.
• Provide opportunities to protect and enhance our most important built and natural 

environments.
• Support the use of the Welsh language.

Environment (Wales) Act 2016
9.6. The Act sets out Wales' approach to planning and managing natural resources at a 

national and local level with a general purpose linked to statutory 'principles of 
sustainable management of natural resources' defined within the Act. The 
Environment (Wales) Act introduces a new, enhanced Biodiversity and Resilience of 
Ecosystem Duty on public bodies to ensure that biodiversity is an integral part of 
decision making. The Duty will replace the existing Natural Environment and Rural 
Communities (NERC) Act 2006 Duty. Public authorities will be required to report on the 
actions they are taking to improve biodiversity and promote ecosystem resilience. 

Page 7



JUDITH JONES 
HEAD OF SERVICE: PLANNING AND 
COUNTRYSIDE 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS BARRY
PORTFOLIO: REGENERATION, PLANNING 

AND COUNTRYSIDE

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)
Local Development Plan Annual Monitoring Report (see separate Agenda item)

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 may affect the Council’s Constitution.

Page 8



Appendix I Data

Policy & Implementation

TITLE
The number of additional affordable housing units provided during the 
year as a percentage of all additional housing units provided during the 
year (PLA/006)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank
2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17 2015/16

MT 49 78 16 36 - 10 11
Wales 

Average
45 37 41 36 - - -

Note: There is no national % target. LA ranking provides an indication of performance. The latest affordable housing statistical 
release (2015) is below. This information monitors the progress made towards the March 2014 target, of 10,000 additional 
affordable homes to be delivered during the term of Government, as well as monitoring the commitments outlined in the 
‘National Housing Strategy – ‘Improving Lives and Communities – Homes in Wales’ and the Programme for Government 2011 
-2016, which outlines the Welsh Government commitment to ‘Continue to deliver funding for new affordable homes in Wales’.

 

Page 9



Appendix II Projects

Back

PROJECT (A) Local Development Plan.

PROJECT MANAGER Head of Planning & Countryside.

DESCRIPTION To prepare a replacement Local Development Plan.

SOURCE Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) To have an adopted development plan to guide development 
decisions until 2031.

START DATE 10 August 2016

FINISH DATE 31 December 2019

PROJECT UPDATE 31 October 2016
Work has commenced on the Sustainability Appraisal baseline scoping 
report which will inform a review of strategic options on the level and 
distribution of growth. Joint involvement is ongoing with the Cwm Taf 
Public Service Board with an event on 4th November 2016

Back

PROJECT (B) Built Heritage Strategy.

PROJECT MANAGER Head of Planning and Countryside.

DESCRIPTION The review and update the Council’s Built Heritage Strategy.

PROJECTS Apr
2016

Jul
2016

Oct
2016

Jan
2017

Apr
2017

Jul
2017

Oct
2017

Jan
2018

Apr
2018

Jul
2018

Oct
2018

Jan
2018

Local Development Plan.

Built Heritage Strategy.

Corporate GIS Strategy

Environment Act Plan

Environment and 
Sustainable Development 
(ESD) Grant.

Page 10



SOURCE Planning & Countryside Service Priority Key Outcome.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) To conserve and enhance the County Borough’s Built Heritage.

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 31 October 2016

Buildings at Risk survey (baseline information to inform the 
strategy) to be complete by end of 2016.

Back

PROJECT (C) Corporate GIS Strategy

PROJECT MANAGER Head of Planning and Countryside.

DESCRIPTION To develop a Corporate GIS Strategy.

SOURCE Planning & Countryside Service Priority Key Outcome.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Data sharing and improve accessibility of Information. 

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 31 October 2016

Draft strategy complete by end January 2017.

Back

PROJECT (D) Environment Act Plan

PROJECT MANAGER Head of Planning and Countryside.

DESCRIPTION To contribute to the development of the Council’s Environment 
Act Plan.

SOURCE Planning & Countryside Service Priority Key Outcome.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) To ensure the Council meets its statutory duty to promote and 
enhance biodiversity and ecosystems. 

START DATE

FINISH DATE

Page 11



PROJECT UPDATE 31 October 2016

Discussed at Performance Board in September 2016 and at a 
scrutiny meeting of ‘Countryside Services’ in October 2016. The 
service will contribute to meeting this Corporate requirement.

Back

PROJECT (E) Environment and Sustainable Development (ESD) Grant.

PROJECT MANAGER Head of Planning and Countryside.

DESCRIPTION To deliver the following elements of the ESD:
 ‘Community engagement’ under the ‘Local 

Environment Quality’ work stream.
 ‘Sustainable social economic environmental project 

development’ under of the ‘Natural Resource 
Management’ work stream.

SOURCE Planning & Countryside Service Priority Key Outcome.

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) To deliver environmental and sustainability outcomes.

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 31 October 2016

Co-operation agreement completed with Keep Wales Tidy to 
deliver part of these elements. 

Page 12



Back

PROJECT TITLE Local Development Plan

PROJECT MANAGER Chris O’Brien 

DESCRIPTION
Collaborate with the Youth Forum to establish additional 
representation for young people as a part of the LDP process.

SOURCE Performance Board (28th September 2016)

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Improve systems, processes and engagement for LDP purposes.

START DATE 28 September 2016

FINISH DATE TBC

PROJECT UPDATE 31st October 2016

Ongoing. Will pursue alongside pre-deposit involvement in early 
2017.  

Page 13



Appendix III 

Performance Board (28th September 2016)

Areas Discussed

Local Development Plan (LDP)

 The session commenced with the Policy and Implementation Group Leader quoting an 
extract from the Welsh Government (WG) letter approving the LDP delivery agreement, 
stating that ‘the LDP is a corporate tool’.  A lengthy conversation took place in relation to 
the LDP review and how it will align with the wellbeing objectives.  In preparation for 
this, work has commenced on sustainability appraisals and intelligence gathering 
exercises. The first Steering group and Working groups took place in November.   

 Issues were identified regarding the Non Domestic Rates (NDRs) as they have not been 
mapped with a Unique Property Reference Number (UPRN).The Planning and 
Countryside department will be working collaboratively with other Local Authorities in 
the region to develop the Strategic Development Plan (SDP).   The capacity of the 
Policy and Implementation team to manage the impending workload was discussed.  

 Discussions took place around affordable housing and how the targets differ in the 
Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA) to the LDP. The LDP targets are being met.  
 

 It was acknowledged that the Open Space Strategy was approved in June 2016 which 
sets out the open spaces for each ward.  The Open Space Strategy contributes to  the 
Wellbeing goals such as a Healthier Wales etc.  

 It was confirmed that the Estates department already consult with the Planning and 
Countryside department for their advice prior to any land sales.  However, it was 
suggested that the team engage with the Youth Forum to secure additional 
representation from young people going forward.

Environment Act

 There was a lengthy discussion on the Environment Act and it was agreed that the 
Policy and Implementation team had the expertise and qualifications to contribute to 
achieving the General Duties of the Environment (Wales) Act on behalf of the Local 
Authority.  However, it was acknowledged that this would be a corporate document and 
as such, other departments throughout the Authority would be required to feed in to the 
document.  Progress on this matter should be reported to the Governance Scrutiny on 
this matter.

Page 14



 It was noted that the positive outcomes achieved by the Planning and Countryside 
department should be publicised more via the Contact magazine, web site, Twitter etc.  
(e.g.  The green flags awarded throughout the borough). 

Building Control

 The Building Control manager gave an overview of the section, which included a brief 
description of the structure and the work undertaken by the team.  It was noted that the 
department consists of 3 staff members; therefore, any absences have a detrimental 
impact on the remaining staff and the performance targets.  It was suggested that a 
business case is produced to identify the resilience of the service and the viability of a 
new post within the Building Control section.

 A lengthy discussion took place around the general tasks performed by the team and 
what would possibly happen if the Council solely relied on third party companies to 
undertake building regulation applications. It was established that the department is cost 
neutral in part, due to the fees generated from building control applications. 

 The performance measures and targets had not been revised in a number of years and 
it was decided that the local measures BCT/007 and BCT/004 were inappropriate and 
should be discarded.  The Building Control manager is to work with the Performance 
team to ensure more suitable measures are reported on in the future.  

 It was established that the section has encountered a number of IT problems 
particularly when receiving ‘large’ plans electronically.  An investigation in to this is to be 
completed immediately as this negatively impacted on the team’s customer service and 
performance. 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT 
 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

LDP Annual Monitoring Report 2016 
 
 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) is submitted to the Welsh Government 

in October each year and assesses the extent to which the Local 
Development Plan’s strategy, policies and sites are being delivered. 

 
 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
2.1 That the Scrutiny Committee notes for information the content of the Annual 

Monitoring Report for 2015/16. 
 
 
 
3.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
3.1 This item is on the Committees Annual Work Programme. 
 

“The Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that an AMR is 
produced and submitted to WG each year. The AMR reports on the success 
(or not) of the LDP in delivering/implementing policies”. 

 
3.2 The recently published Annual Monitoring Report for the period 1st April 2015 

to 31st March 2016 is attached for the Committee’s information. 
 
 

Date Written 1st December 2016 
Report Author Christopher O’Brien / Judith Jones 
Service Area Policy & Implementation 
Committee Date 13th December 2016 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



3.3 The AMR is used to assess the extent to which the LDP is achieving. It has 
two primary roles; firstly to consider whether the policies identified in the 
monitoring process are being implemented successfully; and secondly to 
consider the plan as a whole against all of the information gathered to 
determine whether a complete or partial review of the plan is necessary. 

 
3.4 Section 76 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires local 

planning authorities to monitor the implementation of their Adopted Local 
Development Plan (LDPs) by preparing an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) 
that is to be submitted to the Welsh Government (WG) by the end of October 
each year. The AMR is therefore a statutory requirement as is its submission 
to WG by the 31st October 2016. 

 
 
 
JUDITH JONES  
HEAD OF SERVICE: PLANNING AND 
COUNTRYSIDE  

COUNCILLOR CHRIS BARRY 
PORTFOLIO: REGENERATION, 

PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE 
 

Page 18



MERTHYR TYDFIL 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 

2006-2021 

 

ANNUAL MONITORING REPORT 

For the period 

1
st

 April 2015 – 31
st

 March 2016 

 

Published October 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Miss J. Jones 
Head of Planning and Countryside 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Unit 5 

Triangle Business Park 
Pentrebach 

Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4TQ 

 
 
 

Page 19



1 

 

 

 
 
Contents 
 
 
 
 
1.0 Introduction....................................................................2 
 
2.0 Policy performance........................................................5  
 
3.0 Policy assessments.......................................................7 
 
4.0 Community infrastructure levy����������...64 
 
5.0 Sustainability performance............................................65 
 
6.0 Sustainability assessments...........................................67 
 
7.0 Conclusions and recommendations..............................87 
 

Appendix 1: Quick-reference to policy achievements�91 
 

Page 20



2 

 

1.0 Introduction 
 

1.1 The Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 2006-2021 was formally adopted by 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council on 25th May 2011. 

 

1.2  Under the provisions of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, all 

Councils have a duty to produce an LDP Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) which must 

be submitted to the Welsh Government at the end of October each year. 

 

1.3 This report represents the fifth AMR of the Merthyr Tydfil LDP and is based on the 

period 1st April 2015 – 31st March 2016 with referrals to earlier parts of the plan period 

where indicators dictate this to be necessary. The Report has two primary roles – the 

first is to consider whether the policies identified in the monitoring framework are 

being implemented, and secondly, to consider whether the plan as a whole is working 

successfully.  

  

 The requirement for LDP monitoring 

1.4 In order to monitor performance consistently, the plan needs to be considered against 

a standard set of monitoring targets and indicators. Chapter 6 of the LDP sets out the 

monitoring targets and indicators that will be used as a basis for this AMR and reflect 

the information that is required to be included by LDP Regulation 37.  In this context, 

the AMR is required to: 

• Identify policies that are not being implemented, and for each such policy 

o identify reasons why the policy is not being implemented 

o identify steps that can be taken to enable the policy to be implemented 

o explore whether a revision to the plan is required. 

• Specify the housing land supply from the current Joint Housing Land Availability 

Study Report for that year, and for the full period since the adoption of the plan, 

• Specify the number of net additional affordable and general market dwellings 

built in the LPA area for that year, and for the full period since the adoption of 

the plan. 

 

1.5 The LDP Manual Edition 2 (August 2015) supplements the above requirement by 

setting out additional factors that should be included in the AMR, namely: 

• Significant contextual change, including a review of the fortunes of any 

significant local industries, emerging national planning guidance or a significant 

planning application; 

• Sustainability monitoring related to the Strategic Environmental Assessment 

/Sustainability Appraisal (SEA/SA) report and integrated assessment process; 

• Strategy monitoring, to assess whether the plan is achieving its main objectives, 

and whether it is “on track” in terms of the level of implementation; 

• Policy monitoring, to highlight any policies which are not functioning effectively, 

and to highlight how such issues will be addressed; 

• The need for new Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) or further research 

and analysis; and  

Page 21



3 

 

• Conclusions and recommendations, which identify any improvements/changes 

to key parts of the plan that would need to be considered in a future review and 

possible plan revision. (Paragraph 9.4.4)  

 

Format and content of the Annual Monitoring Report 

1.6  The AMR has been designed as far as possible to be a succinct and easily 

accessible document that can be used as a convenient point of reference to ascertain 

the Plan’s performance over the period under review. 

 

1.7 Inevitably, the monitoring process involves the collection and interpretation of 

significant amounts of data, but the Council considers that the inclusion of this more 

detailed information within the AMR would lead to the report being overly long and 

cumbersome to use. Content has therefore been restricted to the pertinent results. 

 

• Sections 2 and 3 consider the extent to which each of the LDP’s strategic 

objectives is being realised with reference to policy performance and relevant 

policy assessments. As part of this consideration, the report also examines 

any contextual changes that have occurred during the period under review.  

 

• Section 4 reports on the implementation of the Community Infrastructure 

Levy during the monitoring period. 

 

• Sections 5 and 6 consider sustainability performance through the 

assessment of sustainability indicators and outline the principal findings of 

monitoring against the indicators identified in the SEA/SA report, identifying the 

main effects and whether a review of the plan is necessary on sustainability 

grounds. 

 

• Section 7 contains the conclusions and recommendations with reference to 

the analysis made in the preceding sections. 

 

• Appendix 1 sets out a quick-reference summary to policy achievements based 

on the template for the full monitoring framework included at Chapter 6 of the 

LDP Written Statement. 

 

Policies considered to be failing  

1.8 If policies are found to be failing, clear recommendations on what needs to be done to 

address these failings are identified as part of Section 3.  

 

1.9 However, just because a policy reaches one (or more) of its trigger levels, it should 

not be assumed that the policy is necessarily failing. There may be extraneous 

circumstances that are causing the poor performance which the plan has no control 

over, or the policy may be failing in part due to over-achievement in other policy 

areas.  It is the role of the AMR to consider whether the policy is failing or whether 

there are mitigating circumstances that could not be influenced by the Plan.  Where it 

is found that the Monitoring Framework results are affected by factors outside the 

remit of the plan, amending the plan will have no effect and will not ensure the 

Page 22



4 

 

implementation of policy as required by the Regulations. In these instances, the policy 

cannot be construed to be failing and will not be identified as such in its consideration 

in the AMR. 

 

1.10 Furthermore, whilst there is a significant amount of statistical information gathered 

and used in monitoring, the information gained through this process must be 

balanced against a complete consideration of the policies and issues raised. It would 

be inappropriate for the statistical information to solely and directly dictate when 

policies, or the plan as a whole, require amendment. Such a literal and rigid 

assessment would fail to take account of the multitude and variety of factors that 

influence the performance of the plan.  A more measured and considered approach, 

that takes account of these factors, whilst acknowledging the findings of the 

monitoring information, provides the best approach to ensure effective monitoring of 

the plan. 

 

Future Monitoring 

1.11 The monitoring process is dependent upon a wide range of statistical information that 

is sourced from both local authority and external sources.  Whilst the Council can 

control information that it supplies, it is recognised there is a risk of change in respect 

of external data which lies beyond the control of the Local Planning Authority. Even 

minor changes to external data have the potential to render certain existing Indicators 

ineffective or obsolete. As a consequence, the Council envisages that the Monitoring 

Framework will inevitably evolve during the course of the plan period and each AMR 

will be used as a means of drawing attention to unavoidable change.  

 

Review of the LDP 

1.12 In May 2015, the Council commenced a full review of the adopted LDP which was 

informed by the findings of preceding AMRs, updates to the evidence base and 

ongoing surveys. The review process culminated with the production of a Review 

Report1 which recommends the preparation of replacement LDP following the full 

revision procedure. This significant contextual change has influenced many of the 

policy and sustainability assessments, conclusions and recommendations made in 

sections 3, 6 and 7 of the AMR. 

                                                           
1
 The Review Report was approved by Full Council on 20

th
 April 2016. 

Page 23



5 

 

2.0 Policy Performance 
 

2.1 This section considers the extent to which the LDP’s strategy is being realised with 

reference to the performance of particular policies against the indicators, targets and 

triggers contained within the LDP monitoring framework. The structure of the section 

is as follows: 

 

Strategic objective 

2.2 This is the starting point for the monitoring process. The AMR replicates each of the 

12 overarching LDP objectives from which the LDP policies flow. 

 

Contextual changes 

2.3 Before the performance of the policies is considered, it is important for the AMR to 

identify any significant contextual changes that have occurred since the LDP was 

prepared. Such changes are likely to be circumstantial in nature and will lie outside 

the remit of the Plan.  

 

2.4 In identifying any relevant contextual changes, the AMR is able to consider the 

implications of each change and whether or not the performance of an individual 

policy is likely to have been affected. 

 

Indicators 

2.5 The LDP monitoring framework contains a variety of core and local indicators which 

will inform policy progress and achievement. The selection of these indicators has 

been guided by the need to identify output indicators which are able to measure 

quantifiable physical activities that are directly related to the implementation of LDP 

policies.   

 

2.6 Several of the core indicators are either prescribed by LDP Regulation 37 or 

recommended by the LDP Manual for their ability to enable an assessment of the 

implementation of national policy. Further core indicators were identified on the basis 

of their ability to provide useful information on whether the delivery of the LDP 

strategy is progressing as anticipated. 

 

2.7 The local indicators supplement the core indicators and have been selected based on 

the availability and quality of data and their relevance to the local area. Some local 

contextual indicators have also been included which cover key local characteristics 

against which LDP policies operate.  

 

Targets 

2.8 The policy indicators are associated with corresponding targets which provide a 

benchmark for measuring policy implementation. Given the length of the plan period, 

it is necessary to incorporate ‘milestone’ targets to determine whether the Plan is 

progressing towards meeting the overall strategy. The timeframe attributed to such 

targets primarily relates to the anticipated delivery of development. The Council will 

investigate any policy that fails to meet its target. The level of consideration given to 

Page 24



6 

 

such policies within the AMR will depend on the reasons identified for the failure and 

the significance of the policy for the delivery of the overall plan strategy.  

 

Triggers 

2.9 Trigger levels have also been included for certain targets to ensure that any potential 

failings in policy implementation are identified at an early stage enabling an early 

review of the Plan if necessary. They will provide a clear indication of when policy 

targets are not being met, or insufficient progress is being made towards meeting 

them. 

 

Analysis 

2.10 Having set out the results of policy performance with reference to the indicators, 

targets and triggers of the LDP’s monitoring framework, the AMR proceeds to provide 

an analysis of those results and includes the identification of any policies that have 

reached their trigger points. This analysis also considers whether those policies 

require amendment taking into account any mitigating circumstances. 

 

Recommendations 

2.11 Following the analysis of policy performance, appropriate recommendations are put 

forward including a statement of any actions that are required to be taken. For 

instance, certain policies may need adjusting or amendments to the plan may be 

required to secure successful implementation overall. 

 

Overall findings for each strategic objective 

2.12 Finally, for each strategic objective, an overall statement of performance is provided 

and a conclusion made on whether that particular objective is being achieved through 

the combination of policies identified. 

 

Explanation of performance criteria  

2.13 As a visual aid in monitoring the effectiveness of individual policies, and to provide a 

quick reference to collective policy performance, a colour coded assessment is 

included based on the criteria set out below. Colour coding in certain cells may be 

split to reflect the fact that performance against targets may sometimes differ from 

performance against trigger levels. 

 

 
Targets / objectives are being achieved.  
 
 

 
 

 
Targets have not been achieved but there are no concerns over the 
implementation of policy / objectives. 
 

 
 

 
Targets have not been achieved with resulting concern over 
implementation of policy / objectives. 
 

 
 

 

Page 25



7 

 

3.0 Policy Assessments 

 
3.1 The following pages set out the policy assessments with reference to the relevant 

strategic objectives. 

 

 Strategic Objective SO1: To capitalise on Merthyr’s strategic position, further 

developing its role as the main commercial, service and employment centre in 

the Heads of the Valleys area by focusing development within the main Town 

of Merthyr Tydfil.  

 

3.1.1 Contextual Changes 

 

Retail 

 

The report “Town Centres and Retail Dynamics: Towards a Revised Retail Planning 

Policy for Wales” (April 2014), which examined the effects of our current retail 

planning policies on town centres, found that Wales has a negative ‘balance of trade’ 

and pointed to the need to refresh parts of our existing retail planning policy.  

Following this, The Minister for Natural Resources agreed to review and update 

Planning Policy Wales (PPW) Chapter 10: Planning for Retail and Town Centres and 

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 4: Retailing and Town Centres so that they are in line 

with the Welsh Government’s objective to enhance the vitality, attractiveness and 

viability of established centres as the most appropriate locations for retailing and 

other complementary functions.  

 

Consultation on proposed changes to PPW Chapter 10 and TAN 4 took place 

between September and November 2015. The principal areas of change to Chapter 

10 include revised objectives for retail planning policy including the need for flexibility 

in responding to market changes, a stronger emphasis on the need for LDP retail 

policies to be framed by a retail strategy and a requirement for LDPs to set-out a 

locally-derived hierarchy of centres. The proposed revision to TAN 4 is 

comprehensive and reflects and supports the guidance set out in the updated draft of 

PPW Chapter 10. 

 

The proposed changes to national retail policy, if adopted by the Welsh Government, 

will result in the need to revise elements of retail policy within the LDP. This work will 

be undertaken as part of preparing a replacement LDP.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



8 

 

3.1.2  Policy Monitoring 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW1 

AS1 

 

Number of new 

homes built in 

the primary 

growth area 

Between 1,890 

and 2,110 net 

completions by 

April 2016 

- 1,288 completions by 

the end of March 

2016 
 

 

Analysis 

 

The data collected shows that 1,288 dwellings were built in the Primary Growth Area 

between the start of the plan period (2006) and the end of March 2016. In terms of spatial 

distribution across the County Borough, this figure, when compared to the number of 

dwellings built in the Secondary (323) and Other Growth Areas (45), indicates that the 

greatest proportion of dwellings has been built in the Primary Growth Area. The total 

number of completions is, however, significantly below the level required to meet the lower 

end of the target range of delivering at least 1,890 dwellings by April 2016. 

 

The statutory four year review of the LDP was undertaken over the monitoring period and it 

has been found that the Plan’s enhanced growth strategy which, amongst other things, 

requires ambitious levels of housing delivery, is not currently being delivered. While there 

are signs of improving economic conditions, there remains uncertainty over when delivery 

rates can reach the level necessary to meet the requirements of the Strategy. 

Consequently, it is considered that both the level and spatial distribution of growth needs to 

be reconsidered in order to establish whether the Strategy is the most appropriate for the 

delivery of future growth. 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

The LDP review has identified the need to prepare a replacement LDP following the full 

revision procedure. The latter will involve the reconsideration of both the level and spatial 

distribution of housing provision through the identification of strategic options for 

development up to 2031. The most appropriate strategic option will form the basis of the 

replacement LDP’s preferred strategy. 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW1 

AS14 

New 

employment 

floor-space 

built in the 

primary 

growth area 

 

Between 

36,490 and 

40,470 sq 

m net floor-

space by 

April 2016 

Greater than 

14,700 sq m 

per annum or 

less than 

1,834 sq m 

per annum for 

2 consecutive 

years. 

 

Current 

figure at end 

of March 

2016 is 

25,494 sq m 

0 sq m of 

floor-space 

delivered 

during 

2015/2016 

Page 27



9 

 

 

Analysis  

 

The monitoring framework contains a performance indicator which relates to Policies BW1 

and AS14, namely a net target for employment floor-space built in the Primary Growth Area 

by April 2016, and a trigger level figure. 

 

As reported in the first AMR, the target indicator for the delivery of new employment floor-

space up to April 2011 (the end of the first phase of the plan) has been met. Whilst 

progress has been made towards meeting the employment floor-space target for 2016, 

there has been a significant slowdown in amount of employment floor-space delivered over 

the last three monitoring periods, with only 206 sq m delivered during 2013-2014 and 0 sq 

m delivered during both 2014-15 and 2015-2016 (see Graph 1 below which shows the 

cumulative floor-space built in the Primary Growth Area since LDP adoption). 

 

As a consequence, the cumulative amount of employment floor-space delivered remains at 

25,494 sq m and the trigger level continues to be reached as the amount of employment 

floor-space delivered has been less than 1,834 sq m for three consecutive annual 

monitoring periods. The employment floor-space target for April 2016 (between 36,490 and 

40,470 sq m) will not be met, reflecting the fact that employment allocations E8 (Car Park, 

Hoover Factory), E6 (Rhydycar) and E4 (Goatmill Road) have not been delivered by 2016 

as anticipated in Appendix 5 of the LDP. It is therefore increasingly unlikely that the longer 

term target for 2021 (at least 110,080 sq m) will be met. It should also be noted that part of 

the allocation E5 (Ffos-y-Fran) is to be used for sustainable drainage as part of the 

approved restoration strategy for the land reclamation site.  

  

 
 

Graph 1 

    

 

 

 

Page 28



10 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

The reduction in the amount of new employment floor-space delivered over the last three 

monitoring periods means that future delivery requirements will increase, and in turn, will be 

more difficult to achieve. Consequently, there is now less certainty over whether the 

employment floor-space targets for 2021 will be met.  

 

Further analysis of the employment market, including site delivery and market 

requirements, will need to be undertaken through the preparation of the replacement LDP. 

In doing so, there will be an opportunity to reconsider the LDP’s strategy, policies and 

allocations in respect of employment. 

 

Notwithstanding the above, further efforts need to be made to raise awareness of available 

sites within the County Borough and to promote Merthyr Tydfil as a suitable location for 

employment. More detailed recommendations on the marketing of employment sites can be 

found in the policy assessment section of Strategic Objective S07, which relates specifically 

to economic development.  

 

 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

AS18 

AS20 

 

New retail 

floor-space 

built in the 

town centre 

(sq m) 

Approximately 

1,460 sq m net 

floor-space by 

the end of 2016 

No application 

registered by 

the end of 2014 

No retail application 

registered by the end 

of the March 2016  

 

 

 

Analysis 

 

The monitoring framework contains a core performance indicator which relates to Policies 

AS18 and AS20, namely, a net target retail floor space figure for the Town Centre by the 

end of 2016, and a trigger level figure by the end of 2014.  Meeting this target primarily 

depends on the delivery of the Central Bus Station allocation (R1). 

 

In order to enable the early identification of any potential failings in the aforementioned 

retail policies, a trigger level was set requiring the registration of a planning application by 

the end of 2014. The AMR of 2014-2015 highlighted the fact the trigger level had been hit 

and indicated that the retail allocation on the Central Bus Station may not come forward as 

anticipated. This situation remains unchanged with no planning application being registered 

over the current monitoring period (2015-2016). Consequently, it is evident that the target of 

building 1,460 sq m of new retail floor-space in the Town Centre by the end of 2016 will not 

be met.      

 

Notwithstanding this, the development of the Central Bus Station for retail is dependent on 

Page 29



11 

 

the relocation of the bus station to Swan Street on the combined sites of the former Hollies 

Health Centre and the Central Police Station.  In terms of progress, both community 

services have been relocated to other sites within the County Borough and both buildings 

have now been demolished.  A planning application for the new ‘Intermodal Transport 

Facility’, which includes a small amount of ancillary retail floor-space, was also submitted 

and subsequently approved in February 2016 and July 2016 respectively. It is anticipated 

that the new ‘Intermodal Transport Facility’ will be completed in 2017/2018.  

  

Even though the Central Bus Station is unlikely to be available for redevelopment until 

2017/2018, there remains the prospect of new retail floor-space being delivered in the town 

centre by 2021. Therefore, although retail development will not have come forward within 

the timescale anticipated, it could reasonably be delivered within the remaining plan period. 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

To closely monitor the progress on delivering the new ‘Intermodal Transport Facility’, and to 

revisit Policies AS18 and AS20 as part of preparing a replacement LDP. The latter will need 

to take into account any changes to national retail policy and guidance, and future 

requirements for additional convenience and comparison floor-space up to 2031. 

 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

AS18 

AS19 

Local - Town 

Centre Health 

Checks 

i) Total annual 

vacant floor 

space in Town 

Centre 

 
(Vacancy rate 

currently at 13% - 

Retail, Commercial 

and Leisure 

Capacity Study, 

2009) 

 

 

 

ii) Percentage 

of A1 retail 

uses in primary 

shopping area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vacancy rate to 

reduce to 9% 

(UK average 

2009) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Maintain a 

percentage of 

at least 83% 

 

 

Vacancy rate 

increasing for 1 

year or 

remaining static 

above target for 

2 consecutive 

years 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Percentage 

less than 83% 

 

 

 

 

 

15.9% 

 

 

Decreased 

(0.8%) 

 

 

81% 

 

 

A1 units 

decreased 

by 1.3% 

Page 30



12 

 

 

Analysis  

 

The monitoring framework contains two indicators which provide an insight into the health 

of the town centre, namely the total amount of vacant floor-space in the town centre and the 

percentage of A1 retail uses in the primary shopping area. 

 

In respect of the town centre vacancy rate, the current percentage of vacant units is 15.9%, 

which represents a decrease of 0.8% from the previous AMR; meaning that although this is 

above the target’s rate, it does not hit the trigger level, which is favourable. 

 

There is considerable variation between the UK and Welsh town centre vacancy rates.  The 

British Retail Consortium reported that the UK town centre vacancy rate was 8.7% in 

January 2016, which is an improvement on the vacancy rate of 10.4% in January 2015. In 

Wales, it has similarly dropped from last year’s rate of 15.5% in January 2015 to 13.7% in 

January 2016.  

 

Although the monitoring target is based on the national figure, it is considered more 

appropriate to compare Merthyr Tydfil’s vacancy rate with the Welsh figure given the closer 

similarity in economic circumstances. Therefore, although Merthyr Tydfil is 7.2% higher 

than the national average, in comparison to the Welsh average it is only 2.2% higher.  

 

It should also be noted that the Townscape Heritage Initiative is underway in the town 

centre with several properties currently under renovation. As a result, it is anticipated the 

vacancy rate will fall further over the next monitoring period (2016/2017) as more buildings 

are brought back in to beneficial use. The Vibrant and Viable Places regeneration 

programme will also bring certain disused town centre buildings back in to use in the near 

future. Given these circumstances and the fact that the vacancy rate has reduced by 0.8% 

over the monitoring period, it is considered that the vacancy rate is less of a concern than it 

was in last year’s AMR. 

  

With regard to the percentage of A1 retail uses in the primary shopping area, the figure has 

dropped by a further 1.3% over the monitoring period to 81%. The percentage of A1 retail 

uses therefore continues to be below the target and associated trigger of less than 83%. 

The marginal decrease does, however, result from planning permissions for the change of 

use of two properties from A1 to other commercial uses which were deemed suitable in a 

town centre location. The planning permissions also ensured that otherwise vacant 

properties were brought back in to beneficial use and that the vitality, viability and 

attractiveness of the town centre was maintained. Policy AS19 is therefore considered to be 

functioning effectively. 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

The health of UK and Welsh economy undoubtedly continues to impact on the health of the 

town centre and, in particular, the failure to decrease the vacancy rates to the set target.  

The effectiveness of LDP Policies AS18 and AS19 are therefore difficult to fully quantify.  

Page 31



13 

 

 

Whilst there remains concern over Merthyr Tydfil’s town centre’s vacancy rate continuing to 

be above the Welsh average, it is promising that it has begun to fall alongside the UK and 

Welsh average. It is, however, recognised that Merthyr Tydfil’s town centre vacancy rates 

have fluctuated since adoption of the LDP and future monitoring is necessary in order to 

identify whether the aforementioned regeneration initiatives are having a beneficial effect 

and this downward trend in vacancy rates has been firmly established. 

 

Although the percentage of A1 retail uses in the Primary Shopping Area has slipped further 

below the relevant trigger, the loss of two A1 retail units was justified in planning terms and 

there are currently no concerns over the effectiveness of LDP Policy AS19 at this point in 

time. However, if future monitoring identifies that a downward trend has been established, 

amendments may be required to this policy through the preparation of the replacement 

LDP.  

 

3.1.3 Overall summary on policy performance and conclusion on whether the 

strategic objective is being achieved 

 

For the purposes of this annual monitoring report, the level of achievement towards 

Strategic Objective SO1 is based on the performance of 6 separate LDP policies as 

outlined above. 

 

It is clear that the level of development in the Primary Growth Area has been lower 

than expected, particularly in respect of the number of new homes being constructed. 

There are also concerns over the slowdown in the amount of new employment floor-

space delivered over the last three monitoring periods. Consequently, it appears 

increasingly unlikely that the LDP’s enhanced growth strategy will be delivered by 

2021 and the review of the LDP has identified the need to reconsider the level and 

spatial distribution of growth in order to establish whether the current Strategy is the 

most appropriate for delivering future growth. The preparation of a replacement LDP 

will therefore need to consider both housing and employment provision through the 

identification of alternative strategic options for development up to 2031. A review of 

all undeveloped housing and employment allocations in the LDP will also be 

necessary to ensure that development on these sites remains viable and the 

allocations will be delivered over an extended plan period. 

 

In terms of the town centre, new retail floor-space has not come forward as quickly as 

anticipated; however, progress is being made with the relocation of the central bus 

station and there remains a reasonable prospect of new retail development being 

delivered by 2021. Although it is of concern that town centre vacancy rates remain 

higher than the Welsh average, the fact that the rate has decreased over the 

monitoring period is positive and further monitoring is necessary to in order to 

establish whether a downward trend has been established. In addition, despite the 

percentage of A1 retail uses in the primary shopping area dropping further below its 

target, future monitoring is necessary in order to identify whether a new trend has 

been established and whether policy amendments will be required. 

Page 32



14 

 

It is therefore considered that this Strategic Objective is only partially being met and 

the issues identified above will need to be considered further as part of the 

preparation of the replacement LDP. 

 

Page 33



15 

 

3.2 SO2: To focus appropriate levels of development within the County Borough’s 

smaller valley communities to create affordable and attractive places to live 

with good access to jobs and services. 

 

3.2.1 Contextual Changes 

 

No significant contextual changes relating to this strategic objective have been 

introduced during the monitoring period. 

 

3.2.2 Policy Monitoring 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

 

BW2 

AS2 

Number of new 

homes built in 

secondary 

growth area 

Between 280 

and 320 net 

completions by 

April 2016 

- 

 

 

323 completions 

by the end of 

March 2016 

 

 

 

Analysis  

 

The monitoring data collated shows that 323 dwellings have been built in the Secondary 

Growth Area between the start of the plan period (2006) and the end of March 2016. This 

figure indicates that the Secondary Growth Area has met the LDP target in terms of housing 

delivery by April 2016. This is predominantly the result of completions taking place on H48 

(adjacent to the Shingrig Estate, Trelewis) which is likely to contribute a similar volume of 

housing over the next several years.  

 

As a consequence, in terms of spatial distribution, the correct proportion of housing has 

been built in the Secondary Growth Area in comparison to the Primary and Other Growth 

Areas of the County Borough. 

   

 

Recommendations  

 

This element of policy is being achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

 

BW3 

AS3 

Number of new 

homes built in 

other growth 

areas. 

Between 200 

and 240 net 

completions by 

April 2016 

 

 

 

 

- 

45 completions 

by the end of 

March 2016 

Page 34



16 

 

 

Analysis 

 

The monitoring data collated shows that 45 dwellings have been built in the Other Growth 

Areas between the start of the plan period (2006) and the end of March 2016. This figure 

indicates that the target for dwelling completions in the Other Growth Areas by April 2016 

has not been met.  

 

The majority of completions in the Other Growth Areas will take place on Project Riverside, 

Merthyr Vale. The infrastructure works have been completed on the site, and a marketing 

exercise was undertaken earlier this year, with the disposal of the site being processed 

over summer 2016. 

 

Whilst housing development on the site has not made any contribution to completion rates 

to date, it is considered that the 150 anticipated dwellings can be delivered on the site by 

2021. It is therefore considered that achieving the longer term target of delivering 245 new 

dwellings by 2021 remains a reasonable possibility and a ‘yellow’ score has again been 

given accordingly. 

 

Recommendations  

 

Whilst the housing completion target for April 2016 will not be met for the Other Growth 

Areas, there is no immediate concern given the progress made on Project Riverside, 

including the completion of infrastructure works and the disposal of the site to a private 

developer. Anticipated housing development on this site, therefore, has the potential to 

meet the longer term target of delivering 245 new dwellings by 2021. 

 

Close monitoring of Project Riverside should therefore continue in conjunction with the 

preparation of a replacement LDP where the appropriateness of the housing strategy, 

policies and allocations will be considered in more detail. 

 

 

3.2.3 Overall summary on policy performance and conclusion on whether the 

strategic objective is being achieved 

 

The level of achievement towards Strategic Objective SO2 is based on the 

performance of 4 separate LDP policies as outlined above. 

 

The number of homes being constructed in the LDP’s Secondary Growth Area 

indicates that the Plan’s future aspirations have a realistic prospect of being realised 

in this part of the County Borough. Whilst there is also a realistic prospect of 

delivering the required number of houses in the Other Growth Areas in the longer 

term, this very much depends on the successful delivery of Project Riverside. On 

balance, it is considered that progress is being made towards achieving Strategic 

Objective 2, but it is essential that progress on the delivery of Project Riverside is 

closely monitored. 

 

Page 35



17 

 

Notwithstanding the above, it must be recognised that the lower than required 

number of homes being constructed in the LDP’s Primary Growth Area is inextricably 

linked to development within the Secondary and Other Growth Areas. The 

appropriateness of the LDP’s housing strategy in terms of both levels of growth and 

spatial distribution will therefore need to be reconsidered as part of the preparation of 

a replacement LDP which will cover an extended plan period of up to 2031. 

Page 36



18 

 

3.3 SO3: To promote regeneration through the use of suitable and appropriate 

brownfield land rather than greenfield sites. 

 

3.3.1 Contextual Changes 

 

No significant contextual changes relating to this strategic objective have been 

introduced during the monitoring period. 

 

3.3.2 Policy Monitoring 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

- Amount of 

development 

permitted on 

previously 

developed land 

as a percentage 

of all 

development 

permitted  
(N.B. this would 

exclude 

householder 

applications and 

change of use from 

one non-residential 

use to another) (ha) 

Maintain a 

percentage of at 

least 80% over 

the plan period 

Less than 80% 

for 2 

consecutive 

years 

2015/16 – 26% 

permitted on 

previously 

developed land. 

 

Analysis  

 

The total amount of development permitted during the monitoring period was 26.25ha with 

6.92 ha of this total area permitted on previously developed land. This equates to 26% of 

development being permitted on previously developed land. 

 

This figure is significantly lower than the target of 80%; however, this year’s data has been 

distorted due to the fact that planning permission was granted for a solar farm which 

resulted in 15 hectares of development on greenfield land. If this permission was not taken 

into account, the percentage of development permitted on previously developed land would 

be 62%, which is more in line with previous year’s data. 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

Whilst this year’s figure is considered to be anomalous and a no action is currently deemed 

necessary, it is important that this issue is closely monitored in order to ensure that the 

amount of development granted on previously developed land does not consistently fall 

below the 80% target.  

 

 

Page 37



19 

 

 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

- Amount of 

greenfield land 

lost as a result 

of inappropriate 

development on 

sites not 

allocated in the 

LDP 

No land lost 1 or 2 

developments 

permitted for 2 

consecutive 

years, or, 3 or 

more 

developments 

permitted in 1 

year 

No greenfield 

land lost 

 

Analysis  

 

During the monitoring period, no inappropriate developments were permitted which resulted 

in the loss of greenfield land on sites not allocated in the LDP. 

 

Recommendations  

 

This element of policy is currently being achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

 

 

3.3.3. Overall summary on policy performance and conclusion on whether the 

strategic objective is being achieved 

 

The level of achievement towards Strategic Objective SO3 is based on compliance 

with the LDP’s land-use strategy, particularly the Plan’s spatial priorities and 

development allocations.  

 

Overall it is considered that this strategic objective continues to be achieved, despite 

failing to meet the Plan’s 80% target for the amount of development approved on 

previously developed land, for the following reasons. Firstly, the approved solar farm 

on 15 hectares of greenfield land is acceptable in land use terms and the site will be 

restored to its agricultural use at the end of the solar farm’s operational life. 

Consequently, no greenfield land was lost as a result of inappropriate development 

over the monitoring period. Secondly, without the solar farm development, 62% of 

development was on brownfield rather than greenfield land, demonstrating that 

regeneration continues to be promoted through the regeneration of suitable 

brownfield land rather than greenfield sites.  

 

Notwithstanding, it is recognised that a number of allocated housing and employment 

sites, which are classified as brownfield, have not come forward in the timescales 

anticipated. The preparation of a replacement LDP will therefore involve the review of 

all undeveloped housing and employment allocations to ensure that development on 

these sites remains viable and the allocations will be delivered.   

Page 38



20 

 

3.4 SO4: To support the principle of sustainability via an energy efficient land use/ 

transport strategy. 

 

3.4.1 Contextual Changes 

 

 The Active Travel (Wales) 2013 Act, which came in to force in September 2014, aims 

to increase levels of walking and cycling by making them the most attractive option 

for shorter every day journeys.  The Act requires local authorities in Wales to produce 

active travel maps and deliver year on year improvements to active travel routes and 

facilities.   

 

A direction was issued to local highways authorities in Wales to prepare existing 

route maps, intended to inform the public of safe and suitable routes for active travel, 

by January 2016.  Supported by Welsh Government funding, this entailed carrying 

out initial local data surveys based on a central data management system. 

Consultation took place on the Active Travel Existing Route Maps for the Merthyr 

Tydfil County Borough area between July and October 2015.   

 

The 27 existing routes identified within Merthyr Tydfil were approved by the Welsh 

Government in April 2016 and work has now commenced on the preparation and 

production of an Integrated Network Map which will identify new active travel routes 

and facilities, as well as improvements to existing routes and facilities. Together they 

will contribute to the development and enhancement of an Integrated Active Travel 

Network, which will inform the preparation of the replacement LDP. 

 

3.4.2  Policy Monitoring 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW4 

 

Percentage of new 

residential 

development within 

400 m of bus stop and 

600 m of primary 

facilities including a 

shop and school 

Maintain a 

percentage of at 

least 80% over 

the plan period 

Less than 80% 

for 2 

consecutive 

years 

91% 

 

 

Analysis  

 

Over the monitoring period, 33 new residential developments were granted planning 

permission with 91% located within close proximity to local facilities. It is therefore 

considered that Policy BW4 is functioning effectively, guiding new residential development 

to sustainable locations where local facilities can be accessed by foot or bicycle.     

 

Recommendations  

 

This element of policy is currently being achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

 

Page 39



21 

 

 

LDP Policy 

 

Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

- Percentage of new 

dwellings 

completed at: 

 

 

(1) less than 20 

dph; 

 

 

(2) 20 dph or 

greater and less 

than 25 dph; 

 

(3) 25 dph or 

greater and less 

than 30 dph; 

 

(4) 30 dph or 

greater and less 

than 50 dph; and 

 

(5) 50 dph or 

greater 

 

 

 

 

 

Approximately 

12% 

 

 

Approximately 

13% 

 

 

Approximately 

25% 

 

 

Approximately 

48% 

 

 

Approximately 

2% 

 

More than 25% of 

new dwellings at 

less than 25 dph 

for 2 consecutive 

years 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13% 

 

 

 

3% 

 

 

 

29% 

 

 

50% 

 

 

5% 

 

Analysis  

 

The figures collected for the monitoring period show that new dwellings were constructed 

broadly in line with the indicator’s target. Moreover, it is anticipated that the majority of 

dwellings in the County Borough will be constructed at approximately 25 to 35 dwellings per 

hectare (dph) and this years’ results also follow this trend.  

 

The fact that nearly 80% of completions were between 25 and 35 dph is largely down to a 

significant proportion of dwellings being completed on the Redrow development in Trelewis, 

which has a density of just under 30 dph and two other developments at Marigold Close 

and Old School Close, which have a density of 33 dph and 34 dph respectively. 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

This element of policy is currently being achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

 

 

 

Page 40



22 

 

LDP 

Policy 

Indicator Target Trigger 

Level 

Performance 

- Percentage 

of allocated 

sites 

developed 

(ha) 

 

Approximately 

65% of 

allocations 

developed by 

the end of 

2016 

 

Less than 

25% of 

phased 

delivery rate 

for 2 

consecutive 

years 

(Trigger level 

25% / 

approximately 

4.5 ha) 

Approximately 

34% of 

allocations 

developed by 

March 2016 

32% of 

allocations 

developed by 

March 2 

Delivered 

approximately  

15% (2.65 

ha) 

 

 

Analysis 

 

Over the monitoring period, approximately 2.65 ha of allocated development sites have 

been delivered, which is less than 25% of the phased delivery rate. When combined with 

the amount of previously developed first and second phase sites, this equates to 34% of 

allocated development sites developed by the end of the current monitoring period. 

Whilst it is encouraging that allocated development sites continue to come forward, the 

anticipated phased delivery rate is not currently being met. The target is for approximately 

65% of allocations to be delivered by the end of 2016, which is clearly no longer 

achievable.   

 

The statutory four year review of the LDP was undertaken over the monitoring period and it 

has been found that the Plan’s enhanced growth strategy is not currently being delivered. 

While there are signs of improving economic conditions, there remains uncertainty over 

when delivery rates can reach the level necessary to meet the requirements of the 

Strategy. As a consequence, it is considered that the both the level and spatial distribution 

of growth needs to be reconsidered in order to establish whether the current strategy is the 

most appropriate for delivery future growth up to 2031. 

 

Notwithstanding this, it should be noted that there are differences in the delivery of different 

types of development and accordingly, a brief overview is provided below. 

In respect of community facilities, all health and education facilities have been delivered as 

anticipated.  

 

In terms of housing, a further 2.65 ha of allocated housing sites has been developed over 

the monitoring period. This includes contributions from 4 LDP second phase allocated 

housing sites and 2 LDP first phase allocated housing sites that are being developed at a 

slower rate than anticipated. The delay in the delivery of housing sites is largely attributable 

to the economic downturn which has caused a contraction in the housing industry and a 

tendency for housing developers to focus on the more secure prime market opportunities in 

areas such as Cardiff and the M4 corridor.  

 

Page 41



23 

 

In order to stimulate development on allocated housing sites, the Council is utilising funding 

from the Welsh Government’s Vibrant and Viable Places regeneration programme to 

undertake survey work and secure planning permission on a number of selected sites. In 

doing so, it is anticipated that development costs will be reduced and developers will have 

more certainty with regard to the level of risk in developing allocated sites. 

 

Notwithstanding this, there remains a need to review all undeveloped housing allocations in 

the LDP to ensure that development on these sites remains viable and the allocations will 

be delivered over an extended development plan period.  

 

With regard to employment, no further development has occurred on allocated employment 

sites over the monitoring period. As a consequence, E6 (Rhydycar) continues to have 

approximately 1.78 hectares of land still to be delivered, while no development has begun 

on the LDP’s second phase allocated employment sites, namely E4 (Goatmill Road) and 

E8 (Former Hoover car park).  

 

In previous monitoring reports, recommendations were made in respect of encouraging 

and supporting the development of additional business units for small to medium sized 

enterprises. With regard to this, the Economic Development Department has continued to 

work towards the delivery of a new incubation facility for start-up businesses, which will 

have a similar function to the existing Orbit Centre. This facility will complement the existing 

Orbit Centre, which will refocus on high quality general office facilities to meet the needs of 

growing businesses. 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

The LDP review has identified the need to prepare a replacement LDP following the full 

revision procedure. The latter will need to reconsider both the level and spatial distribution 

of housing and employment provision through the identification of alternative strategic 

options. Consideration will also need to be given to the future need for community facilities 

as the Plan is rolled forward to 2031. 

 

In the interim, funding from the Vibrant and Viable Places regeneration programme should 

continue to be used to stimulate development on housing sites, while the Council’s 

Economic Development Section should continue to investigate opportunities for 

development on allocated employment sites and continue to focus on marketing and 

targeted funding. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



24 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

- 

 

Percentage of total 

development 

permitted on allocated 

sites (ha) 

 

Maintain a 

target of 

approximately 

85% over the 

plan period 

Less than 80% 

for 2 

consecutive 

years 

Approximately 

8.5% 11% 

 

 

Analysis 

 

Over the monitoring period, approximately 8.5% of the total development permitted was on 

allocated sites. This figure is significantly below the target of 85%, and the trigger level of 

less than 80% has not been met for four consecutive monitoring periods. Allocated 

development sites are evidently not coming forward as anticipated and while there are 

signs of improving economic conditions, there remains uncertainty over when delivery rates 

can reach the level necessary to meet the requirements of the Strategy. 

 

The delayed delivery of allocated development sites is considered to be primarily the result 

of the economic downturn. Whilst the economy grew between 2013 and 2014 (provisional 

estimate of GVA in Wales is an increase of 2.4%), output from the construction sector still 

remains below the levels experienced at the pre-downturn peak in 2007 and there is little 

anecdotal evidence of any significant increase in local construction activity over the 

monitoring period.  

 

The delivery of allocated development sites should improve as construction activity 

increases alongside economic growth, and the use of funding from the Welsh 

Government’s Vibrant and Viable Places regeneration programme should also assist in 

stimulating development. However, it remains very unlikely that the LDP’s enhanced growth 

strategy will be delivered by 2021 given the extent to which anticipated delivery timescales 

have already been missed.  

 

 

Recommendations  

 

To reconsider both the level and spatial distribution of housing and employment provision 

through the identification of alternative strategic options as part of the preparation of the 

replacement LDP.  

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

AS10 Highway 

network 

improvements 

(1) Aberfan – 

Merthyr 

Vale Link 

(T1) 

 

(2) Pentwyn 

Deliver by the 

end of 2011 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Deliver by the 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No planning 

Completed 

during 

2015/2016 

 

Page 43



25 

 

Road, 

Quakers 

Yard (T2) 

 

(3) Dualling of 

A472 at 

Fiddlers 

Elbow (T3) 

end of 2021 

 

 

 

Deliver by the 

end of 2021 

 

application 

registered by 

the end of 2019 

 

No planning 

application 

registered by 

the end of 2019 

 

Analysis 

 

This highway network improvement (Golwg yr Afon), which is directly linked to the 

redevelopment of the former Merthyr Vale Colliery site (Project Riverside) was opened 

during this monitoring period.   

 

 

Recommendations  

 

Continue to monitor the delivery of the remaining core highway network improvements 

safeguarded by Policy AS10.  

 

 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

AS12 Remodelling of 

Merthyr Tydfil 

Central Bus 

Station 

 

Deliver by the 

end of 2016 

No application 

registered by 

the end of 2014 

Application 

registered 

during 

monitoring 

period. 

 

 

Analysis 

 

Merthyr Tydfil’s central bus station is to be relocated to Swan Street on the combined sites 

of the former Hollies Health Centre and the Central Police Station. In terms of progress, 

both community services have been relocated to other sites within the County Borough and 

both buildings have now been demolished. A planning application for the new ‘Intermodal 

Transport Facility’, which includes a small amount of ancillary retail floor-space, was 

submitted and subsequently approved in February 2016 and July 2016 respectively. It is 

anticipated that the new ‘Intermodal Transport Facility’ will be completed in 2017/2018.  

 

 

Recommendations 

 

To closely monitor the progress on delivering the new ‘Intermodal Transport Facility’, and to 

revisit Policy AS12 as part of the preparation of a replacement LDP. 

 

Page 44



26 

 

 

3.4.3 Overall summary on policy performance and conclusion on whether the 

strategic objective is being achieved 

 

For the purposes of this annual monitoring report, the level of achievement towards 

Strategic Objective SO4 is based on the performance of 2 separate LDP policies and 

compliance with the LDP’s land-use strategy, particularly the Plan’s spatial 

distribution of development allocations. 

 

This objective is partially being achieved with both successes and areas of concern 

identified. In terms of the former, developments are continuing to come forward in 

sustainable locations where there is good access to local facilities and increased 

opportunity for using more sustainable modes of transport, such as walking and 

cycling. Housing density targets also continue to be met, reflecting a more efficient 

use of land resources. Finally, the Aberfan-Merthyr Vale link road (Golwg yr Afon) 

has been delivered, improving the efficiency of the local transport network and 

facilitating redevelopment of the former Merthyr Vale Colliery site (Project Riverside).   

 

The continued failure to meet targets relating to the delivery of allocated development 

sites remains an area of concern, particularly given that it is becoming increasingly 

unlikely that the LDP’s strategy will be delivered by 2021. Whilst improving economic 

conditions and progress in the implementation of the Vibrant and Viable Places 

regeneration programme are steps in the right direction, it is evident that the level 

and spatial distribution of growth needs to be reconsidered as part of the preparation 

of a replacement LDP. A review of all undeveloped housing and employment 

allocations in the LDP will also be necessary to ensure that development on these 

sites remains viable and the allocations will be delivered over an extended plan 

period of up to 2031. 

 

 

 

Page 45



27 

 

3.5 SO5: To manage natural resources wisely avoiding irreversible damage in 

order to maintain and enhance their value for future generations.  

 

3.5.1 Contextual Changes 

 

Minerals 

Planning permission was granted on 9th December 2015 for the consolidation of two 

existing planning permissions for quarrying at Gelligaer Quarry, including an 

extension to the end date for quarrying and the deepening of the quarry within the 

existing footprint. The winning and working of minerals and the deposit of mineral 

waste is now permitted up to 2076 and the reserve at the quarry as a result of the 

permission has increased to 18.5 million tonnes of high specification pennant 

sandstone.  

 

3.5.2  Policy Monitoring 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger 

Level 

Performance 

BW10 

 

The tonnage 

(Mt) of primary 

land-won 

aggregates 

produced in 

accordance with 

the Regional 

Technical 

Statement for 

Aggregates 

Minimum of 

4.92 Mt 

produced by 

the end of 

2016 

 
(N.B. targets are 

based on joint 

production with 

Brecon Beacons 

National Park) 

Less than 

0.82 Mt per 

annum for 2 

consecutive 

years 

Circa 3.5 

Mt of 

primary 

aggregates 

jointly 

produced  

since 2011 

Circa 0.58 

Mt of 

primary 

aggregates 

jointly 

produced 

in 2015 

 

Aggregates land 

bank 

 

Minimum 10 

year land 

bank 

maintained 

throughout 

the plan 

period 

Land bank 

falling below 

target 

Adequate current land 

bank 

 

Analysis  

 

The monitoring framework contains two indicators which relate to Policy BW10, namely the 

annual production of aggregates and maintenance of a minimum 10 year land bank. Each 

indicator is considered separately below. 

 

With regard to the tonnage of primary land-won aggregates produced, the combined 

aggregates production for Merthyr Tydfil and Brecon Beacons National Park was 

approximately 0.58 Mt in 2015. When combined with the amount of primary aggregates 

jointly produced since 2011, the cumulative total is approximately 3.5 Mt, which is below the 

anticipated level of aggregate production set out in the RTS 1st Review (2014). The trigger 

Page 46



28 

 

level of less than 0.82 Mt per annum for 2 consecutive years also continues to be hit. 

 

Aggregate production is directly influenced by aggregate use or demand. The constrained 

economic climate and suppressed levels of activity in the building and construction industry 

has resulted in relatively low levels of crushed rock sales within the South Wales region, 

reflecting a weak demand. The South Wales Regional Aggregates Working Party Annual 

Reports continue to show this trend and it is considered that the failure to produce the 

expected amount of aggregates in 2015 is a result of economic conditions and that there 

are no policy constraints impeding the production of aggregates at the quarries within 

Merthyr Tydfil. On the contrary, the recent grant of planning permission at Gelligaer quarry 

affords a more effective development scheme that enables the deepening of the quarry to 

release an additional 16 million tonnes of high specification pennant sandstone.    

   

In respect of the aggregates land bank, Merthyr Tydfil’s land bank has increased as a result 

of the planning permission granted at Gelligaer Quarry and remains sufficient to maintain a 

minimum 10 year land bank throughout the plan period. It is considered that Policy BW10 is 

functioning effectively and that there are no policy constraints that would hinder future 

aggregates production.   

 

Recommendations  

 

This element of policy is currently being achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW8 

 

 

 

Amount of 

development (by TAN 

15 paragraph 5.1 

development 

category) permitted in 

C1 and C2 floodplain 

areas not meeting all 

TAN 15 tests 

(paragraph 6.2 i-v) 

 

No development 

permitted 

 

1 or more 

developments 

permitted 

No 

developments 

granted 

planning 

permission in 

C1 or C2 

floodplain 

areas that do 

not meet all 

TAN 15 tests 

Developments 

incorporating 

sustainable urban 

drainage systems 

(SuDS) 

All 

developments to 

include SuDS 

where 

appropriate 
(N.B. Excludes 

developments that 

have not incorporated 

SuDS for 

environmental or 

practical reasons) 

1 or 2 

developments 

permitted 

without SuDS 

for 2 

consecutive 

years, or, 3 or 

more 

developments 

permitted 

without SuDS 

in 1 year 

All 

developments 

granted 

planning 

permission 

incorporate 

SuDS where 

appropriate 

Page 47



29 

 

 

Analysis 

 

The monitoring framework contains two indicators which seek to monitor separate elements 

of Policy BW8, namely reducing flood risk and securing the incorporation of sustainable 

drainage systems in new developments. Each element is considered separately below. 

 

In respect of flood risk, 18 developments were granted planning permission in zone C over 

the monitoring period. In all instances, the developments were justified in their location and 

the consequences associated with flooding were acceptable. As no developments were 

permitted in zone C that did not meet TAN 15 tests, it is considered that Policy BW8 is 

functioning effectively in respect of this matter. 

 

In terms of securing SuDS in new developments, no developments have been granted 

planning permission without incorporating SuDS into the design of the scheme unless there 

have been environmental or practical reasons for not doing so. As such, it is considered 

that Policy BW8 is also functioning effectively in respect of securing SuDS in new 

developments. 

 

Recommendations  

 

This element of policy is currently being achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

AS7 Amount of new 

licensed waste 

management facilities 

permitted 

Between 1.1 

and 3.2 

hectares of B2 

employment 

land developed 

for waste 

management 

facilities  
(N.B. New facilities 

will be delivered in 

partnership 

Rhondda Cynon 

Taf) 

No new 

facilities 

granted 

planning 

permission by 

the end of 

2012 

One new 

multipurpose 

waste 

treatment  

facility 

granted 

planning 

permission 

over 

monitoring 

period 

Landfill capacity at 

Trecatti 

To maintain 

spare capacity 

over the Plan 

period 

Input at the 

maximum of 

625,000 tpa for 

3 consecutive 

years 

Input below 

maximum in 

2014. 

 

Analysis  

 

The monitoring framework contains two indicators which seek to monitor separate elements 

of Policy AS7, namely the delivery of waste management facilities on B2 employment sites 

Page 48



30 

 

and the safeguarding of Trecatti landfill site for continued disposal of residual waste.  

  

Whilst no further waste management facilities were granted planning permission on B2 

employment sites over the monitoring period, a number of waste management facilities, 

including waste sorting and transfer facilities, have been granted planning permission in 

previous monitoring periods, demonstrating that B2 employment sites are meeting the 

needs of the waste management industry. In addition, a multipurpose waste treatment 

facility was granted planning permission on the southern part of Trecatti landfill site over the 

monitoring period. This open-air facility, which is more suited to a countryside location, will 

be used to treat both contaminated soils (30,000 tpa) and compost green waste (30,000 

tpa) in open air windrows.  

 

With regards to collaborative arrangements for the treatment of municipal waste, food 

waste and residual waste are now being processed at the Biogen anaerobic digestion 

treatment facility at Bryn Pica, Aberdare and the Viridor energy recovery facility at Cardiff 

respectively. Green waste is also being composted at Bryn Compost, Gelligaer.     

   

In respect of the continued disposal of residual waste in Trecatti landfill site, the amount of 

waste inputted in 2014 was below the maximum of 625,000 tonnes per annum. 

Consequently, there are currently no concerns over maintaining space capacity during the 

Plan period. 

 

Recommendations  

 

This element of policy is currently being achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

 

 

3.5.3 Overall summary on policy performance and conclusion on whether the 

strategic objective is being achieved 

 

For the purposes of this annual monitoring report, the level of achievement towards 

Strategic Objective SO5 is based on the performance of 3 separate LDP policies, 

relating to minerals, waste and the water environment.  

 

Targets relating to waste and the water environment have been achieved and the 

associated policies are considered to be functioning effectively. Whilst the tonnage of 

land-won aggregates produced in Merthyr Tydfil and Brecon Beacons National Park 

have failed to meet the target during the monitoring period, it is considered that this 

reflects the relatively low level of demand in the building and construction industry, 

rather than policy constraints. It is therefore considered that Strategic Objective SO5 

is currently being achieved. 

 

Page 49



31 

 

3.6. SO6: To provide a range of dwelling sizes and types, including affordable and 

special needs housing, which support the needs of the local community, 

attract new inhabitants to the area and create mixed and socially inclusive 

communities. 

 

3.6.1 Contextual Changes 

 

No significant contextual changes relating to this strategic objective have been 

introduced during the monitoring period. 

 

3.6.2 Policy Monitoring 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

- Housing Land 

Supply 

Maintain a 

minimum of 5 

years supply 

(ha) 

Less than a 5 

year supply for 1 

year 

1.6 years 

 

 
 

 

Analysis 

 

Merthyr Tydfil’s 5 year land supply is now calculated using the residual method rather than 

the past build rates method that was used prior to the adoption of the Local Development 

Plan.  

 

The 2016 Joint Housing Land Availability Study (JHLAS) has calculated a 1.6 years 

housing land supply, which is a decrease  from 2.8 years calculated in 2015 (see Graph 2 

below). This decrease reflects the fact that housing sites continue to be developed at a 

slower rate than anticipated, primarily due to the economic downturn which has caused a 

contraction in the housing industry and a tendency for housing developers to focus on more 

profitable housing market areas, such as Cardiff and the M4 corridor areas.   

Page 50



32 

 

 
 

Graph 2 

 

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 1 states that where there is a land supply below the 5 year 

requirement, local planning authorities must take steps to increase the supply of housing 

land. This may include steps such as releasing land in the Local Authority’s ownership or 

securing infrastructure for particular sites. 

 

During 2015/16, the Council secured the delivery of highway and flood infrastructure on 

Project Riverside, Aberfan and commenced a marketing exercise for the site. The Council 

has also completed all survey work on other sites under its ownership in order to give 

potential developers more certainty in regard to the level of risk on site; in turn increasing 

the attractiveness of these sites to housebuilders. 

 

The Council is in the process of producing a portfolio of the sites to take to the market 

which will include the completed survey work and any other relevant documentation. There 

may also be scope for Vibrant and Viable Places (VVP) funding to contribute towards 

physical works on some sites, such as ground remediation or access improvements. 

 

One of the key issues that still needs to be addressed in bringing the VVP regeneration 

programme forward, and delivering higher levels of housing, is that the majority of housing 

sites currently under the control of the Council are subject to 100% clawback to Welsh 

Government. In order to dispose of these sites, the Council require various permissions 

from Welsh Government. Some flexibility in terms of land receipts and associated issues 

may therefore be required from Welsh Government, if these sites are to be brought forward 

as soon as possible. Discussions with officers from Welsh Government have already taken 

place on these issues and will be ongoing as the sites progress. 

 

Page 51



33 

 

 

Recommendations 

  

The level of housing delivery continues to be below that which is required to meet the 

adopted LDP’s enhanced growth strategy and it remains highly unlikely that the housing 

strategy of the Plan can be met without changes being affected.  

 

The LDP review has identified the need to prepare a replacement LDP following the full 

revision procedure. The latter will, amongst other things, involve the reconsideration of both 

the level and spatial distribution of housing provision through the identification of strategic 

options for development up to 2031. The most appropriate strategic option will form the 

basis of the replacement LDP’s preferred strategy. 

 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

 Number of all 

dwellings built 

Between 2,400 

and 2,720 net 

completions by 

April 2016 

 

20% less or 

greater than 

LDP strategy 

build rate for 2 

consecutive 

years 

1,656 

completions at 

end of March 

2016 

 

Analysis  

 

Housing completions have been in general decline since 2008, reflecting the economic 

recession (see Graph 3). Over the monitoring period, the level of dwelling completions has 

increased slightly from 101 in 2014/2015 to 120 completions during 2015/16, which is a 

welcome improvement. The target of delivering at least 2,400 dwellings by April 2016 will 

not, however, be met and the dwelling completions per annum continues to be well below 

that which is required to fulfil the LDP’s enhanced growth strategy. There are also currently 

no clear signs that house building activity will increase to the level required to meet the 

Strategy in the short term. 

 

Page 52



34 

 

 
 

Graph 3 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

The level of housing delivery continues to be below that which is required to meet the 

adopted LDP’s enhanced growth strategy and it remains highly unlikely that the housing 

strategy of the Plan can be met without changes being affected.  

 

The LDP review has identified the need to prepare a replacement LDP following the full 

revision procedure. The latter will, amongst other things, involve the reconsideration of both 

the level and spatial distribution of housing provision through the identification of strategic 

options for development up to 2031. The most appropriate strategic option will form the 

basis of the replacement LDP’s preferred strategy. 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

- Number of new 

general market 

dwellings built 

Between 2,110 

and 2,390 net 

completions by 

April 2016 

 

20% less or 

greater than 

LDP strategy 

build rate for 2 

consecutive  

years 

1,328 

completions by 

the end of 

March 2016 

(79 during 

2015/2016) 

 

Analysis  

 

The number of market dwelling completions has increased slightly from 75 during 2014/15 

to 79 during 2015/16; however, it is evident that the target of delivering 2,110 general 

market dwellings by April 2016 will not be met and that the current level of house building is 

still well below the level required to meet the housing strategy of the LDP. Approximately 

400 market dwellings would need to be built per year in order to meet the target of at least 

3,330 completions by April 2021. 

Page 53



35 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

The level of market housing delivery continues to be below that which is required to meet 

the adopted LDP’s enhanced growth strategy and it remains highly unlikely that the housing 

strategy of the Plan can be met without changes being affected.  

 

The LDP review has identified the need to prepare a replacement LDP following the full 

revision procedure. The latter will, amongst other things, involve the reconsideration of both 

the level and spatial distribution of housing provision through the identification of strategic 

options for development up to 2031. The most appropriate strategic option will form the 

basis of the replacement LDP’s preferred strategy. 

 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

- Number of 

affordable 

dwellings built 

Between 225 

and 255 net 

completions by 

April 2016 

 

20% less or 

greater than 

LDP strategy 

build rate for 2 

consecutive  

years 

328 completions 

by end of March 

2016 

(41 during 

2015/2016) 

 

Analysis  

 

The data collected shows that 328 affordable dwellings were completed in the County 

Borough by the end of March 2016. This indicates that there has been a higher level of 

affordable housing built than initially anticipated and has resulted in the indicator scoring 

‘yellow’ as this is beyond the anticipated build rate of the LDP.  

 

As the overall affordable housing target in the monitoring framework is “at least 350 net 

completions by 2021” and the most recent Local Housing Market Assessment (LHMA, 

2015) has identified a much higher need for affordable housing, the fact that there has been 

more affordable housing built than anticipated is not considered to be a matter for concern. 

 

 

Recommendations 

  

This element of policy is currently being over achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



36 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

AS22 Number of 

affordable 

dwellings 

secured as a 

planning 

obligation 

Approximately 

130 by April 

2016 

 

10% Area: 

delivering less 

than 7.5% or 

more than 

12.5% 

 

5% Area: 

delivering less 

than 2.5% or 

more than 

7.5% 

43 

dwellings by 

the end of 

March 2016 

10% 

delivered 

 

N/A  

(No 

relevant 

housing 

application

s granted 

planning 

permission 

over 

monitoring 

period) 

 

Analysis  

 

Over the monitoring period, a 10% on-site affordable housing contribution was secured on 

housing schemes at Rhydycar Leisure Village and Former Victoria House, Dowlais; 2 units 

were secured on each development. Financial contributions were also secured via a 

section 106 agreement on the Former Meals on Wheels building, Cefn Coed and at 

Maesynant, Grove Park. This was in-line with Policy AS22’s affordable housing requirement 

for the Primary Growth Area and accordingly, has resulted in the indicator scoring ‘green’.  

 

It should also be noted that 100% affordable housing sites are progressing at the former 

Labour Exchange, Penydarren (24 units), Twyncarmel (10 units) and the former St Paul’s 

and St Peter’s Church, Abercanaid (13 units). As such, there remains a steady supply of 

affordable housing within the Primary Growth Area. 

 

In terms of the Secondary and Other Growth Areas, no housing applications which require 

an on-site affordable housing contribution were granted planning permission over the 

monitoring period. Moreover, no financial contributions were secured on minor housing 

schemes due to concerns over development viability.   

  

The overall target of securing 130 affordable dwellings as a planning obligation by April 

2016 will not been met with only 43 dwellings secured to date. This low number is primarily 

due to the fact that a significant number of allocated housing sites have not come forward 

as anticipated; nevertheless, the preparation of a the replacement LDP will need to 

consider whether the affordable housing requirements of Policy AS22 remain appropriate, 

particularly in relation to the requirements of the most recent LHMA (2015) and the 

implementation of the community infrastructure levy in June 2014.     

 

Page 55



37 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

The low amount of affordable housing secured as a planning obligation needs to be 

considered in the context of the lower than anticipated levels of housing delivery to date, 

and will therefore need to be reconsidered as part of the preparation of the replacement 

LDP’s strategy, policies and allocations in relation to housing. This process will also need to 

consider the significant increase in the affordable housing need within Merthyr Tydfil 

alongside viability factors. 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

TB13 Number of 

affordable 

dwellings 

secured through 

affordable 

housing 

exceptions 

policy 

(Applies only to 

the Other Growth 

Areas) 

Approximately 

10 by April 2016 

 

No planning 

application 

submitted by the 

end of 2014 

No planning 

application 

submitted 

 

Analysis  

 

The affordable housing exceptions policy has a target to deliver 10 affordable dwellings by 

April 2016 and an associated trigger level of no planning application submitted by the end 

of 2014. No planning application was submitted by the end of March 2016 for an affordable 

housing development in a countryside location which meets the affordable housing needs 

of the Other Growth Areas, and as such, the indicator now scores ‘red’. 

 

With no application submitted, no affordable dwellings have been secured on a rural 

exceptions site. This is matter of concern as the number of affordable houses delivered in 

the Other Growth Areas is below the requirement, despite the overall target for the County 

Borough in 2016 already being met.  

  

 

Recommendations  

 

The low amount of affordable housing secured in the Other Growth Areas needs to be 

considered in the context of the low levels of housing delivery experienced to date, and will 

therefore need to be reconsidered as part of the preparation of the replacement LDP’s 

strategy, policies and allocations in relation to housing. This process will also need to 

consider the significant increase in the affordable housing need within Merthyr Tydfil 

alongside viability factors. 

 

 

Page 56



38 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

AS22 Average house 

price 

(Baseline: 

Approximately 

£86,900 at 

2010, amended 

in line with Land 

Registry Data to 

£73,153) 

- +/- 10% change 

from base level 

£68,529 (6.6% 

below baseline) 

 

Analysis  

 

House prices have increased over the monitoring period with a rise of over £5,000. As a 

consequence, the average house price is 6.6% lower than the baseline data and results in 

the indicator scoring ‘green’. Notwithstanding, the Council has already updated its LHMA 

which provides an up to date assessment of housing need and affordability within the 

County Borough. 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

The most recent LHMA, which was published in March 2015, provides the initial evidence in 

respect of housing need and affordability that should inform the preparation of the 

replacement LDP. It is also worth pointing out that the LHMA will now be revised by the 

Council every 2 years in line with Welsh Government requirements. 

 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

- Average income 

(gross weekly 

pay) 

(Baseline: 

Approximately 

£380 at 2009, 

amended in line 

with NOMIS 

data to £392) 

 

 

 

- +/- 10% change 

from base level 

£426.20 (8.6% 

above baseline) 

 

Analysis  

 

Average income has fallen from £434.50 to £426.20 between 2014/15 and 2015/16. In 

doing so, average income is 8.6% above the baseline which results in the indicator scoring 

a ‘green’.  

Page 57



39 

 

 

Recommendations  

The most recent LHMA, which was published in March 2015, provides the initial evidence in 

respect of housing need and affordability that should inform the preparation of the 

replacement LDP. It is also worth pointing out that the LHMA will now be revised by the 

Council every 2 years in line with Welsh Government requirements. 

 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

 Vacancy rates 

of existing 

housing stock 

(Baseline: 6% at 

2010) 

-- Vacancy rate 

increasing for 1 

year or 

remaining static 

for 2 

consecutive 

years 

4.5% 

 

 

Analysis  

 

The vacancy rate has remained static this monitoring period at 4.5%. The fact that there 

has been no change in this indicator could be seen as a reflection of a housing market in 

the County Borough that is, at present, in a slow period where there is limited activity. 

  

Grant funding through the Townscape Heritage Initiative and the Vibrant and Viable Places 

regeneration programme will, however, continue to bring vacant residential buildings, 

particularly upper floor flats in the town centre, back into beneficial use in the near future 

and improvements to the vacancy rate are anticipated over the next monitoring period.   

 

 

Recommendations  

 

No action required at present. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



40 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

- Percentage of 

relevant 

planning 

applications 

complying with 

Affordable 

Housing SPG 

 

All (Post SPG 

adoption) 

- All relevant 

applications 

complying with 

SPG. 

 

Analysis 

 

All relevant applications have complied with the Affordable Housing SPG over the 

monitoring period. 

  

 

Recommendations  

 

No action required at present other than continuing to maintain accurate records of all 

planning applications where there is an identified requirement for affordable housing.  

 

3.6.3 Overall summary on policy performance and conclusion on whether the 

strategic objective is being achieved 

 

For the purposes of this annual monitoring report, the level of achievement towards 

Strategic Objective SO6 is based on the performance of housing related LDP 

policies, Supplementary Planning Guidance on Affordable Housing, and compliance 

with the LDP’s land use strategy, particularly the Plan’s spatial distribution of 

development allocations. 

 

The failure to achieve a 5 year housing land supply and the low number of dwelling 

completions, particularly general market dwellings, continues to be a concern. The 

adopted LDP is based on an enhanced growth strategy which, amongst other things, 

requires ambitious levels of housing delivery. The level of housing delivery over the 

plan period to date has been much lower than anticipated and accordingly, the 

housing target of delivering at least 2,400 dwellings by 2016 will not be met. It also 

appears highly unlikely that the housing target of delivering at least 3,800 dwellings 

by 2021 will be achieved as this would require approximately 400 dwellings per 

annum for the remainder of the plan period.  

 

The delivery of affordable dwellings has exceeded the target for 2016, although the 

number of affordable dwellings secured through planning obligations has been lower 

than anticipated. The latter is considered to reflect the fact that a significant number 

of allocated housing sites have not come forward as anticipated. 

 

For these reasons, it is considered that Strategic Objective SO6 is only partially being 

achieved. The statutory review of the LDP has found that whilst there are signs of 

Page 59



41 

 

improving economic conditions, there remains uncertainty over when dwelling 

delivery rates will reach the level required to meet the needs of the Strategy and 

whether that rate can be sustained for a period of time. The preparation of a 

replacement LDP will therefore need to reconsider the level and spatial distribution of 

housing through the identification of alternative strategic options for future 

development up to 2031. A review of all undeveloped housing allocations in the LDP 

will also be necessary to ensure that development on these sites remains viable and 

the allocations will be delivered over an extended plan period. 

 

Page 60



42 

 

3.7 SO7: To improve and diversify the economy, safeguarding existing jobs and 

creating a range of new job opportunities in a sustainable manner. 

 

3.7.1 Contextual Changes 

 

No significant contextual changes relating to this strategic objective have occurred 

during the monitoring period. 

 

3.7.2  Policy Monitoring 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW14 

AS14 

AS24 

New B1 floor-

space 

delivered 

Between 

28,500 and 

30,790 sq m 

net floor-space 

delivered by 

April 2016 

 

 

At least 53,400 

sq m net floor-

space by April 

2021 

Greater than 

7,120 sq m per 

annum or less 

than 890 sq m 

per annum for 

2 consecutive 

years 

10,661 

sq m 

delivered 

by the 

end of 

March 

2016 

0 sq m 

delivered 

2015/2016 

 

0 sq m 

delivered 

2014/2015 

 

 

Analysis  

 

The overall delivery of new B1 floor-space remains low with no new floor-space delivered 

over the monitoring period.  The cumulative amount of new B1 floor-space delivered since 

the start of the plan period (2006) therefore remains at 10,661 sq m (see Graph 4) and it is 

evident that the target of delivering between 28,500 – 30,790 sq m of B1 floor-space by 

April 2016 will not be met. This reflects the fact that part of allocation E6 (Rhydycar) and the 

whole of allocation E8 (Car Park, Hoover Factory), which were anticipated to be delivered 

by 2011 and 2016 respectively, have not been developed.  

 

In addition, the amount of B1 floor-space delivered is below the minimum requirement (890 

sq m) for the third consecutive year and as such, the trigger level is met and a ‘red’ score 

has been given. 

 

Page 61



43 

 

 
 

Graph 4 

 

The delivery of a significant amount of B1 floor-space in the short term appears unlikely 

given that planning permission was granted for just five, primarily small scale B1 related 

developments over the monitoring period. One major office development (approximately 

1,450 sq m) was approved relating to the relocation of Merthyr Valley Homes to the 

Gellideg Estate; however, even with this major office development, it appears unlikely that 

the longer term target for 2021 (53,400 sq m) will be met.  

 

 

Recommendations 

 

The following should be considered to increase the delivery rate of B1 floor space in future: 

 

• Improved Marketing – Market awareness of Merthyr Tydfil’s available employment 

sites/units remains low but steps are being taken to improve the situation. The 

Goatmill Road employment site (LDP allocation E4) which involves approximately 10 

hectares of land suitable for B1, B2 and B8 uses has been marketed, and the Invest 

in Merthyr Tydfil website continues to be developed which will advertise vacant 

business properties and land within the area of Merthyr Tydfil. It is essential that such 

actions continue to be progressed and further efforts are made to raise awareness of 

available employment sites within the County Borough and to promote Merthyr Tydfil 

as a suitable location for employment.  

 

• Provision of further B1 office incubation space – The Orbit Centre at Rhydycar was 

built to foster smaller, start-up businesses and provides varying size B1 office space 

for companies to rent in the initial years of their business development. The intention 

is for these companies to grow and eventually move to larger premises within the 

County Borough. The Orbit Centre continues to provide excellent facilities for start-up 

and existing businesses and the occupation rate remains high.  

 

Page 62



44 

 

 

The Economic Development Department has been working towards the delivery of a 

new incubation facility for start-up businesses, which will have a similar function to the 

existing Orbit Centre. This facility will complement the existing Orbit Centre, which will 

refocus on high quality general office facilities to meet the needs of growing 

businesses. 

 

Scoping work has previously been undertaken for the creation of the enterprise 

centre within Cyfarthfa Castle and an initial stage 1 Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) 

application has been unsuccessful. While the intention is to re-submit the HLF 

application, the options for the future use of Cyfarthfa Castle are currently being 

reconsidered.     

 

• Development of an economic development evidence base – Work will commence on 

developing an economic development evidence base to inform the preparation of the 

replacement LDP. This will provide an opportunity to review the existing B1 

allocations and ensure that the level of provision remains in sync with the needs of 

the employment market.  

 

 

LDP 

Policy 

Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW14 

AS14 

AS24 

New B2/B8 

floor-space 

delivered 

Between 

7,920 and 

9,680 sq m 

net floor-

space 

delivered by 

April 2016 

 

At least 

56,500 sq m 

net floor-

space by 

April 2021 

Greater than 

7,540 sq m per 

annum or less 

than 940 sq m 

per annum for 2 

consecutive 

years. 

15,601 sq 

m delivered 

by the end 

of March 

2016 

0 sq m 

delivered 

2015/2016 

 

0 sq m 

delivered 

2014/2015 

 

 

Analysis  

 

This performance indicator contains 2 elements, namely a target floor-space figure by 

2016, and an associated trigger level figure. Detailed analysis of the relevant data shows 

these elements to be performing differently; the performance of each is considered below. 

 

No new B2/B8 floor-space was delivered over the monitoring period (April 2015 – March 

2016); nevertheless, the amount of B2/B8 floor-space previously delivered (15,601 sq m) 

has already exceeded the 2016 target of between 7,920 and 9,680 sq m (see Graph 5). In 

addition, a further 835 sq m of B2/B8 floor-space is anticipated to come forward in the short 

term, reflecting the four planning permissions granted for B2/B8 related development over 

Page 63



45 

 

the monitoring period. The amount of B2/B8 floor-space delivered is, however, below the 

minimum requirement (940 sq m) for the second consecutive year and the trigger level has 

now been met with a ‘red’ score given.  

 

 
 

Graph 5 

 

As per the previous AMR, the data collected shows that the employment land delivered has 

been on existing business / employment sites, often as extensions to existing buildings 

which meets the needs of the current market. Whilst such developments have exceeded 

current B2/B8 floor-space targets, it must be recognised that meeting the longer term target 

of delivering at least 56,500 sq m of B2/B8 floor-space by 2021 remains a significant 

challenge and the lack of activity and progress on developing allocated employment sites 

needs to be closely monitored. These allocations are primarily large sites aimed at single, 

large employers, and with their associated infrastructure costs, may only prove to be more 

attractive when market conditions improve and/or when specialist users are found. 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

The following should be considered in order to successfully deliver B2/B8 floor-space in 

future: 

 

• Improved Marketing – Market awareness of Merthyr Tydfil’s available employment 

sites/units remains low but steps are being taken to improve the situation. The 

Goatmill Road employment site (LDP allocation E4) which involves approximately 10 

hectares of land suitable for B1, B2 and B8 uses has been marketed, and the Invest 

in Merthyr Tydfil website continues to be developed which will advertise vacant 

business properties and land within the area of Merthyr Tydfil. It is essential that such 

actions continue to be progressed and further efforts are made to raise awareness of 

available employment sites within the County Borough and to promote Merthyr Tydfil 

Page 64



46 

 

as a suitable location for employment.  

• Development of an economic development evidence base – Work will commence on 

developing an economic development evidence base to inform the preparation of the 

replacement LDP. This will provide an opportunity to review the existing B2/B8 

allocations and ensure that the level of provision remains in sync with the needs of 

the employment market. 

 

LDP 

Policy 

Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW14 

AS14 

AS24 

Minimum 

number of net 

additional jobs 

delivered 

(B class uses 

only) 

Between 1,800 

and 1,980 jobs 

delivered by 

April 2016 

Greater than 

592 jobs per 

annum or less 

than 74 jobs per 

annum for 2 

consecutive 

years. 

1819 jobs 

delivered 

by the end 

of March 

2016 

492.5 jobs 

delivered 

2015/2016 

 

Analysis 

 

This performance indicator contains 2 elements, namely a target jobs figure by 2016 and an 

associated trigger level figure. Detailed analysis of the relevant data shows these elements 

to be performing similarly with each being considered further below. 

 

Over the monitoring period, 492.5 jobs were delivered with General Dynamics a significant 

contributor. This figure is at the higher end of the range for the anticipated number of jobs 

to be delivered per annum and accordingly a ‘green’ score is given. Moreover, the 

cumulative jobs delivered since the start of the monitoring period (2006) has increased to 

1,819 jobs which meets the target of delivering between 1,800 – 1,980 jobs by 2016.  

 

 

Recommendations 

 

The additional jobs target has been met, and as such, no action is required. 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

AS24 Developments 

granted 

planning 

permission that 

result in a loss 

of employment 

land within 

employment 

sites protected 

under Policy 

AS24 

No loss of 

employment 

land on 

protected 

employment 

sites except 

where justified 

within the terms 

of the policy 

1 or 2 

developments 

granted 

planning 

permission for 2 

consecutive 

years, or, 3 or 

more 

developments 

granted 

planning 

permission in 1 

No unjustified 

loss of 

employment 

land  

Page 65



47 

 

year 

 

Analysis 

 

Within this monitoring period, four planning applications were approved for developments 

which resulted in the loss of employment land on protected employment sites. These 

related to a revised scheme for the erection of a 20MW embedded power plant and the 

erection of a gas meter kiosk at Plot 2, Pengarnddu Industrial Estate; a change of use of 

land to a car sales office and valet centre on land adjacent to Jack Matthews Garage, and a 

change of use of land and siting of a mobile catering unit, both at Pant Industrial Estate. All 

developments were justified in accordance with LDP Policy AS24 and the associated policy 

clarification note. The latter is proving invaluable in providing decision-makers with further 

clarity on the evidence that is required to be submitted as part of any change of use 

application that would result in the loss of protected employment land/ units.  

 

 

Recommendations  

 

This element of policy is currently being achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

    

 

LDP 

Policy 

Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

AS14 

AS24 

Percentage of 

economically 

active people 

in employment 

(Baseline: 64% 

at 2009) 

Approximately 

74% by the end 

of 2016 

Reduction of 

5% or failure 

to increase for 

2 consecutive 

years. 

65.9% Decrease 

of 2.3% 

from last 

year 

 

Analysis  

 

The percentage of economically active people in employment is highly dependent on 

external factors such as the current economic climate. Over the monitoring period, the 

proportion of economically active people in employment was 65.9%, which represents a 

decrease of 2.3% compared with the level reported in the 2014-2015 AMR of 68.2%. 

 

Although the 2011 target of 67% was met, the recent decline means that it is unlikely that 

the 2016 target of 74% will be met and accordingly, a ‘red’ score has been given. It is also 

worth noting that the percentage of economically active people in Merthyr Tydfil is now 

moving away from the average figures for Wales (70.3%) and Great Britain (73.6%) which 

have both seen improvement over the current monitoring period. (See Graph 6). 

 

Page 66



48 

 

 
 

Graph 6 

ONS Crown Copyright Reserved [from Nomis on 20 April 2016] 

 

The LDP’s employment land requirements are, amongst other things, based on an 

assumption that, by 2021, Merthyr Tydfil achieves an employment growth that places 80% 

of economically active people in employment2. As it appears increasingly unlikely that this 

target will be met, it is important that the Merthyr Tydfil employment land review is updated 

to ensure that the current employment allocations are appropriate to both deliver new 

employment floor-space to meet short term demand and provide for likely longer-term 

employment land requirements up to 2031.   

 

 

Recommendation 

 

The ability of the LDP to directly affect the percentage of economically active people is 

limited. Notwithstanding this, it is considered that the AMR’s recommendations to help 

deliver improvements to employment floor-space provision elsewhere under Strategic 

Objective SO7 will assist in improving the situation across the County Borough.  

 

In addition, Merthyr Tydfil’s employment land review should be updated in order to inform 

the preparation of the replacement LDP. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
2
 See Merthyr Tydfil CBC Employment Land Review, Roger Tym & Partners (July 2010). 

Economically active people in employment 

Page 67



49 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW14 

AS14 

AS24 

Vacancy rates 

of existing 

employment 

buildings 

 

Maintain vacancy 

rate within range 

of 5-10% of 

existing stock 

 

+ or – 2.5% 

beyond range for 

2 consecutive 

years 

20% 

 

Analysis  

 

Data has been gathered to inform the economic development evidence base. Survey work 

includes the vacancy rates on each industrial / business park and a general assessment of 

the appearance / upkeep of each facility.  Over the monitoring period, the overall vacancy 

rate for all ‘B’ use employment units on employments sites in the County Borough has been 

surveyed.  

 

The table below simply looks at vacancy levels on employment sites, irrelevant of the use 

and size of the unit. Undeveloped plots are included as units. For the first time in an AMR, 

results for Cyfarthfa and EFI employment sites are included.  

 

Over the monitoring period, the vacancy rate has increased to 20% which represents an 

increase beyond the acceptable range of +/- 2.5 for two consecutive years, resulting in a 

red score. Whilst further monitoring is considered necessary in order to identify whether a 

firm trend of increasing vacancy rates has been established, it is recognised that the 

vacancy rate is firmly outside the expected optimal market range of between 5-10% and 

further analysis is required through an update to Merthyr Tydfil’s employment land review.   

 

Site Name. Total Units. No. Vacant. % Vacant. 

Pant Ind. Est. 118 17 14 

Pengarnddu Ind. 

Est. 

15 1 7 

Willows Ind. Est. 24 9 38 

Merthyr Ind. Est. 69 17 25 

Plymouth St. 

Arches. 

14 9 64 

Rhydycar Business 

Park. 

5 1 20 

Abercanaid Ind. Est. 7 2 29 

Goatmill Rd. Ind. 

Est. 

37 3 8 

Triangle Business 

Park. 

9 1 11 

Cyfarthfa 13 5 38 

EFI 16 1 6 

Overall 327 66 20 
 

Page 68



50 

 

Recommendations  

 

Continue to monitor vacancy rates in order to establish whether the relatively high figure is 

temporary or more permanent in nature.  

 

Update Merthyr Tydfil’s employment land review in order to inform the preparation of the 

replacement LDP. 

 

 

3.7.3 Overall summary on policy performance and conclusion on whether the 

strategic objective is being achieved 

 

For the purposes of this annual monitoring report, the level of achievement towards 

Strategic Objective SO7 is based on the performance of 3 separate LDP policies and 

compliance with the LDP’s land use strategy, particularly the Plan’s spatial 

distribution of development allocations. 

 

A shortfall in the delivery of B1 employment floor-space has been identified as a 

primary issue of concern within a number of AMR’s, and the situation has not 

improved over the current monitoring period. Additional concern is arising from the 

reduced levels of B2/B8 floor-space delivery, the reduction in the percentage of 

economically active people in employment and the increase in vacancy rates of 

existing employment buildings. 

 

On a more positive note, net additional job targets for 2016 have been met, with an 

additional 492.5 jobs delivered over the monitoring period, and LDP Policy AS24 

continues to function effectively in preventing the loss of protected employment land 

to inappropriate uses.  

 

A variety of recommendations are set out above, but it is recognised that the LDP 

may be constrained in its ability to have a direct influence on current employment 

market conditions which are the main factor at play. Notwithstanding, the preparation 

of the replacement LDP, which will include an update to Merthyr Tydfil’s employment 

land review, will allow for further analysis of the employment market, including a re-

assessment of the requirements of business and industry in the area and 

consideration of any site delivery issues. In doing so, the appropriateness of the 

LDP’s employment strategy, policies and allocations will be reconsidered to ensure 

that they meet the employment needs of the County and Borough and wider region 

up to 2031. 

Page 69



51 

 

3.8 SO8: To promote social inclusion and ensure equality of opportunity through 

reducing the need to travel and providing better access by sustainable means 

to employment opportunities, community facilities and services. 

 

3.8.1 Contextual Changes 

 

No significant contextual changes relating to this strategic objective occurred during 

the monitoring period.  

 

3.8.2  Policy Monitoring 

 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW15 Number of 

community 

facilities lost 

through change 

of use 

No loss of viable 

community 

facilities below 

identified need 

(except where 

justified within 

the terms of the 

policy) 

1 or 2 

community 

facilities lost for 

2 consecutive 

years, or, 3 or 

more community 

facilities lost in 1 

year 

No unjustified 

loss of a 

community 

facility  

 

 

Analysis  

 

Within this monitoring period, eight planning applications relating to seven schemes were 

approved for developments resulting in the loss, or partial loss, of a community facility. 

These related to the demolition of a former public toilet and replacement with houses in 

Trelewis; the conversion of Rock Chapel to flats; the change of use of public house to 

residential at The Railway Inn, Troedyrhiw; the change of use from Post Office (A1) to hot 

food takeaway (A3), High Street, Trelewis; the change of use of former bank to dwelling, 

Aberfan; the change of use of Mount Pleasant School (Use Class D1) to a bunk house; and 

Demolition of toilet block, near the Bowls Pavilion, Cyfarthfa Park.  

 

All developments were justified in accordance with LDP Policy BW15 and the associated 

community facilities flow chart. The latter aids the consideration of planning applications 

involving the potential loss of community facilities, providing further clarity as to what 

constitutes a community facility and the evidence that will be required from applicants when 

a development proposal involves the loss of such a facility. 

       

 

Recommendations  

 

This element of policy is currently being achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

 

Page 70



52 

 

 

 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW17 

AS17 

Amount of 

planning 

obligations 

secured on 

allocated 

housing 

developments 

Secure 

contributions on 

33 (67%) of the 

allocated 

housing 

developments 

1 or 2 sites 

failing to secure 

planning 

obligations for 2 

consecutive 

years, or, 3 or 

more sites 

failing to secure 

planning 

obligations in 1 

year 

No allocated 

sites failing to 

secure identified 

contributions 

 

Analysis  

 

Continuing to secure planning contributions on all identified sites is an important part of the 

LDP’s strategy; however, negotiating obligations continues to be challenging owing to the 

unfavourable economic climate.  

 

One allocated housing site, with an identified need for planning obligations, was granted 

planning permission over the monitoring period. This related to outline permission for 

residential development on allocated housing site H31 Rhydycar Leisure Village, which is 

located to the rear of Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Village, where affordable housing was secured 

by condition. 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

No action is required as this element of policy is currently being achieved. However, there 

are wider concerns over the delivery of the LDP’s housing strategy (see recommendations 

under Strategic Objective 6). 

Page 71



53 

 

   

3.8.3 Overall summary on policy performance and conclusion on whether the 

strategic objective is being achieved 

For the purposes of this annual monitoring report, the level of achievement towards 

Strategic Objective SO8 is based on the performance of 3 separate LDP policies as 

outlined above. 

It is considered that this strategic objective is being achieved with community facilities 

being appropriately protected and planning obligations being secured as anticipated. 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW17 Percentage of 

relevant 

planning 

applications 

complying with 

Planning 

Obligations SPG 

 

All (Post SPG 

adoption) 

 

- 

All applications  

complying 

 

Analysis 

  

All qualifying applications have been assessed against the relevant adopted SPG and were 

either found to comply or amended to comply. 

      

 

Recommendations 

 

All qualifying applications received should continue to be assessed against the adopted 

SPG. 

  

Page 72



54 

 

3.9 SO9: To promote health and wellbeing by providing accessible and varied 

opportunities for leisure and recreational activities. 

 

3.9.1 Contextual Changes 

 

A draft Merthyr Tydfil Open Space Strategy (OSS), which is based on a local 

assessment of need and an audit of existing open space, was placed on public 

consultation on 3rd March 2016 for a period of six weeks. The Strategy identifies 9 

types of locally important open spaces, sets the standards for each type of open 

space and establishes the need for further open space provision. It is anticipated that 

the final version will be published in summer 2016. 

 

It is evident from the draft OSS that there are shortfalls in a number of types of open 

space. The situation does, however, vary across the County Borough, with some 

wards having better open space provision than others. It is also clear that there is 

much variation between wards in terms of the type of open space provided. The 

findings of the OSS, in particular the need for additional open space, will therefore 

need to inform the preparation of open space related policies to be included within a 

replacement LDP. 

 

Merthyr Tydfil's Single Integrated Plan (SIP) 2013 – 17 was revised and approved by 

the Merthyr Tydfil Local Service Board (LSB) in July 2014 and includes ‘Healthy 

Lifestyles’ as a priority outcome promoting the use of green spaces to increase the 

opportunities for adults and children to be physically active.  The SIP will be replaced 

by a local well-being plan prepared by the new statutory Public Service Board (PSB). 

 

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 became law in Wales in April 

2015.  The act strengthens existing governance arrangements for improving the well-

being of Wales to ensure that present needs are met without compromising the ability 

of future generations to meet their own needs.  It comprises 7 well-being goals 

including ‘A Healthier Wales - A society in which people’s physical and mental well-

being is maximised and in which choices and behaviours that benefit future health 

are understood.’  It further places a duty on PSBs to prepare and publish local well-

being plans setting out local objectives that will contribute to achieving the well-being 

goals within the area. 

 

Whilst there are no immediate implications for the adopted LDP, the preparation of 

the replacement LDP will need to have regard to the land use implications of the 

forthcoming Merthyr Tydfil local well-being objectives and the Cwm Taf local well-

being plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 73



55 

 

3.9.2  Policy Monitoring 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW16 Amount of public 

open space, 

including play 

space and informal 

recreational areas, 

lost to 

development (ha) 

which is not 

allocated in the 

development plan 

No loss below 

identified 

need 

 

 

 

 

0.0ha 

 

 

Analysis  

 

Over the monitoring period, only 0.25 ha of protected open space has been lost.  However, 

since this is located within an allocated site it is considered acceptable and outside the 

remit of the indicator. 

 

It is therefore considered that Policy BW16 continues to function as intended and there is 

no concern over its effectiveness. 

 

A contributing factor to the success of this policy is the on-going work towards publishing an 

OSS for Merthyr Tydfil. The ability to reference the emerging OSS over the past 12 months 

has continued to be useful to the planning policy team to help inform and interpret the 

policy.  It has proved useful for both pre-application discussions and during the planning 

application process. The detailed analysis contained within the Strategy has helped provide 

a solid evidence base to support the raising of objections to proposals that would otherwise 

entail the loss of open space and also to fulfil the requirement to provide equivalent 

alternative provision nearby. 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

This element of policy continues to function effectively, and as such, no action is required. 

 

Page 74



56 

 

 

 

 

3.9.3 Overall summary on policy performance and conclusion on whether the 

strategic objective is being achieved 

 

For the purposes of this annual monitoring report, the level of achievement towards 

Strategic Objective SO9 is based on the performance of 2 separate LDP policies as 

outlined above. 

 

It is considered that this strategic objective is being achieved with public open space 

continuing to be adequately protected and leisure/recreational related developments 

coming forward at Parc Taf Bargoed. The latter also complements 

leisure/recreational developments delivered at Cyfarthfa Park, allowing Merthyr Tydfil 

to make a significant contribution to the Valleys Regional Park. 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

AS15 New leisure / 

recreational 

development 

 

ii)  Parc Taf 

Bargoed 

 

Deliver by the 

end of 2016 

 

 

No planning 

application by 

the end of 2014 

Developments 

delivered 

 

 

 

Analysis  

 

Parc Taf Bargoed, which comprises 3 former colliery sites, has been transformed into 

community parkland.  A number of leisure/recreational related developments have been 

completed since the LDP adoption, including 3 Parc Gateway Projects and an extension to 

the Parc Pavilion. 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

Leisure/recreational related developments have been delivered, and as such, no action is 

required. 

 

Page 75



57 

 

3.10 SO10: To ensure good quality design of new development and the creation of 

safer communities. 

 

3.10.1 Contextual Changes 

 

No significant contextual changes relating to this strategic objective have been 

introduced during the monitoring period. 

 

3.10.2  Policy Monitoring 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW7 

 

Percentage of 

relevant schemes 

incorporating “secured 

by design principles” 

 

 

All major 

applications 

 

- All major 

applications 

granted 

planning 

permission  

incorporated 

“secured by 

design 

principles” 

 

Analysis  

 

Over the monitoring period, all relevant major developments incorporated “secured by 

design principles”. It is therefore considered that Policy BW7 is functioning effectively in 

respect of delivering safe built environments.  

 

 

Recommendations  

 

This element of policy is currently being achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

 

 

Page 76



58 

 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW7 

 

Percentage of 

planning applications 

complying with 

sustainable design 

SPG 

All (post SPG 

adoption) 

 

- All relevant 

applications 

complying 

with SPG 

 

Analysis  

 

All relevant applications have complied with the adopted sustainable design SPG, resulting 

in key elements of sustainable design being incorporated into new developments. 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

This element of policy is currently being achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

 

 

3.10.3 Overall summary on policy performance and conclusion on whether the 

strategic objective is being achieved 

 

For the purposes of this annual monitoring report, the level of achievement towards 

Strategic Objective SO10 is based on the performance of a single LDP policy as 

outlined above. 

 

Targets relating to the delivery of safe and sustainable developments have been 

achieved and the associated policy and supplementary planning guidance are 

considered to be functioning effectively. It is therefore considered that this strategic 

objective continues to be achieved. 

Page 77



59 

 

3.11 SO11: To ensure continued protection and enhancement of the natural, cultural, 

built and historic environment.  

 

3.11.1 Contextual Changes 

 

The Historic Environment (Wales) Act which became law in March 2016 makes 

important changes to the two main UK laws that provide the legislative framework for 

the protection and management of the historic environment: the Ancient Monuments 

and Archaeological Areas Act 1979 and the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  The Act gives more effective protection to listed 

buildings and scheduled ancient monuments, improves the sustainable management 

of the historic environment and introduces greater transparency and accountability 

into decisions taken on the historic environment.  In addition, Chapter 6 of Planning 

Policy Wales, ‘The Historic Environment’, has been revised to reflect the changes 

made by the new legislation and released for public consultation between March and 

June 2016. 

 

The Environment (Wales) Act, which became law in March 2016, puts in place the 

legislation needed to plan and manage Wales’ natural resources in a more proactive, 

sustainable and joined-up way.  It includes provision to help tackle environmental 

challenges, set emission reduction targets, improve waste management processes 

and clarify regulations in relation to water, including flood risk management and land 

drainage. 

 

In September 2014 the Minister for Natural Resources consulted on the ‘Nature 

Recovery Plan for Wales,’ which will be launched early in 2016.  The plan aims to 

address the underlying causes of biodiversity loss by: putting nature at the heart of 

decision-making; increasing the resilience of the natural environment and taking 

specific action for habitats and species.  Part 1 sets out how action proposed by the 

Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 and through the sustainable management of 

natural resources will contribute to reversing the loss of biodiversity in Wales.  Part 2 

comprises an Action Plan to take forward the actions specifically identified to reverse 

the decline through setting targets and milestones and identifying funding 

mechanisms.  Part 3 currently in development, will comprise the Nature Recovery 

Framework which will outline the governance structure, roles and responsibilities and 

accountability measures required to ensure delivery of the Nature Recovery Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 78



60 

 

3.11.2  Policy Monitoring 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW6 

 

Developments 

granted planning 

permission that do not 

preserve or enhance 

scheduled ancient 

monuments, 

registered historic 

parks and gardens, 

listed buildings or 

conservation areas 

 

No 

developments 

that would fail to 

preserve or 

enhance 

heritage 

features granted 

planning 

permission 

 

1 or 2 

developments 

failing to 

preserve or 

enhance 

features for 2 

consecutive 

years, or, 3 or 

more 

developments 

failing to 

preserve or 

enhance 

features in 1 

year 

No 

developments 

granted 

planning 

permission 

failed to 

preserve or 

enhance 

heritage 

features 

 

 

Analysis  

 

Policy BW6 seeks to preserve or enhance various elements of Merthyr Tydfil’s built 

heritage, including Scheduled Ancient Monuments, registered Historic Parks and Gardens, 

Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas. 

 

Over the monitoring period, a total of 83 developments were granted planning permission 

that impacted on built heritage assets.  These developments can be broken down as 

follows: 

• 1 development was granted planning permission in the vicinity of a Scheduled 

Ancient Monument; 

• 7 developments were granted planning permission within an Historic Park and 

Garden (which were also within a Conservation Area); 

• 58 developments were granted planning permission impacting on a Listed Building 

(41 of which were also within a Conservation area); and 

• 58 developments were granted within a Conservation Area (41 of which were Listed 

Buildings). 

 

The majority of approvals relating to townscape and built heritage ranged from variation of 

conditions, advertisement consents, installation of new shop fronts, changes of use and the 

renewal of planning permissions or listed building consents. A small number of approvals 

were for internal alterations and repairs and the erection of new dwelling houses. Individual 

planning permissions were also granted for external repairs, replacement garages, 

construction of a new squadron building, new shared footpath/cycleway at Merthyr College, 

improvements to Merthyr Train Station forecourt, retention of an heritage trail, erection of a 

garage, single storey extension and dormer and installation of a new boundary wall, 

railings, gates and CCTV cameras at Cyfarthfa Park. All permissions granted complied with 

Policy BW6.   

Page 79



61 

 

 

Furthermore, 8 inappropriate developments within Conservation Areas (3 of which also 

affected listed buildings) and 4 inappropriate listed building developments were refused. 

 

 

Recommendations  

 

This element of policy is currently being achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW5 

 

AS6 

Developments 

granted planning 

permission that cause 

harm to the overall 

nature conservation 

value of SINCs or the 

LNR 

No development 

that would 

cause harm to 

the overall 

nature 

conservation 

value of SINCs 

or the LNR 

granted 

planning 

permission 

1 or 2 

developments 

resulting in 

overall harm 

for 2 

consecutive 

years, or, 3 or 

more 

developments 

resulting in 

overall harm in 

1 year 

 

All 

developments 

granted 

planning 

permission do 

not cause 

harm to the 

overall nature 

conservation 

value of 

SINCs or the 

LNR 

Developments 

granted planning 

permission that cause 

harm to a SSSI 

No 

developments 

that would 

cause harm to a 

SSSI granted 

planning 

permission 

1 or more 

developments 

resulting in 

harm to a 

SSSI 

All 

developments 

granted 

planning 

permission do 

not cause 

harm to a 

SSSI 

Page 80



62 

 

 

Analysis  

 

The monitoring framework contains two indicators which relate to Policy BW5, namely, the 

number of developments causing harm to the overall nature conservation value of a Site of 

Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) or Local Nature Reserve (LNR) (this indicator 

also relates to Policy AS6), and the number of developments causing harm to a Site of 

Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).  Each indicator is considered separately below. 

Over the monitoring period 16 developments were granted planning permission that had 

the potential to affect a SINC, but in all instances, the overall nature conservation value of 

the SINC was safeguarded.  In addition, over the monitoring period planning permission 

was refused for 3 inappropriate development proposals within a SINC and no 

developments were received that could potentially cause harm to a Local Nature Reserve. 

 

In respect of the impact of development on a SSSI, 1 application was approved for the 

retention of a clay pigeon shooting facility, which also impacted on a SINC.  However, it 

was considered that the development would not have an adverse impact on the 

conservation value of either the SSSI or the SINC. 

As a consequence of the above, it is considered that Policies BW5 and AS6 are functioning 

effectively. 

 

Recommendations  

 

This element of policy is currently being achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

 

3.11.3 Overall summary on policy performance and conclusion on whether the 

strategic objective is being achieved 

 

For the purposes of this annual monitoring report, the level of achievement towards 

Strategic Objective SO11 is based on the performance of 3 LDP policies, relating to 

the historic and natural environment. 

 

Targets relating to the preservation and enhancement of both the historic and natural 

environment are being met and the associated policies are considered to be 

functioning effectively. It is therefore considered that this strategic objective continues 

to be achieved.  

Page 81



63 

 

3.12 SO12: To contribute towards reducing the impact of climate change through 

reduced carbon dioxide emissions in new developments.   

 

3.12.1 Contextual Changes 

 

The Welsh Government’s ‘Planning for Renewable and Low Carbon Energy’ toolkit 

was updated in September 2015. This toolkit will be used to inform renewable and 

low carbon energy related policies as part of the preparation of the replacement LDP.   

 

3.12.2  Policy Monitoring 

 

LDP Policy Indicator Target Trigger Level Performance 

BW7 

 

Percentage of 

planning applications 

complying with 

sustainable design 

SPG 

 

All (post SPG 

adoption) 

 

- All relevant 

applications 

complying 

with SPG 

 

Analysis  

 

All relevant applications have complied with the adopted sustainable design SPG, resulting 

in key elements of sustainable design being incorporated into new developments. 

 

 

Recommendations 

 

This element of policy is currently being achieved, and as such, no action is required. 

 

  

3.12.3 Overall summary on policy performance and conclusion on whether the 

strategic objective is being achieved 

 

For the purposes of this annual monitoring report, the level of achievement towards 

Strategic Objective SO12 is based on the performance of a single LDP policy as 

outlined above. 

 

 The target relating to the delivery of sustainable development, which helps reduce 

the impact of climate change, has been achieved and the associated policy and 

supplementary planning guidance are considered to be functioning effectively. It is 

therefore considered that this strategic objective continues to be achieved. 

Page 82



64 

 

4.0 Community Infrastructure Levy 

 
4.1 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced in Merthyr Tydfil County 

Borough on 2nd June 2014. It is a compulsory charge that is levied against all new 

qualifying development. 

 

4.2 In order to ensure that the implementation of CIL is open and transparent, the 

Council must prepare an annual report on CIL. This can be a bespoke report or can 

be included in an existing reporting mechanism, such as the Annual Monitoring 

Report (AMR) which reports on the LDP. This is a sensible mechanism for reporting 

on CIL as it is inextricably linked to the LDP. This is the second year in which the 

AMR has reported on the implementation of CIL. 

 

4.3 The CIL monitoring report must be published by the Council, by the 31st December 

each year, for the previous financial year. In this instance, the reporting period is 1st 

April 2015 to 31st March 2016. 

 

4.4 CIL becomes payable upon commencement of the chargeable development and as 

such, there is likely to be a delay between the implementation of CIL and CIL monies 

being received. Only planning applications approved after 2nd June 2014 are liable for 

CIL, and only those that have then commenced development will have generated 

income.  

 

4.5 The CIL balance at 1st April 2015 was £0.00. Over the monitoring period, the 

Authority received a total of £124,125 in CIL from two developments relating to retail 

and housing respectively. No CIL monies were spent of the monitoring period, and 

accordingly, the CIL balance at 31st March 2016 was £124,125.  

 
 

Page 83



65 

 

5.0 Sustainability Performance 

 

5.1 The Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive requires local authorities to 

undertake Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) as an integral part of their plan 

preparation. In addition, the LDP Regulations require that local authorities undertake 

Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of their plan. It is recognised as best practice for local 

authorities to undertake SEA and SA together as an iterative part of the development 

plan process throughout plan preparation. In preparing its LDP, Merthyr Tydfil County 

Borough Council commissioned a joint SEA and SA and produced and published its 

SEA/SA Report in conjunction with the publication of the LDP. 

 

5.2 The SEA Directive also requires that the Council monitors the state of the 

environment through monitoring the sustainability objectives set out in the SEA/SA 

Report. Table 7.1 of the Final SA Report for the LDP (May 2011) sets out potential 

SA targets and indicators with reference to the relevant topic area in the SEA 

directive and each of the 15 SA objectives identified during the plan preparation 

process. The table refers to potential targets rather than confirmed / absolute targets 

owing to the fact that the Council recognises changes to the monitoring framework 

may be necessary in future. Notwithstanding, the table set out in the Final SA Report 

remains the basis of sustainability monitoring for the LDP at this point in time.  

 

5.3 The targets were set as aspirations to be reached by the end of the plan period rather 

than being achievable milestones during particular periods of the LDP.  

Consequently, it is recognised that they may not always be measurable, and even 

where they are, they may not always provide a direct indication of whether the LDP is 

having the intended benefit for the environment as a whole as it is unlikely that the 

LDP will have realised these aspirational targets during the early part of the plan 

period.  As a result, SA Monitoring will consider whether there is movement towards 

the target rather than the absolute position of whether the target has been reached, 

and this will require a significant level of officer interpretation to the background 

information / indicators. 

 

5.4 Furthermore, whilst the AMR sets out a variety of objectives and targets to assess 

performance, the Council has found that monitoring each of the background 

indicators (not published in this document) has often proved difficult owing to the 

availability and /or timeliness of various data sources. In addition, there are often 

conflicting results from certain background indicators that may have the effect of 

masking any notable trends or movements. In circumstances such as these, where 

there are large, diverse and potentially conflicting sources of information, it has 

proved difficult to draw an overall picture of the effect of the plan on the environment. 

The inherent tension between certain indicators does not lend itself to the production 

of meaningful results. 

 

5.5 To help overcome the above difficulties and to present an assessment of 

sustainability performance in the most coherent and meaningful manner, the Council 

has restricted its AMR evaluation to a simple commentary on each of the 15 SA 

Objectives. This commentary is subdivided into the relevant SA targets and its 

Page 84



66 

 

composition is guided / informed by the background indicators wherever possible. In 

this way, the AMR avoids dwelling overly on the intricacies or inadequacies of the 

various data sets. 

 

5.6 Given that SEA Monitoring should take a strategic view of the effects of the plan on 

the environment, the Council considers it entirely appropriate for the SEA Monitoring 

to use the Strategic Objectives as the top tier measuring unit for the process. The 

effects of some background indicators can be aggregated together to form a more 

comprehensive and more balanced method of assessment which should help 

overcome potential conflicts and aid performance evaluation across a wider 

perspective. 

 

5.7 The traffic light system used in policy evaluation has not been taken forward to this 

section owing to the fact that many of the SEA targets and indicators are aspirational 

and much less specific than their policy equivalents. Evaluation of success is 

therefore likely to be less quantifiable, and though the degree of progress toward a 

target is explained in commentary, this does not translate sufficiently readily into a 

quick-reference colour-coded assessment.  

 

Page 85



67 

 

6.0 Sustainability Assessments 

6.1 The following pages set out the sustainability assessments with reference to the 

relevant sustainability objectives. 

SA Objective 

Number 
Sustainability Objective 

1 - Housing SA Objective 1: Meet the overall housing requirement through a mix of dwelling 

types catering for all needs to promote integrated and thriving communities. 

 

This SA Objective is informed by 1 target and 7 background indicators.  

 

SA Target: Reduce discrepancies between housing requirement, especially for 

affordable and special need housing and stock. 

 

Further progress has been made towards meeting this objective in Merthyr Tydfil 

with 1,656 new dwellings built in the County Borough since 2006. However, this 

rate of housebuilding is well below the level required to fulfil the strategy of the 

LDP. 

 

Further affordable housing has also been delivered over the monitoring period 

with the completion of 12 dwellings at Old School Close, Georgetown and 27 

dwellings at Marigold Close, Gurnos. Work is also progressing on several affordable 

housing schemes, including developments at the former Abercanaid Primary 

School and the Labour Exchange, Pontmorlais. 

 

There has been an increase in the average house price during the monitoring 

period and a decrease in wages. The updated Local Housing Market Assessment 

(LHMA) was published in March 2015, highlighting the housing need in the County 

Borough up to 2019. Work will, however, commence on a new LHMA in Autumn 

2016 in order to give the most up to date assessment of affordable housing need, 

with publication due in Spring 2017. 

 

Nearly all social housing in the County Borough now meets Welsh Housing Quality 

Standard, and the largest Registered Social Landlord in the County Borough 

(Merthyr Valley Homes) is able to construct new dwellings after improving the 

quality of its existing stock to an appropriate standard. Further schemes to improve 

energy efficiency on social housing stock are also being carried out, such as 

installation of external wall insulation.  

 

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT: Progress continues to be made towards the delivery of a 

mix of housing types; however, the SA objective is not being fully achieved due to 

the lower than anticipated level of housing delivery.  

 

2 - Cultural 

Heritage 

SA Objective 2: Promote and protect Welsh Culture and Heritage including 

landscape and archaeology. 

 

This SA Objective is informed by 1 target and 6 background indicators.  

 

SA Target: Increase proportion of new development that protects or enhances 

sites of historical and cultural interest. 

Page 86



68 

 

All relevant developments granted planning permission during 2015/2016 either 

protected or enhanced heritage features as part of that permission.  

 

In terms of positive or negative change in the Buildings at Risk Register, it is 

anticipated that CADW will complete their survey in September 2016, and as such, 

an update will be provided in next year’s AMR. 

 

The percentage of Merthyr Tydfil’s residents who say they can speak Welsh has 

seen a decrease from 25.1% in 2015 to 21%
3
 in 2016. The percentage does, 

however, continue to be much higher than the 9% of residents who were recorded 

as being able to speak Welsh in the 2011 Census.   

 

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT: Progress continues to be made towards meeting this SA 

objective in terms of protecting historical assets, although the decrease in Welsh 

speakers is an issue that needs to be closely monitored in order to establish 

whether there is a trend of decreasing Welsh speakers within the County Borough. 

 

3 - 

Communities 

SA Objective 3: Encourage population retention and growth; and promote 

integrated and distinctive communities with opportunities for living, working and 

socialising for all. 

 

This SA Objective is informed by 3 targets and 6 background indicators. 

 

SA Target 1: All people to have access to a GP, post office, play area, pub and 

village hall. 

 

The availability of local services is an integral part of the decision-making process 

on the location of new residential development. For this reason, all residential 

allocations within the LDP have been located within defined settlement limits and 

situated within close proximity to existing services and facilities. 

 

Over the monitoring period, 91% of residential development granted planning 

permission in the County Borough was located within 400m of a bus stop and 

600m of primary facilities including a shop and school. 

 

The percentage of residents with access to a GP, Post Office, play area and pub is 

as follows: 

 

• The Welsh Government began collecting management data on GP opening 

hours and GP appointment times in 2010 and 2012 respectively.  The data is 

collected for every GP practice (main surgery) in Wales.  The latest release 

provides results for the end of November 2015 at Health Board and national 

level only. In 2013, 60% of GP surgeries were open all day in the Cwm Taf 

University area rising to 67% by 2015.  This compares favourably to the Welsh 

average which was 43% in 2013 rising to 45% by 2015. GP appointments 

offered at convenient times (before 8:30am every week day) in the Cwm Taf 

University area was 10% in 2013 rising to 11% by 2015.  This matches closely to 

the Welsh average which was also 10% in 2013 rising to 12% by 2015.  GP 

appointments offered at convenient times (between 5pm and 6:30pm every 

                                                           
3
 Annual Population Survey estimates of persons aged 3 and over who say they can speak Welsh (Source – 

StatsWales)  

Page 87



69 

 

week day) in the Cwm Taf University area was 93% in 2013 rising to 95% by 

2015.  This compares favourably to the Welsh average which was 76% in 2013 

rising to 79% by 2015.  

• There are currently 9 Post Offices and 2 sub Post Offices in the Merthyr Tydfil 

County Borough area.  Comparative data was not included in the previous 

AMR. 

• Surveys undertaken for the Council’s Draft Open Space Strategy (OSS) found 

that 37% of the County Borough’s households had access to a play area within 

600m of their home. 

• There are currently 72 Public Houses in the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 

area.  Comparative data was not included in the previous AMR. 

 

Statistics for accessibility to village halls do not exist at local authority level. 

 

In terms of variation in car ownership at the national and local level, the 2011 

Census showed car ownership rates of 77.1% and 70.3% for Wales and Merthyr 

Tydfil respectively.  Within Merthyr Tydfil, levels of car ownership between wards 

varied greatly, from 48.7% in Gurnos to 88.3% in Treharris.  Detailed information 

on car ownership trends will not be available until analysis of the 2021 Census. 

 

SA Target 2: Increase percentage of people with qualifications and improve skills. 

 

Increasing the proportion of the population with qualifications is not directly 

related to land use planning policy, although access to improved education and 

skills facilities remains a fundamental part of the LDP’s strategy which is being 

fulfilled via a number of LDP policies. 

 

Highest qualification levels of working age adults 

December 

2011 

No Qualifications Qualified to 

below level 2 

Qualified to 

NQF level 2 or 

above 

Qualified to 

NQF level 3 or 

above 

Qualified to 

NQF level4  or 

above 

Merthyr 18.7 18.4 62.9 39.7 22.4 

Wales  11.0 15.1 73.9 52.4 31.5 

December 

2015 

No Qualifications Qualified to 

below level 2 

Qualified to 

NQF level 2 or 

above 

Qualified to 

NQF level 3 or 

above 

Qualified to 

NQF level 4 or 

above 

Merthyr  13.7 18.0 68.3 47.3 27.0 

Wales   9.5 13.4 77.1 57.5 36.1 

 

Since Plan adoption the level of adults with no qualification has decreased in 

Merthyr by 5% compared to 1.5% in Wales. Moreover, the level of adults Qualified 

to NQF level 2 or above has increased by 5.5% in Merthyr compared to only 3.2% in 

Wales as a whole. 

 

SA Target 3: Reduce the number of wards that are among the 100 most deprived 

in Wales. 

 

Page 88



70 

 

The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) is the official measure of relative 

deprivation for small areas in Wales.  It is designed to identify those small areas 

where there are the highest concentrations of several different types of 

deprivation.  The most deprived Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) are ranked 

from 1- 191.  WIMD 2014 outputs were revised in August 2015 and show that in 

general, the valleys and urban local authorities have higher concentrations of 

multiple deprivations.  Merthyr Tydfil had 5 LSOAs wards that were among the 100 

most deprived in Wales in 2014, this compares with 6 LSOAs wards that were 

among the 100 most deprived in Wales in 2011. 

 

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT: :  Progress continues to be made towards meeting this 

SA objective, particularly in relation to the number of adults gaining qualifications 

and the reduction in the number of LSOAs in the most deprived 10% in Wales. 

 

4 - Health SA Objective 4: Promote services and facilities that encourage a healthy and safe 

lifestyle.  

 

This SA Objective is informed by 3 targets and 9 background indicators. 

 

SA Target 1: Increase access to physical recreation facilities. 

 

LDP Strategic Objective SO9 seeks to promote health and wellbeing by providing 

accessible and varied opportunities for leisure and recreational activities. Seven 

LDP policies flow from this objective including Policy BW16, which seeks to protect 

and enhance the County Borough’s network of leisure facilities; Policy AS17, which 

requires new outdoor sport / play space that will help to meet Fields in Trust 

Standards; and Policy BW7, which requires new development to contribute to the 

provision of usable open and outdoor play space.  

 

Surveys undertaken for the Council’s Draft Open Space Strategy (OSS) found that 

37% of the County Borough’s households had access to play area within 600m of 

their home.  In addition, data from the OSS shows that 56% of households within 

the County Borough currently live within 400m of a natural / semi natural green 

space. It is anticipated that the OSS will assist in working towards national play 

space, sport and recreation standards across the County Borough.   

 

The County Borough presently monitors nitrogen dioxide, a pollutant associated 

with vehicle emissions, at various locations throughout the County Borough using 

non-automatic and automatic monitoring. This monitoring detected elevated levels 

of nitrogen dioxide on Twynyrodyn Road, Twynyrodyn.  Following this the 

Authority undertook a detailed assessment which concluded that it is necessary to 

declare an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA).  This is in progress and will be 

the first to be declared in the County Borough.  Other pollutants do not require 

monitoring at this time. 

 

SA Target 2: Design to encourage walking and cycling. 

 

The close proximity of housing, employment, retail and other land uses has been a 

major consideration in the pattern of land allocation in the LDP, and will assist in 

minimising the need to travel whilst helping to ensure there is sufficient incentive 

to undertake journeys by means other than the car. 

Page 89



71 

 

 

Equally important is the need to provide sustainable links between communities 

including better use of existing footpaths/cycle networks and the creation of new 

routes and links. 

 

During 2015/2016, 4.03 km of footpath was created in the County Borough over 

the monitoring period.  This compares favourably with the 2.94 km created in the 

previous monitoring period. 

 

People will only walk or cycle within the local and wider area if they feel safe to do 

so. The Crime survey for England and Wales released by the Office for National 

Statistics (ONS) estimates that 90.1% of males and 64.2% of females in Wales felt 

very/fairly safe walking alone after dark, in the year ending March 2015. This 

results in an average of 87.1% which compares favourably to last year’s AMR 

average figure of 80%.  Unfortunately, no more up-to date or comparable data is 

available at a local authority level. 

 

SA Target 3: Decrease in the number of people with limiting long-term illness or 

general health ‘not good’.  

 

In August 2015, the Public Health Wales Observatory published Lower Super 

Output Area (LSOA) maps of the Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) for 

2014.  This data shows that 29.4% of Merthyr Tydfil (Small Town and Fringe) had a 

limiting long term health problem, whereas 27.9% of Merthyr Tydfil (Large Town) 

had a limiting long term health problem.  This compares unfavourably to a Welsh 

figure as a whole of 22.7%. 

 

The latest Welsh Health Survey (WHS) data regarding the percentage of adults who 

reported their own health in general as ‘fair or poor’ relates to the period between 

2003 and 2015.  At a national level, there has been a decrease of Welsh adults 

from 22% to 19% reporting their own general health status as ‘fair or poor’.  

Similarly the data for Merthyr Tydfil shows a general decrease over this period 

from 30% to 24%.  Although the latest figure for Merthyr Tydfil is 5% above the 

Welsh Average, it is promising that the percentage decrease between 2003 and 

2015 has been greater in Merthyr Tydfil than across Wales as a whole. 

 

Life expectancy data is published by the Office of National Statistics (ONS) every 

two years.  The latest data available for Merthyr Tydfil indicates that male life 

expectancy has risen slightly from 76.9 years in 2011-13 to 77.3 years in 2012-14.  

However, female life expectancy has dropped slightly from 80.9 years to 80.5 years 

over the same time period.  A further update will be provided when data relating 

to 2014-16 becomes available. 

 

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT: Some progress has been made towards meeting this SA 

objective, particularly in respect of additional footpath provision and decreases in 

adults reporting their general health status as ‘fair or poor’. There are, however 

concerns regarding the declaration of an AQMA in the Twynyrodyn Area and the 

slight decline in female life expectancy. The latter will require further monitoring in 

order to identify whether the decrease is short term in nature or an unwelcome, 

established trend.    

 

Page 90



72 

 

5 - Economy 

& 

Employment 

SA Objective 5: Encourage a thriving and sustainable economy with a diverse 

range of job opportunities.  

 

This SA Objective is informed by 3 targets and 16 background indicators.  

 

SA Target 1: Broaden economic base. 

 

LDP Strategic Objective SO7 seeks to improve and diversify the economy, 

safeguarding existing jobs and creating a range of new job opportunities in a 

sustainable manner.  

 

Nine LDP policies flow from this objective including those covering employment 

land allocations, existing and proposed leisure developments, and retail 

development. The performance of each of these policies has been assessed and 

results published in Section 3 of this AMR. 

 

The following graph shows the proportion of people working in higher level 

managerial, director and professional roles (Soc 2010 major group 1-3); the 

proportion of those working within skilled trades or administrative work (Soc 2010 

major group 4 & 5); the proportion of those working within the caring, leisure & 

sales, and customer service areas (Soc 2010 major group 6 & 7); and the 

proportion of people working in elementary occupations and as plant / machine 

operatives (Soc 2010 major group 8 & 9). 

 

 
 

ONS Crown Copyright Reserved [from Nomis on 21 April 2016] 

 

The proportion of people working in higher level managerial, director and 

professional roles (Soc 2010 major group 1-3) is still the highest employment 

sector within the County Borough (29.7%) in 2015/16. 

 

The proportion of those within skilled trades or administrative work (Soc 2010 

major group 4-5) has been fluctuating for the past 5 years, with a decrease to 

23.4% in December 2015.  

 

Page 91



73 

 

The proportion of those working within the caring, leisure & sales, and customer 

service areas (Soc 2010 major group 6-7) remains the lowest employment sector in 

the County Borough, but the proportion of those employed within this sector has 

risen to 21.8% in December 2015.  

 

The proportion of people working in elementary occupations and as plant / 

machine operatives remains the second highest employment sector within the 

County Borough. However the proportion of those employed within this sector has 

dropped to 24.5% in December 2015. 

 

SA Target 2: Increase opportunities to work within the County Borough.  

 

No new employment floor space was built in the LDP’s Primary Growth Area over 

the monitoring period. However, 492.5 new jobs were delivered with the opening 

of the General Dynamic plant on the ‘Linde’ site. 

 

The take up of LDP land from the start of the plan period to the end of the 

monitoring period equates to 34% of the total land allocated. This figure being 

lower than the target range set out within the Monitoring Framework.  

 

In terms of vacancy rates, Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre has experienced a decrease 

of 0.8% over the monitoring, although it does remain above the Welsh average. 

Across the County Borough as the whole, information from non-domestic rates 

exemptions shows that 251 of 1773 properties (approximately 14%) are receiving 

rate relief due to them being vacant. This percentage remains unchanged from the 

last monitoring period. 

 

SA Target 3: Decrease unemployment. 

 

The number of economically active people in employment in the County Borough 

has decreased over the monitoring period from 68.2% to 65.9% in 2015. The 

following graph shows, however, that the employment rate has fluctuated each 

year since the beginning of the plan period. 

 

Page 92



74 

 

 
 

ONS Crown Copyright Reserved [from Nomis on 6 May 2016] 

 

Data for the percentage of people living as well as working within the County 

Borough is only available every 10 years owing to the fact that it is collected 

through the Census. Therefore, there is no new data to allow comparison during 

this monitoring period. 

 

Data for household disposable income is only available at a regional level, which 

includes the ‘Central Valleys’ area within which Merthyr Tydfil is located. This data 

shows the Gross Disposable Household Income (GDHI) has steadily increased over 

recent years. The most recently available information shows that in 2013, the 

Central Valleys had the highest GDHI since 2005. 

 

Following four consecutive years where there was an increase in the proportion of 

people of working age being qualified to NVQ Level 4 or above, there was a slight 

increase in the 2015 calendar year from 25.3% to 25.4%. This figure remains below 

the levels of both Wales (33.6%) and Great Britain (37.1%). 

 

The number of people of working age receiving benefits within the County Borough 

continues to fall with 7,940 recipients in August 2015 (See graph below). 

  

Page 93



75 

 

 
 

ONS Crown Copyright Reserved [from Nomis on 6 May 2016] 

 

The rate of those claiming Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) that have been out of work 

for more than a year within the County Borough has decreased to 0.8%; moving 

closer to the Welsh average (See graph below). 

 

 
ONS Crown Copyright Reserved [from Nomis on 6 May 2016] 

 

SA Target 4: Support the rural economy. 

 

No development proposals were granted permission during this monitoring period 

relating to this target. 

  

SA Target 5: Support potential funding to provide basic infrastructure, develop 

human resources, and invest in research, innovation and the information society. 

 

A range of programmes are being delivered across the County Borough. 

Developments over the monitoring period include the following: 

Page 94



76 

 

 

In April 2014, Welsh Government approved an allocation of £12.873 million for the 

implementation and delivery of the Merthyr Tydfil Regional Centre Regeneration 

programme (Vibrant and Viable Places Programme (VVP)).  The Programme, 

through its delivery, aims to revitalise and promote the sustainability of the town 

centre, build a vibrant and sustainable community which is more prosperous, 

tackling poverty by creating jobs and helping people into work and encouraging 

wider investment in housing and deliver strategic projects of a significant scale 

within the area.  The financial year of 2016/17 is the final year of delivery for the 3 

year Programme.  

 

A key project completed within year 2 is St. David’s Church Community Hall.  The 

project, funded through VVP and the Townscape Heritage Initiative (THI), has 

created a new, centrally located facility in the Town Centre.  The Enterprise Centre 

was also launched in 2015 and VVP funding created a physical unit on the High 

Street, managed by Tydfil Training that will be the first point of engagement for 

individuals needing business advice and support.  The Meanwhile Use Scheme has 

formed a key part of the Enterprise Centre Programme and provides new 

businesses with the opportunity to test trade their product or service for a six 

month period in a High Street unit.  The first two meanwhile schemes in Merthyr, 

Deli of the Valley and Jols, were officially launched in 2015.  The Bus Station project 

is also progressing well, with a detailed community consultation undertaken in 

Summer 2015 and a planning application submitted in February 2016. 

 

The Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre Regeneration Programme and Taff Bargoed 

Regeneration Programme were completed in June 2015.  The Town Centre 

Programme delivered its final project namely the construction of the new access to 

the railway station from Masonic Street, creating an attractive, safe and accessible 

area for all.  The final project delivered as part of the Taff Bargoed Programme was 

the Bedlinog Square Enhancements. 

 

Further Welsh Government funding has been secured for the successful ‘Effect’ 

project that provides an innovative, community-based enterprise development 

structure in four of the South East Wales County Boroughs.  The funding was 

approved in March 2016 for a delivery period of one year.  

 

The THI is a historic building improvements grant scheme funded by the Heritage 

Lottery Fund (HLF) programme.  Its main objectives for Merthyr Tydfil County 

Borough are to increase awareness of the qualities of the built heritage and to 

encourage people back into the Pontmorlais Heritage Quarter.  Its purpose is to 

ensure high quality, traditional repair and reinstatement by encouraging grant 

applications.  The current programme will come to an end in 2016 and a number of 

buildings have been completed in the past year, with several to be completed in 

2016/17.  A Stage 1 application to HLF for a Townscape Heritage 2 project has 

recently been awarded for further development of buildings within the 

Pontmorlais Area. 

 

Cyfarthfa Castle is widely regarded as the best preserved and grandest 

ironmaster’s house in Wales. The building, which is Grade I listed, is of national 

historical and architectural significance.  It acts as the centrepiece of Cyfarthfa 

Park.  Feasibility studies are currently underway to re-develop a large proportion of 

Page 95



77 

 

Cyfarthfa Castle. The Council are working in conjunction with Merthyr Tydfil 

Leisure Trust on the re-development.  

 

Cyfarthfa Park, the largest public park in Merthyr Tydfil, is currently undergoing 

major redevelopment thanks to a £3.3 million investment from the HLF, Welsh 

Government, CADW and Merthyr Tydfil CBC.  The funding is for a four year 

programme which commenced in 2012. Over the monitoring period (2015/16) 

work has continued on the enhancement of the parks key heritage features, 

including the icehouse and the continuation of its volunteering schemes across the 

facility.  Again, the Parks for People Programme is being delivered in conjunction 

with Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust.  

 

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT: Progress has been made towards meeting this SA 

objective, although the fall in the employment rate will require further monitoring 

in order to identify whether the decrease is short term in nature or an unwelcome, 

established trend.     

 

6 - Transport SA Objective 6: Assist in reducing the need to travel and promote more 

sustainable modes of transport.  

 

This SA Objective is informed by 2 targets and 4 background indicators.  

 

SA Target 1: Promote more sustainable modes of transport. 

 

The requirement to reduce the need to travel is one of the guiding principles of the 

LDP’s spatial development strategy. Where travel remains necessary, it is proposed 

that a greater proportion of journeys are undertaken by public transport than 

previously. 

 

Data from the 2001 and 2011 Censuses, reported in the 2012/13 AMR, showed an 

increase in the use of public transport over the 10 year period. The next 

comparable dataset will not be published until the Census of 2021.  

 

SA Target 2: Locate new development in sustainable locations, reducing the need 

to travel. 

 

In taking into account the inter-relationship between land use planning and 

transport, the LDP focuses the majority of new development within or adjacent to 

established settlements where services and facilities already exist, or where they 

can realistically be provided as part of new development.      

 

Car ownership data taken from the 2001 and 2011 Censuses showed an increase of 

17.2% in the number of cars/vans per 1000 people and an increase of 8.4% in the 

percentage of households with a car/van over the 10 years. The next comparable 

dataset will not be published until the Census of 2021. 

 

Data is available to compare rail passenger numbers using the five stations within 

the County Borough (Merthyr Tydfil, Pentrebach, Troedyrhiw, Merthyr Vale and 

Quakers Yard). The graph below shows annual usage by station over the plan 

period. It can be seen that all stations have experienced an increase in passenger 

numbers over the plan period, particularly Merthyr Tydfil Station.  

Page 96



78 

 

 

This is a positive sign that suggests people are changing their mode of transport in 

favour of rail. Bus passenger figures are unavailable so a comparison of bus and rail 

passenger figures is not possible at this time.        

 

 
http://orr.gov.uk/statistics/published-stats/station-usage-estimates 

Accessed 21
st

 April 2016. 

 

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT:  Progress has been made towards meeting this SA 

objective, particularly in respect of increasing the use of rail. 

 

7 – Built 

Environment 

SA Objective 7: Encourage a high quality built environment that promotes 

community pride. 

 

This SA Objective is informed by 3 targets and 4 background indicators.  

 

SA Target 1: Seek a high standard of design in all new development. 

 

Over the monitoring period, new developments have continued to comply with the 

sustainable design SPG and have incorporated “secured by design principles” 

where appropriate.  September 2015 also saw the approval of “Supplementary 

Planning Guidance Note 6:  A Design Guide for Householder Development” which 

gives specific guidance for an array of householder developments in order to 

ensure all proposals are well designed. 

 

SA Target 2: Increase opportunities for community participation in design of new 

development. 

 

All planning applications that are deemed to require a Design and Access 

Statement are not registered unless an appropriate statement is submitted. It is 

worth noting that Design and Access Statements are now only required on major 

developments. 

 

 

Page 97



79 

 

SA Target 3: Improve public spaces. 

 

During 2015/16, progress has been made on a number of initiatives that will result 

in long-term improvements to the public realm. These include:  

• Public realm improvements at Bedlinog Square, which will create a new 

public open space in the centre of the village; 

• The construction of the new access to the railway station from Masonic 

Street, creating an attractive, safe and accessible hard landscaped area; 

and  

• The continuation of various developments at Cyfarthfa Park. 

 

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT: Further progress has been made towards meeting this 

SA objective, particularly in relation to the adoption of supplementary planning 

guidance for householder developments and public realm improvements. 

 

8 - Landscape SA Objective 8: Facilitate the protection and enhancement of the countryside and 

landscape character. 

 

This SA Objective is informed by 1 target and 7 background indicators. 

 

SA Target: Achieve favourable conditions of nationally and locally important 

landscape designations. 

 

During the monitoring period, no nationally or locally important land has been 

given over to inappropriate development, and no developments have been 

granted consent that would have an adverse effect on either of the sites of special 

scientific interest in the County Borough.  

 

The most recent figures published for fly-tipping show a further decrease in 

incidents from 1,406 incidents in 2012/13 to 1,010 in 2014/15. Data for 2015/16 

has not yet been published and it will be important to monitor this data to see if 

this positive trend continues in light of the recent changes to the Council’s 

municipal waste management practices.  

 

There is still a lack of available data regarding levels of night blight. 

 

The monitoring period saw no inappropriate development granted on common 

land, nor any loss of protected trees and woodlands. 

 

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT: Progress has been made towards meeting this SA 

objective. 

 

9 - 

Biodiversity 

SA Objective 9: Protect and enhance the diversity and abundance of wildlife 

habitats and native species.  

 

This SA Objective is informed by 2 targets and 8 background indicators. 

 

SA Target 1: Protect and enhance biodiversity. 

 

There are 5,248 ha of LBAP priority habitats in Merthyr Tydfil including broadleaf 

Page 98



80 

 

woodland, grassland, heath land, wetland, inland rocks and mineral spoil habitat.  

These areas are not monitored annually, however; new figures will be available 

once all the sites of importance for nature conservation have been resurveyed by 

the end of 2016. 

 

There has been no loss of habitats during the monitoring period, compared with a 

small net loss reported in the last AMR. 

 

Taf Fechan Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) remains at an unfavourable 

conservation status; however, it is under favourable management which, given 

time, will allow it to reach favourable status.  Although Cwm Glo and Glyndyrys 

SSSI has not yet been assessed, it is currently under favourable management. 

 

In terms of non-native species, 0.125 ha of land and 97 individual properties were 

treated for Japanese Knotweed over the monitoring period. This compares with 

1.67 ha of Japanese Knotweed eradicated during 2013/2014. No Himalayan Balsam 

was recorded as being removed over the monitoring period and there are no 

records of Giant Hogweed occurring within the County Borough. 

 

With regard to local biodiversity action plan selected local characteristic species, 

the Lapwing Population at Ffos-y-Fran is in decline, while the population of Great 

Crested Newt is stable. There is, however, no contextual information available to 

make a judgement as to the particular significance of these changes. 

Over the monitoring period, all of the 8 relevant planning approvals incorporated 

ecological mitigation measures, which represents a 40% increase compared to the 

last monitoring period.  Mitigation measures related to the protection of an aquifer 

as a habitat from potential contamination; mitigation plans for protected European 

Species including, Bats, Otters and Great Crested Newts; and landscaping and 

management schemes introducing hedgerows and trees. 

 

No new habitat has been created within the monitoring period.  However, 1.5 km 

of linear habitat has been maintained and 2ha of habitat has been enhanced. This 

is considered to compare favourably with the last monitoring period where 9.35km 

of linear habitat was created, maintained or enhanced. 

SA Target 2: Achieve an improvement in the water environment. 

 

Since there is no relevant background indicator under SA Objective 9, the water 

environment is considered under SA Objective 10 below. 

 

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT: Further progress has been made towards meeting this 

SA objective, particularly in respect of the increased incorporation of mitigation 

measures in new developments, the eradication of non-native species, the 

enhancement and maintenance of habitats and no loss of habitat. 

 

10 - Water SA Objective 10: Ensure the protection and enhancement of the water 

environment. 

 

This SA Objective is informed by 2 targets and 6 background indicators.  

Page 99



81 

 

 

SA Target 1: Improve water quality. 

 

Two indicators have been identified which relate to this target. The first monitors 

river quality by looking at the percentage of total classified river length of “good 

status”, while the second considers development within groundwater source 

protection zones.  

   

The European Water Framework Directive (WFD) requires that all inland and 

coastal water bodies reach at least “good status” by 2015, subject to certain 

exemptions. The term “good status” means the status achieved by a surface water 

body when both its ecological status and its chemical status are at least good.  

 

No rivers in Merthyr Tydfil currently meet “good status”, nor are they expected to 

achieve it by 2015. The current overall objectives are for all water bodies within 

Merthyr Tydfil to meet “good status” by 2027. WFD River Catchment Maps for 

2015
4
 indicate that the status of water bodies within Merthyr Tydfil remain 

unchanged from those reported in last year’s AMR, apart from the Nant Morlais 

waterbody (source to confluence with river Taff), which has deteriorated to an 

overall status of ‘bad’. Potential reasons for deterioration include abandoned 

mines and land contamination affecting ground water, and sewage discharge 

affecting rivers.     

  

Only a relatively small area of land in the north east extremity of the County 

Borough falls within a groundwater source protection zone. No developments have 

occurred within this zone over the monitoring period.  

 

SA Target 2: Flood risk to be mitigated or avoided. 

 

Over the monitoring period, no developments were granted planning permission in 

Flood Zone C that did not meet TAN15 tests. The avoidance of development within 

the floodplain allows these areas to continue to fulfil their flood flow and water 

storage functions, preventing physical changes to water bodies. 

 

SA Target 3: New development to incorporate sustainable drainage systems. 

 

Over the monitoring period, no developments have been granted planning 

permission without incorporating SuDS into the design of the scheme unless there 

have been environmental or practical reasons for not doing so. This increase in the 

use of SuDS will contribute to reducing risks of flooding and the pollution of surface 

waters during high rainfall events. 

 

SA Target 4: Encourage more efficient water use. 

 

Two indicators have been identified that relate to this target. The first relates to 

the number of water efficient developments, and the second to water 

consumption per household. 

 

Water efficient developments have continued to be secured over the monitoring 

                                                           
4
Water Framework Cycle 1 Comparison Map [http://waterwatchwales.naturalresourceswales.gov.uk/en/]   

Page 100



82 

 

period through the promotion of water conservation/efficiency measures under 

Policy BW7. Reducing the amount of water consumption in new developments will 

assist in minimising additional pressures on the water environment. 

 

In respect of water consumption per household in Wales, the last update of data 

provided by StatsWales was in 2010/2011. It is not therefore currently possible to 

provide an update on changes to the amount of water consumption per household 

in Wales. Further consideration will be given to this matter when new data 

becomes available. 

 

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT: Overall, progress has been made towards meeting this 

SA objective; however, the deterioration in the overall status of the Nant Morlais 

waterbody to ‘bad’ is a matter of concern and further consultation with Natural 

Resources Wales and Dwr Cymru/Welsh Water, as part of the preparation of the 

replacement LDP, is considered necessary. This will ensure that sufficient sewerage 

capacity exists for current and future development needs; new developments help 

to deliver the required water quality standards; and opportunities are taken to 

mitigate and remediate land contamination.  

 

11 - Climate 

Change 

SA Objective 11: Help to minimise the cause and effects of climate change. 

 

This SA Objective is informed by 2 targets and 5 background indicators.  

 

SA Target 1: Decrease greenhouse gas emissions. 

 

Two indicators have been identified which relate to this target. The first monitors 

the emissions of greenhouse gases and the second tracks the ecological footprint 

of Merthyr Tydfil.  

 

Merthyr Tydfil’s per capita emissions of CO2 has reduced from 5.7 to 5.2 tonnes 

between 2012 and 2013, which continues the general decline experienced since 

the start of the Plan period (2006) (see Graph below). This general decline in CO2 

emissions will help mitigate the effects of climate change. 

 

 
 

Page 101



83 

 

As indicated in the last AMR, the ecological footprint of Merthyr Tydfil was last 

calculated by the Stockholm Environment Institute in 2006. At this time, the figure 

for Merthyr Tydfil was just over 4.1 global hectares per person; the second lowest 

ecological footprint in Wales. It is currently not possible to assess whether the 

ecological footprint of Merthyr Tydfil is being successfully reduced towards the 

global average, due to the infrequency of data updates. This indicator will be 

considered at a later stage when further data becomes available. 

   

SA Target 2: Decrease impacts from the effects of climate change. 

 

Two indicators have been identified under this target which both relate to flooding. 

The first considers the number of properties at risk from flooding, while the second 

tracks the number of flood incidents. Climate change is anticipated to affect flood 

risk in Merthyr Tydfil by increasing levels of rainfall over winter months and 

increasing the frequency of extreme weather conditions. 

 

As indicated in last year’s AMR, the Authority’s Engineering Department has 

undertaken an analysis of the number of properties at risk of flooding in the 

County Borough and the figure remains at 2,283 properties. 

   

In respect of flood incidents, no significant flooding occurred in the County 

Borough between 2015 and 2016. 

 

Both positive outcomes demonstrate that the County Borough is coping well with 

the effects of Climate Change.  

 

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT:  Further progress has been made towards meeting this 

SA objective in terms of mitigating, and adapting to, the effects of climate change. 

 

12 - Energy SA Objective 12: Encourage the supply of renewable energy and a reduction in 

energy consumption. 

 

This SA Objective is informed by 2 targets and 5 background indicators.  

 

SA Target 1: Encourage energy efficient design in development. 

 

Three indicators have been identified under this target. Two relate to the 

proportion of developments meeting BREEAM and Code for Sustainable Homes 

standards respectively, while the third considers energy consumption.  

 

National planning policy requirements for sustainable building standards were 

removed and Technical Advice Note (TAN) 22: Planning for Sustainable Buildings 

was cancelled by the Welsh Government on 31
st

 July 2014. As an alternative, 

energy conservation matters have been incorporated into Part L of Building 

Regulations which requires a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from 2010 

Building Regulations levels of: 8% for new domestic buildings and 20% for non-

domestic buildings.  

 

In respect of Merthyr Tydfil’s total energy consumption, the latest information 

available is from 2013 (updated in September 2015).  The data provides a 

comparison of consumption at a household level with Wales and Great Britain. 

Page 102



84 

 

Households in Merthyr Tydfil consume more energy and tonnes of oil equivalent 

than households across Wales and Great Britain. 

 

SA Target 2: Maximise the use of renewable energy.  

 

Two indicators have been identified which relate to this indicator. The first 

considers the amount of energy generated from renewable sources, while the 

second measures the proportion of energy needs being met from renewable 

sources. 

 

In terms of energy generated from renewable sources, an additional 5.5MWe 

installed capacity has been granted permission during the monitoring period.  

 

With regard to the proportion of energy needs met from renewable energy 

sources, relevant local data provided by the Department of Energy and Climate 

Change was discontinued in 2011. However, in respect of national targets, the 

European environment agency’s publication ‘Trends and projections in Europe 

2015’ explains the UK is on track to meet its greenhouse gas and energy efficiency 

targets, although it is not on track to meet its renewable energy targets. 

 

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT: Some progress has been made towards meeting this SA 

objective, particularly in respect of granting permission for additional renewable 

energy capacity. 

 

13 – Land 

and Soils 

SA Objective 13: Promote efficient use of land and soils. 

 

This SA Objective is informed by 2 targets and 4 background indicators.  

 

SA Target 1: Percentage of development on previously developed land.  

 

Promoting an efficient use of land is one of the key elements of the LDP’s strategy 

as outlined at Para 2.5.22 of the LDP Written Statement. At least 75% of the total 

land allocated for development in the Plan can be categorised as brownfield. 

Over the monitoring period, 26% of all development permitted occurred on 

previously developed land. This figure is significantly lower than the target of 80%; 

however, this year’s data has been distorted by the fact that a single development 

of a solar farm resulted in 15 ha of development on greenfield land. If this 

permission was not taken into account, then the percentage of development 

permitted on previously developed land would be 62%, more in line with previous 

year’s data.  

 

This year, 70% of new dwellings in Merthyr Tydfil were constructed on previously 

developed land. Nearly 80% of these completions were at a density of between 25 

-35 dwellings per hectare, which is in accordance with the targets included in the 

LDP monitoring framework.   

 

SA Target 2: Decrease percentage of contaminated land. 

 

The LDP recognises that primarily because of Merthyr Tydfil’s industrial legacy, 

certain areas of land in the County Borough are potentially contaminated. 

Page 103



85 

 

Furthermore, that the remediation of such land may be required before it can be 

brought back into beneficial use.  

 

The schedule of allocated housing sites listed at Appendix 4 of the LDP Written 

Statement recognises that potential ground conditions on many sites will require 

appropriate technical investigation prior to the submission of any planning 

application. However, as such sites continue to be developed during the course of 

the plan period, the Council considers that more and more contaminated land will 

be remediated in accord with the requirements of Policy BW18.  

 

The onus to identify site contamination rests with the developer but no data is 

currently available to quantify progress towards this target.  

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT: Progress continues to be made towards meeting this SA 

objective. 

 

14 - Waste SA Objective 14: Promote the minimisation of waste, especially waste to landfill. 

 

This SA Objective is informed by 2 targets and 5 background indicators.  

 

SA Target 1: Move up the waste hierarchy. 

 

Four indicators have been identified under this target. The first indicator considers 

municipal reuse/recycling/composting rates (percentage); the second considers 

municipal waste arisings; the third considers waste service access to households; 

and the final indicator measures the quantity of commercial waste produced, 

recycled and landfilled. The latter will only be considered when further data 

updates become available. 

 

The amount of reuse, recycling and composting has been steadily increasing in the 

County Borough for a number of years. The recycling/composting rate for 2015/16 

has increased further to 59% (provisional figure) from 56% in 2014/15. Steady 

progress has been made with a further 5.5% increase and the Authority is on 

course to meeting the statutory recycling and composting target of 70% by 

2024/25.  

 

As discussed in last year’s AMR, Merthyr Tydfil CBC has restructured its waste 

collection service through investment in new vehicles, containers and equipment, 

and waste management facilities in order to move to a kerbside sort system of 

recycling. This has increased the quantity and improved the quality of materials 

recycled, and enabled the Council to progress towards national targets.  

 

In terms of access to waste service provision, 100 per cent of households in 

Merthyr Tydfil have access to a weekly recycling and composting service with a 

fortnightly general waste service. This kerbside waste collection service encourages 

residents to manage waste more effectively and increases the amount of waste 

being reused, recycled and composted. 

 

Merthyr Tydfil’s municipal waste arisings declined year on year from 2008/09 to 

2011/2012 and this trend was expected to continue as waste policies took effect. 

However, municipal waste arisings remained stationary between 2012/13 (29, 518 

Page 104



86 

 

tonnes) and 2013/2014 (29,641 tonnes), and have increased to 30,170 tonnes in 

2014/15 and 32,366 tonnes 2015/16. It therefore appears that the earlier decline 

in waste arisings has halted and has now begun to increase. Further monitoring is, 

however, necessary in order to identify whether this increase has become an 

established trend. 

 

SA Target 2: Reduce tonnage of waste to landfill/incineration. 

 

The amount of Merthyr Tydfil’s waste going to landfill has reduced from 11,115 

tonnes (2014-2015) to 9,841 tonnes (2015-2016) over the monitoring period. 

Provisional information on the amount of waste reused, recycled or composted, or 

incinerated with energy recovery will not be available until November 2016 and so 

will be reported in the next AMR. The reduction in waste going to landfill is 

encouraging and demonstrates that Merthyr Tydfil’s waste is being successfully 

diverted up the waste hierarchy.  

 

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT: Progress continues to be made towards meeting this SA 

objective, particularly in respect of increased reuse, recycling and composting rates 

and reduced amounts of waste going to landfill.  

 

15 - Minerals SA Objective 15: Promote efficient and appropriate extraction and use of 

minerals in a manner that minimises social and environment impacts. 

 

This SA Objective is informed by 1 target and 2 background indicators.  

 

SA Target 1: Increase percentage use of aggregates from secondary and recycled 

sources. 

 

A construction and demolition (C&D) waste survey undertaken by Natural 

Resources Wales in 2012 indicates that 87% of C&D waste material generated in 

Wales was being prepared for re-use, recycling and other material recovery. 

  

Over the monitoring period, planning permission was granted for four housing 

related developments, a change of use to a training centre, a multipurpose waste 

treatment facility and a solar farm within the buffer zone of the Ffos-y-Fran land 

reclamation scheme. The multipurpose waste treatment facility and solar farm 

represent non-sensitive development, while the housing developments are all 

located within an existing built up area which already encroaches into the buffer 

zone.  

 

Two housing developments were also granted planning permission within the 

buffer zone of Vaynor Quarry. Both developments are located within an existing 

built up area which already encroaches into the buffer zone.  

 

In conclusion, all developments granted planning permission over the monitoring 

period are in accordance with the guidance set out in paragraph 40 of Minerals 

Planning Policy Wales and it is considered that the percentage of land that has 

been taken up by inappropriate sensitive development is zero. 

 

SUMMARY ASSESSMENT: Progress continues to be made towards meeting this SA 

objective. 

Page 105



87 

 

 

Page 106



88 

 

7.0 Conclusions and Recommendations 

 
7.1 The conclusions and recommendations section of preceding AMRs was based on 

seven key questions set out in paragraph 4.43 of LDP Wales, which has now been 

superseded by LDP Manual Edition 2 (August 2015). Whilst these questions do not 

directly feature within the latter document, it is considered appropriate to continue to 

address the seven questions given that they remain relevant to the purpose of an 

AMR and the LDP Manual recommends that: ‘the broad structure of the AMR should 

remain the same from year to year in order to provide ease of analysis between 

successive reports and build on preceding results’ (Section 9.4.6).  

 

7.2  Therefore, the following section sets out the conclusions and recommendations in a 

manner that directly relates to the seven key questions. 

 

Does the basic strategy remain sound? 

 

7.3 The evidence collected through the AMR process indicates that whilst many aspects 

of the LDP strategy are being achieved, certain elements of the Plan are currently not 

being realised. In particular, it is evident that the housing and employment elements 

of the LDP strategy are not being delivered as quickly as anticipated. Whilst there is 

little doubt that poor economic conditions over much of the plan period has 

significantly influenced this situation, delivery rates continue to be suppressed 

despite improvements to the economy and uncertainty remains over when they can 

reach the level necessary to meet the requirements of the Strategy.  

 

7.4  Consequently, it is considered that the both the level and spatial distribution of growth 

needs to be reconsidered as part of the preparation of a replacement LDP in order to 

establish whether the LDP’s enhanced growth strategy is the most appropriate for the 

delivery of future growth. A review of all undeveloped housing and employment 

allocations in the LDP will also be necessary in order to ensure that development on 

these sites remains viable and the allocations will be delivered over an extended plan 

period of up to 2031.   

 

 What impact are the policies having globally, nationally, regionally and locally? 

 

7.5 It should be noted that the SA monitoring, which incorporates SEA requirements, 

contains a high proportion of indicators that have not provided results, either because 

of the requirement for time-series data, or due to relevant data sources being 

amended, or due to information now being completely unavailable. It will therefore be 

appropriate to continue to refine / adjust certain background indicators to provide 

more realistic results, thus leading to the publication of more comprehensive and 

meaningful assessments in future. 

 

7.6 Globally, the SA Monitoring identifies that the Plan is maintaining a balanced effect 

on economic, social and environmental aspects of sustainability. In terms of SEA 

requirements, no significant unforeseen adverse environmental effects have been 

identified that would affect other EU Member States.    

Page 107



89 

 

 

7.7 Nationally, the LDP policy framework continues to deliver development that helps 

meet national requirements and projections, particularly in respect of affordable 

housing, minerals, waste and renewable energy generation. 

 

7.8 From a regional perspective, the LDP is assisting in meeting regional objectives 

relating to minerals, waste and leisure/tourism facilities.  

 

7.9 Locally, policy intervention and the delivery of allocations are assisting with the 

process of regeneration, delivering well-designed development in sustainable 

locations, protecting the natural and historic environment, and helping to meet local 

community needs. 

 

 Do any policies need changing to reflect changes in national policy? 

 

7.10 Changes to national policy or guidance that may have an effect or impact upon the 

planning responsibilities of the LDP are set out in Section 3 of this AMR as necessary 

and appropriate. Having reviewed the relevant documents and strategies, it is 

considered that, in themselves, these changes do not require the LDP and its 

associated policy framework to be immediately amended or changed.  

 

7.11 Notwithstanding this, the full review of the LDP, which was undertaken over the 

monitoring period, has identified a number of policy areas which require amending in 

order to reflect changes to national policy. This work will be undertaken as part of the 

preparation of a replacement LDP. 

  

Are the policies and related targets being met or is progress being made 

towards meeting them (including publication of relevant SPG)? 

 

7.12 Information collected through the AMR process indicates that many of the Plan’s 

policies are being met and that there continues to be positive movement towards 

related targets. In terms of LDP policy, Para 7.17 below summarises the policy areas 

that have been triggered for detailed consideration as part of the preparation of a 

replacement LDP. 

 

7.13 From an SEA/SA perspective, Chapter 6 sets out the results of the SEA Monitoring 

process which concludes that the overall effects of the plan are in balance. There is, 

however, some concern over the elevated levels of nitrogen dioxide at Twynyrodyn 

Road, Twynyrodyn, and the deterioration in the overall status of the Nant Morlais 

waterbody to ‘bad’. The implications of these unforeseen environmental effects will 

need to be considered further through an updated SA/SEA, which will be prepared 

alongside the production of the replacement LDP.   

 

7.14 Six SPG documents have been published and adopted by the Council since the 

adoption of the LDP in 2011; these relate to Affordable Housing, Planning 

Obligations, Shopfront Design, Sustainable Design, Nature and Development and 

Householder Design. A Policy Clarification Note has been produced in respect of the 

requirements of LDP Policy AS24 – Employment Site Protection, and a process flow 

Page 108



90 

 

chart also prepared to aid the consideration of planning proposals involving the 

potential loss of community facilities against LDP Policy BW15 – Community 

Facilities. 

 

Where progress has not been made, what are the reasons for this and what 

knock on effects may it have? 

 

7.15 Between 2011 and 2016, clear trends have emerged as to which policies are 

performing as expected and which are not. Some policies and allocations are clearly 

progressing slower than intended or may even be static, whilst a handful may be 

progressing at a faster rate than originally envisaged.  

 

7.16 A variety of recommendations are set out in the relevant sections of this AMR, and 

these include undertaking further research and analysis of pertinent issues as part of 

the preparation of a replacement LDP. Continued close monitoring will also be 

necessary in helping to ensure identified under-performance in certain areas does 

not become a more acute, extensive, and longer-term trend. However, it is 

recognised that the LDP may be constrained in its ability to have a direct influence on 

economic conditions or the state of the market which are the main factors at play. 

 

Do any aspects of the LDP need adjusting or replacing because they are not 

working as intended or are not achieving the objectives of the strategy and / or 

sustainable development objectives? 

 

7.17 The monitoring process has identified several aspects of the plan and its strategy 

that are not working or are not progressing towards their stated objectives. These 

are: 

 

• The number of dwellings built in the Primary Growth Area; 

• The supply of housing land; 

• The number of dwellings being built, particularly general market dwellings; 

• The amount of employment floor-space built in the Primary Growth Area; 

• The delivery of B1 employment floor-space;  

• The  vacancy rate of existing employment buildings; 

• The percentage of LDP land allocations delivered; 

• The percentage of total development permitted on allocated sites; and 

• The vacancy rate for retail premises in Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre. 

 

If policies or proposals need changing, what suggested actions are required to 

achieve this? 

 

7.18 A variety of recommendations are set out in the relevant sections of this AMR, and 

these include undertaking further research and analysis of pertinent issues as part of 

the preparation of the replacement LDP. In respect of the latter, it will be necessary 

to reconsider the Plan’s strategy and individual policies based on the findings of 

AMRs, updates to the evidence base, on-going S61 surveys and reconsideration of 

the SA/SEA. It is likely that even though only certain aspects of the plan are under-

Page 109



91 

 

achieving, the process of revisiting them or adjusting / replacing them may have 

wider ranging implications for the LDP as a whole. There is a close interrelationship 

between many strands of the LDP’s strategy, and the advancement towards a 

particular outcome at a particular time is dependent on a number of factors coming 

together in a measured and co-ordinated manner. 

 

Recommendations 

 

7.19 As a result of the above, the Annual Monitoring Report for 2016 concludes and 

recommends as follows: 

 

1. AMR recommendations should be followed to help ensure identified under-

performance in certain areas does not become a more acute, extensive, and 

longer-term trend. Close monitoring will also be necessary in this regard. 

 

2. Amongst the AMR recommendations is the need for further research and 

analysis of pertinent issues as part of the preparation of a replacement LDP. The 

latter will consider the level and spatial distribution of growth in order to establish 

whether the current Strategy is the most appropriate for delivering growth up to 

2031. It will also involve a review of all undeveloped housing and employment 

allocations to ensure that development on these sites remains viable, and 

revisions to the Plan’s vision, primary aim, objectives and policies, where 

necessary.  

 

Page 110



92 

 

APPENDIX 1 

Quick-reference to policy achievements  

SO1: To capitalise on Merthyr’s strategic position, further developing its role as the main commercial, service 

and employment centre in the Heads of the Valleys area by focusing development within the main town of 

Merthyr Tydfil. 

Core and Local 

Indicators 

Policy Targets Policy Achievement Trigger Level Performance 

Core 

 

Number of new 

homes built in the 

primary growth 

area. 

 

 

 

 

 

(Linked to SO6) 

 

 

Between 1,890 and 

2,110 net 

completions by 

April 2016 

 

 

 

At least 3,020 net 

completions by 

April 2021 

 

 

1,288 completions 

by end of March 

2016 

 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

R 

 

 

N/A 

Core 

 

New employment 

floorspace  built in 

the primary growth 

area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Linked to SO7) 

 

 

Between 36,490 

and 40,470 sq m 

net floorspace by 

April 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

At least 110,080 sq 

m net floorspace by 

April 2021 

 

 

25,494 sqm 

delivered at end of 

March 2016. 

 

0 sqm delivered 

during 2014/15 

 

0 sqm delivered 

during 2015/16 

 

- 

 

 

Greater than 

14,700 sq m per 

annum or less than 

1,834 sq m per 

annum for 2 

consecutive years. 

 

 

R 

 

 

 

 

 

 

R 

 

 

 

N/A 

Core 

 

New retail floor-

space built in the 

town centre (sqm) 

 

 

Approximately 

1,460 sqm net 

floorspace by the 

end of 2016 

 

 

No application 

registered 

 

 

No application 

registered by the 

end of 2014 

 

 

Y 

Page 111



93 

 

Local - Town Centre 

Health Checks 

 

i) Total annual 

vacant floor space 

in Town Centre 

 

 

 

(Vacancy rate 

currently at 13% - 

Retail, Commercial 

and Leisure 

Capacity Study, 

2009) 

 

 

 

ii) Percentage of A1 

retail uses in 

primary shopping 

area 

 

 

 

Vacancy rate to 

reduce to 9% (UK 

average) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Maintain a 

percentage of at 

least 83% 

 

 

 

15.9%  (0.8% 

increase) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

81% (1.3% 

decrease) 

 

 

 

Vacancy rate 

increasing for 1 

year or remaining 

static above target 

for 2 consecutive 

years 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Percentage  less 

than 83% 

 

 

R 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

G 

 

 

Y 

 

 

Y 

Core 

 

New social and 

community 

infrastructure 

 

i) Merthyr Tydfil 

Health Park 

 

 

 

 

ii) Merthyr College 

 

 

 

 

iii) Ysgol Santes 

Tudful 

 

(Linked to SO8) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Deliver by the end 

of 2013 

 

 

 

 

Deliver by the end 

of 2016 

 

 

 

Deliver by the end 

of 2010 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Delivered 

 

 

 

 

 

Delivered 

 

 

 

 

Delivered 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No planning 

application 

registered by the 

end of 2011 

 

 

No planning 

application 

registered by the 

end of 2014 

 

 

 

 

G 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 112



94 

 

SO2: To focus appropriate levels of development within the County Borough’s smaller valley communities to 

create affordable and attractive places to live with good access to jobs and services. 

Core and Local 

Indicators 

Policy Targets Policy Achievement Trigger Level Performance 

Core 

 

Number of new 

homes built in 

secondary growth 

area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Linked to SO6) 

 

 

Between 280 and 

320 net 

completions by 

April 2016 

 

 

 

At least 550 net 

completions by 

April 2021 

 

 

323 completions by 

end of March 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

- 

 

G 

 

N/A 

Core 

 

Number of new 

homes built in 

other growth areas. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Linked to SO6) 

 

 

Between 200 and 

240 net 

completions by 

April 2016 

 

 

 

At least 245 net 

completions by 

April 2021 

 

 

45 completions by 

end of March 2016  

 

 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

- 

 

Y 

 

N/A 

Core 

 

New social and 

community 

infrastructure 

 

(i) Primary Health 

Care at Treharris 

 

(ii) Ynysowen 

Community Primary 

School 

 

(Linked to SO8) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Deliver by the end 

of 2010  

 

Deliver by the end 

of 2010 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Delivered 

 

 

Delivered 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

 

G 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 113



95 

 

SO3. To promote regeneration through the use of suitable and appropriate brownfield land rather than 

greenfield sites. 

Core and Local 

Indicators 

Policy Targets Policy Achievement Trigger Level Performance 

Core 

 

Amount of 

development 

permitted on 

previously 

developed land as a 

percentage of all 

development 

permitted (N.B. this 

would exclude 

householder 

applications and 

change of use from 

one non-residential 

use to another) (ha) 

 

 

 

Maintain a 

percentage of at 

least 80% over the 

plan period  

 

 

 

2015/16 – 26% 

 

 

 

Less than 80% for 2 

consecutive years 

 

G 

Core 

 

Amount of 

greenfield land lost 

as a result of 

inappropriate 

development on 

sites not allocated 

in the LDP 

 

 

No land lost 

 

 

No greenfield land 

lost 

 

 

1 or 2 

developments 

permitted for 2 

consecutive years, 

or, 3 or more 

developments 

permitted in 1 year 

 

G 

 

 

SO4. To support the principle of sustainability via an energy efficient land use/ transport strategy. 

Core and Local 

Indicators 

Policy Targets Policy Achievement Trigger Level Performance 

Local 

 

Percentage of new 

residential 

development 

within 400m of bus 

stop and 600m of 

primary facilities 

including a shop 

and school. 

 

(Linked to SO8) 

 

 

Maintain a 

percentage of at 

least 80% over the 

plan period 

 

 

91% of new 

residential 

developments that 

were granted 

planning 

permission over the 

monitoring period 

were within 

specified distances 

to local facilities 

 

 

Less than 80% for 2 

consecutive years 

 

G 

Local 

 

Percentage of new 

dwellings 

completed at: 

 

(1) less than 20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Approximately 12% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

13% 

 

 

More than 25% of 

new dwellings at 

less than 25 dph for 

2 consecutive years 

 

G 

Page 114



96 

 

dph; 

 

(2) 20 dph or 

greater and less 

than 25 dph; 

 

(3) 25 dph or 

greater and less 

than 30 dph; 

 

(4) 30 dph or 

greater and less 

than 50 dph; and 

 

(5) 50 dph or 

greater 

 

 

(Linked to SO6) 

 

 

Approximately 13% 

 

 

 

Approximately 25% 

 

 

 

Approximately 48% 

 

 

 

Approximately 2% 

 

 

 

3% 

 

 

 

29% 

 

 

 

50% 

 

 

 

5% 

Core 

 

Percentage of 

allocated sites 

developed (ha) 

 

 

Approximately 65% 

of allocations 

developed by the 

end of 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Approximately 

100% of allocations 

developed by the 

end of 2021 

 

 

Approximately 34% 

of allocations 

developed by 

March 2016. 

 

 

Delivered 

approximately 2.65 

ha (15%) over the 

monitoring period   

 

(Trigger level 

approximately 4.5 

ha) 

 

- 

 

 

Less than 25% of 

LDP phased 

delivery rate for 2 

consecutive years 

 

 

R 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Y 

 

N/A 

Core 

 

Percentage of total 

development 

permitted on 

allocated sites (ha) 

 

 

Maintain a 

percentage of 

approximately 85% 

over the plan 

period 

 

 

Approximately 

8.5% of total 

development 

permitted on 

allocated sites over 

the monitoring 

period 

 

 

Less than 80% for 2 

consecutive years 

 

 

R 

Page 115



97 

 

Local 

 

Highway network 

improvements 

 

(1)  Aberfan – 

Merthyr Vale 

Link (T1) 

 

 

 

(4) Pentwyn Road, 

Quakers Yard 

(T2) 

 

 

 

 

(5) A472 at 

Fiddlers Elbow 

(T3) 

 

 

 

 

 

Deliver by the end 

of 2011 

 

 

 

 

Deliver by the end 

of 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

Deliver by the end 

of 2021 

 

 

 

 

 

Completed during 

2015/2016 

 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

No planning 

application 

registered by the 

end of 2019 

 

 

 

No planning 

application 

registered by the 

end of 2019 

 

Y 

 

 

 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

 

N/A 

Local 

 

Remodelling of 

Merthyr Tydfil 

Central Bus Station 

 

 

Deliver by the end 

of 2016 

 

 

Application 

registered during 

monitoring period 

 

 

No planning 

application 

registered by the 

end of 2014 

 

 

Y 

 

 

SO5. To manage natural resources wisely avoiding irreversible damage in order to maintain and enhance their 

value for future generations. 

Core and Local 

Indicators 

Policy Targets Policy Achievement Trigger Level Performance 

Core 

 

The tonnage (Mt) 

of primary land-

won aggregates 

permitted in 

accordance with 

the Regional 

Technical 

Statement for 

Aggregates 

 

 

 

Minimum of 4.92 

Mt produced by the 

end of 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Minimum of 9.02 

Mt produced by the 

end of 2021  

 
(N.B. targets are based 

on joint production with 

Brecon Beacons National 

Park) 

 

 

 

 

Approximately 3.5 

Mt  jointly 

produced since 

2011 

 

Approximately 

0..58 Mt produced 

in 2015 

 

Less than 1.1 Mt 

per annum for 2 

consecutive years 

 

Y 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Y 

 

N/A 

Page 116



98 

 

Core 

 

Aggregates 

landbank 

 

 

Minimum 10 year 

land bank 

maintained 

throughout the 

plan period  

 

 

Current land bank 

sufficient to 

maintain a 

minimum 10 year 

land bank 

throughout the 

plan period 

 

 

 

Landbank falling 

below target 

 

 

G 

Core 

 

Amount of 

development (by 

TAN 15 paragraph 

5.1 development 

category) permitted 

in C1 and C2 

floodplain areas 

mot meeting all 

TAN 15 tests 

(paragraph 6.2 i-v) 

 

 

 

No developments 

permitted 

 

 

No developments 

granted planning 

permission in C1 or 

C2 floodplain areas 

that do not meet all 

TAN 15 tests 

 

 

1 or more 

developments 

permitted 

 

 

G 

Local 

 

Developments 

incorporating 

sustainable urban 

drainage systems 

(SuDS) 

 

 

 

All developments to 

include SuDS where 

appropriate  

 

(N.B Excludes 

developments that 

have not 

incorporated SuDS 

for environmental 

or practical 

reasons)  

 

 

 

All developments 

granted planning 

permission over the 

monitoring period 

incorporate SuDS 

where appropriate 

 

 

1 or 2 

developments 

permitted without 

SuDS for 2 

consecutive years, 

or, 3 or more 

developments 

permitted without 

SuDS in 1 year 

 

 

G 

Core 

 

Amount of new 

licensed waste 

management 

facilities permitted 

 

 

Between 1.1 and 

3.2 hectares of B2 

employment land 

developed for 

waste management 

facilities. 

(N.B. New facilities 

will be delivered in 

partnership with 

Rhondda Cynon 

Taf) 

 

 

 

 

 

One new 

multipurpose waste 

treatment facility 

granted planning 

permission over 

monitoring period 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No new facilities 

granted planning 

permission by the 

end of 2012 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

G 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 117



99 

 

New civic amenity 

site in the south of 

the Borough to be 

delivered by the 

end of 2016 

Replacement civic 

amenity site 

approved at 

Aberfan  

No planning 

application 

registered by the 

end of 2014 

G 

Local 

 

Landfill capacity at 

Trecatty 

 

 

To maintain spare 

capacity over the 

Plan period 

 

 

 

 

Input below 

maximum in 2014 

 

 

Input at the 

maximum of 

625,000 tpa for 3 

consecutive years 

 

 

G 

 

 

SO6: To provide a range of dwelling sizes and types, including affordable and special needs housing, which 

support the need of the local community, attract new inhabitants to the area and create mixed and socially 

inclusive communities. 

Core and Local 

Indicators 

Policy Targets Policy Achievement Trigger Level Performance 

Core 

 

Housing Land 

Supply 

 

 

Maintain a 

minimum of 5 years 

supply (ha) 

 

 

 

1.6 years 

 

 

Less than a 5 year 

supply for 1 year 

 

R 

Core 

 

Number of all 

dwellings built 

 

 

Between 2,400 and 

2,720 net 

completions by 

April 2016 

 

At least 3,800 net 

completions by 

April 2021 

 

 

 

1,656 completions 

by end of March 

2016 

 

 

- 

 

 

20% less or greater 

than LDP strategy 

build rate for 2 

consecutive years 

 

 

R 

 

 

 

N/A 

Core 

 

Number of new 

general market 

dwellings built 

 

 

Between 2,110 and 

2,390 net 

completions by 

April 2016 

 

 

 

 

1,328 completions 

by end of March 

2016 

 

79 completions 

during 2015/2016 

 

 

20% less or greater 

than LDP strategy 

build rate for 2 

consecutive  years 

 

 

R 

 

 

 

Page 118



100 

 

 

At least 3,330 net 

completions by 

April 2021 

 

 

- 

 

N/A 

Core 

 

Number of 

affordable 

dwellings built 

 

 

Between 225 and 

255 net 

completions by 

April 2016 

 

 

At least 350 net 

completions by 

April 2021 

 

 

328 completions by 

end of March 2016 

 

41 completions 

during 2015/2016 

 

- 

 

 

20% less or greater 

than LDP strategy 

build rate for 2 

consecutive  years 

 

 

Y 

 

 

N/A 

Local 

 

Number of 

affordable 

dwellings secured 

as a planning 

obligation 

 

 

Approximately 130 

by April 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Approximately 240 

by April 2021 

 

 

43 dwellings by end 

of March 2016 

 

10% delivered in 

10% Area. 

 

No relevant 

housing 

applications 

granted planning 

permission in 5% 

Area 

 

- 

 

 

10% Area: 

delivering less than 

7.5% or more than 

12.5% 

 

 

5% Area: delivering 

less than 2.5% or 

more than 7.5% 

 

Y 

 

G 

 

N/A 

 

N/A 

Local 

 

Number of 

affordable 

dwellings secured 

through affordable 

housing exceptions 

policy 

 

 

Approximately 10 

by April 2016 

 

 

 

Approximately 20 

by April 2021 

 

 

 

 

No planning 

application 

submitted 

 

 

 

 

-- 

 

 

No planning 

application 

submitted by the 

end of 2014 

 

 

R 

 

 

N/A 

Local 

 

Average house 

price 

(Baseline: 

Approximately 

£86,900 at 2010, 

amended in line 

with Land Registry 

 

 

- 

 

 

£68,529 

 

 

+/- 10% change 

from base level  

 

 

G 

Page 119



101 

 

data to £73,153) 

Local 

 

Average income 

(gross weekly pay) 

(Baseline: 

Approximately 

£380 at 2009, 

amended in line 

with NOMIS data to 

£392) 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

£426.20 (8.6% 

above baseline) 

 

 

+/- 10% change 

from base level 

 

 

Y 

Local 

 

Vacancy rates of 

existing housing 

stock 

(Baseline: 6% at 

2010) 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

4.5% 

 

 

Vacancy rate 

increasing for 1 

year or remaining 

static for 2 

consecutive years 

 

 

G 

Local 

 

Preparation and 

adoption of 

Affordable Housing 

SPG 

 

Percentage of 

relevant planning 

applications 

complying with SPG 

 

 

By the end of 2011 

 

 

 

 

All (post SPG 

adoption) 

 

 

SPG adopted March 

2012 

 

 

 

All applications  

complying 

  

 

G 

 

 

SO7. To improve and diversify the economy, safeguarding existing jobs and creating a range of new job 

opportunities in a sustainable manner. 

Core and Local 

Indicators 

Policy Targets Policy Achievement Trigger Level Performance 

Core 

 

New B1 floorspace 

delivered 

 

 

Between 28,500 

and 30,790 sq m 

net floorspace 

delivered by April 

2016 

 

 

 

 

 

At least 53,400 sq 

m net floorspace 

delivered by April 

2021 

 

 

10,661 sq m 

delivered by end of 

March 2016. 

 

0 sqm delivered 

2015/16 

 

0 sqm delivered 

2014/15 

 

 

 

Greater than 7,120 

sq m per annum or 

less than 890 sq m 

per annum for 2 

consecutive years 

 

 

R 

 

 

 

 

 

 

R 

 

N/A 

Page 120



102 

 

Core 

 

New B2/B8 

floorspace 

delivered 

 

 

Between 7,920 and 

9,680 sq m net 

floorspace 

delivered by April 

2016 

 

 

 

 

 

At least 56,500 sq 

m net floorspace 

delivered by April 

2021 

 

 

15,601 sq m 

delivered by end of 

March 2016. 

 

0 sqm delivered 

2015/16 

 

0 sqm delivered 

2014/15 

 

 

Greater than 7,540 

sq m per annum or 

less than 940 sq m 

per annum for 2 

consecutive years 

 

 

Y 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

R 

 

N/A 

 

 

 

Core 

 

Minimum number 

of net additional 

jobs delivered 

 

 

Between 1,800 and 

1,980 jobs 

delivered by April 

2016 

 

 

 

 

At least 4,440 jobs 

delivered April by 

2021 

 

 

1,819 jobs 

delivered by end of 

March 2016 

 

492.5 jobs 

delivered 

2015/2016 

 

 

Greater than 592 

jobs per annum or 

less than 74 jobs 

per annum for 2 

consecutive years 

 

 

 

G 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

G 

 

N/A 

Local 

 

Developments 

granted planning 

permission that 

result in a loss of 

employment land 

within employment 

sites protected 

under Policy AS24 

 

 

No loss of 

employment land 

on protected 

employment sites 

except where 

justified within the 

terms of the policy 

 
 

No unjustified loss 

of employment 

land 

 

 

1 or 2 

developments 

granted planning 

permission for 2 

consecutive years, 

or, 3 or more 

developments 

granted planning 

permission in 1 

year 

 

 

 

G 

Local 

 

Percentage of 

economically active 

people in 

employment 

 

(Baseline: 64% at 

2009) 

 

 

Approximately 74% 

by the end of 2016 

 

 

Approximately 80% 

by the end of 2021 

 

 

65.9% for 2015/116 

(-2.3%) 

 

 

Reduction of 5% or 

failure to increase 

for 2 consecutive 

years. 

 

 

R 

 

 

Y 

 

N/A 

Page 121



103 

 

Local 

 

Vacancy rates of 

existing 

employment 

buildings 

 

(Baseline vacancy 

figures as of 2009: 

B1 = 5.6%; B2/B8 = 

9.7%) 

 

 

Maintain vacancy 

rate within range of 

5-10% of existing 

stock  

 

 

 

 

 

 

20% 

 

 

+ or – 2.5% beyond 

range for 2 

consecutive years 

 

 

R 

 

 

 

SO8. To promote social inclusion and ensure equality of opportunity through reducing the need to travel and 

providing better access by sustainable means to employment opportunities, community facilities and services. 

Core and Local 

Indicators 

Policy Targets Policy Achievement Trigger Level Performance 

Local 

 

Number of 

community 

facilities lost 

through change of 

use 

 

 

No loss of viable 

community 

facilities below 

identified need 

(except where 

justified within 

terms of policy) 

 

 

 

No unjustified loss 

of a community 

facility 

 

 

1 or 2 community 

facilities lost for 2 

consecutive years, 

or, 3 or more 

community 

facilities lost in 1 

year 

 

 

G 

Local 

 

Amount of planning 

obligations secured 

on allocated 

housing 

developments 

 

 

Secure 

contributions on 33 

(67%) of the 

allocated housing 

developments 

 

 

No allocated sites 

failing to secure 

identified 

contributions. 

 

 

1 or 2 sites failing 

to secure planning 

obligations for 2 

consecutive years, 

or, 3 or more sites 

failing to secure 

planning 

obligations in 1 

year 

 

 

 

G 

Percentage of 

relevant planning 

applications 

complying with SPG 

 

All (Post SPG 

adoption) 

All applications 

complying  

 

- 

 

G 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 122



104 

 

SO9. To promote health and wellbeing by providing accessible and varied opportunities for leisure and 

recreational activities. 

Core and Local 

Indicators 

Policy Targets Policy Achievement Trigger Level Performance 

Local 

 

Amount of public 

open space, 

including play space 

and informal 

recreational areas, 

lost to 

development (ha) 

which is not 

allocated in the 

development plan. 

 

 

 

No loss below 

identified need. 

 

 

0 ha loss 

 

 

- 

 

 

G 

 

 

 

 

Local 

 

New 

leisure/recreational 

development 

 

ii) Parc Taf Bargoed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Deliver by the end 

of 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Development 

delivered 

 

 

 

 

 

 

No planning 

application by the 

end of 2014 

 

 

G 

 

 

SO10. To ensure good quality design of new development and the creation of safer communities.  

 

SO12. To contribute towards reducing the impact of climate change through reduced carbon dioxide emissions 

in new developments. 

Core and Local 

Indicators 

Policy Targets Policy Achievement Trigger Level Performance 

Local 

 

Percentage of 

relevant schemes 

incorporating 

“secured by design 

principles” 

 

 

All major 

applications 

 

 

All major 

applications 

granted planning 

permission  

incorporate 

“secured by design 

principles” 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

G 

Local 

 

Preparation and 

adoption of 

Sustainable Design 

SPG 

 

 

 

By the end of 2012 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SPG adopted July 

2013 

 

 

- 

 

 

G 

Local 

 

Percentage of 

 

 

All (Post SPG 

 

 

All relevant 

 

 

- 

 

 

G 

Page 123



105 

 

planning 

applications 

complying with 

sustainable design 

SPG 

adoption) applications 

complying with SPG 

 

 

SO11. To ensure the continued protection and enhancement of the natural, cultural, built and historic 

environment. 

Core and Local 

Indicators 

Policy Targets Policy Achievement Trigger Level Performance 

Local 

 

Developments 

granted planning 

permission that do 

not preserve or 

enhance scheduled 

ancient 

monuments, 

registered historic 

parks and gardens, 

listed buildings or 

conservation areas 

 

 

 

No developments 

that would fail to 

preserve or 

enhance heritage 

features granted 

planning 

permission 

 

 

No developments 

granted planning 

permission failed to 

preserved or 

enhance heritage 

features 

 

 

1 or 2 

developments 

failing to preserve 

or enhance 

features for 2 

consecutive years, 

or, 3 or more 

developments 

failing to preserve 

or enhance 

features in 1 year 

 

 

G 

Local 

 

Developments 

granted planning 

permission that 

cause harm to the 

overall nature 

conservation value 

of SINCs or the LNR 

 

 

No developments 

that would cause 

harm to the overall 

nature 

conservation value 

of SINCs or the LNR 

granted planning 

permission     

 

 

No development 

that would cause 

harm to the overall 

nature 

conservation value 

of SINCs of the LNR 

granted planning 

permission 

 

 

 

1 or 2 

developments 

resulting in overall 

harm for 2 

consecutive years, 

or, 3 or more 

developments 

resulting in overall 

harm in 1 year 

 

 

 

G 

Local 

 

Developments 

granted planning 

permission that 

cause harm to a 

SSSI 

 

 

No developments 

that would cause 

harm to a SSSI 

granted planning 

permission 

 

 

No developments 

that would cause 

harm to a SSSI 

granted planning 

permission  

 

 

1 or more 

developments 

resulting in harm to 

a SSSI 

 

 

G 

  

Page 124



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Vibrant and Viable Places (VVP) Report

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to outline to scrutiny committee how the VVP 
programme is progressing and the successes achieved to date, the programme risks 
and issues and the next steps for Community Regeneration in relation to project 
completion and future programme development. 

1.2 On the 30th January 2014 it was announced by Welsh Government that Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC had been successful with their Vibrant and Viable Places (VVP) 
Programme application and had received a notional allocation for the full amount 
applied for - £12.8m.

1.3 The Vibrant and Viable Places investment allowed a further phase of development to 
achieve the goals of the Town Centre Strategic Review and Masterplan and the 
Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Masterplan collectively.  It also supports the goals of the 
adopted Local Development Plan (LDP) and has sustainable development at its 
core.

1.4 The Programme became a Housing and Regeneration led programme and covered 
a spatial area at the Northern end of the Borough incorporating Cyfarthfa Heritage 
Area, Gellideg Community Zone, North Merthyr Regeneration Area, Central 
Pontmorlais Enterprise Zone and the A470 Activity Corridor with the Town Centre 
situated at the heart of it.  

1.5 The Programmes vision is to position Merthyr Tydfil as a key regional centre 
supporting economic growth.

Date Written 23rd November 2016 
Report Author Zoe Thomas / Chris Long 
Service Area Community Regeneration 
Committee Date 13th December 2016

Page 125

Agenda Item 6



1.6 A number of successes have been achieved since the programmes’ inception 
including the achievement of year 1 and 2 spend, and the team are working towards 
the achievement of full VVP spend by the end of the programme. 

1.7 By the end of the programme in March 2016, it is anticipated that all VVP financial 
spend and outputs will be achieved.  All VVP spend will need to be defrayed before 
this date or the funding will be lost.  

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 That the scrutiny committee discusses and comments on the issues set out within 
the report. 

2.2 That the scrutiny committee identifies any priorities which can be taken into account 
when developing any future programmes. 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 On the 30th January 2014 it was announced by Welsh Government that Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC had been successful with their Vibrant and Viable Places (VVP) 
Programme application and had received a notional allocation for the full amount 
applied for - £12.8m.  The announcement confirmed that a more detailed discussion 
with Welsh Government would be undertaken to approve each individual scheme.   

3.2 On the 12th June 2014, Merthyr Tydfil CBC received and signed the offer letter for 
the VVP Programme which included funding for all of the original projects identified 
as part of the application process and exact funding allocations were apportioned  to  
each of the schemes to implement and deliver the projects up to March 2017, the 
Programme end date. 

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 Prior to securing the funding for the VVP Programme, the Physical Regeneration 
Team were delivering key projects linked to both the Town Centre Masterplan and 
the Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Masterplan.  These were as follows:

- Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre Regeneration Programme (ERDF Funded)
- Townscape Heritage Initiative Programme (HLF Funded) 
- Cyfarthfa Parks for People Programme (HLF Funded) 

The Programmes were regeneration focused and spatially targeted.  The Vibrant and 
Viable Places investment allowed a further phase of development to achieve the 
goals of the Town Centre Strategic Review and Masterplan and the Cyfarthfa 
Heritage Area Masterplan collectively.  It also supports the goals of the adopted 
Local Development Plan (LDP)  and has sustainable development at its core.  The 
Programme became a Housing and Regeneration led programme and covered a 
spatial area at the Northern end of the Borough incorporating Cyfarthfa Heritage 
Area, Gellideg Community Zone, North Merthyr Regeneration Area, Central 
Pontmorlais Enterprise Zone and the A470 Activity Corridor with the Town Centre Page 126



situated at the heart of it.  The Programmes vision is to position Merthyr as a key 
regional centre supporting economic growth.  The Programme is split into three key 
areas namely Housing, Economic Vitality and Encouraging Enterprise and 
Sustainable and Vibrant Communities.  Each of the 24 projects approved under the 
Programme fits into one of these key areas. 

4.2 In the lower valley funding was secured from ERDF to deliver the Taff Bargoed 
Regeneration Programme.  The Taff Bargoed Development Strategy delivery ended 
in 2013 and the Treharris Town Centre Programme funding was secured in the same 
year.  

4.3 Project Riverside, to re-develop the infrastructure enablement for the Merthyr Vale 
Colliery Site was completed in December 2015.  

4.4 Although both programmes have been key strategic developments within the 
regeneration portfolio, they have remained outside the current VVP geographical 
boundary.  

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW 

5.1 The Programme commenced on the 16th June 2014 as there was a three month 
delay in the authority receiving the offer letter from Welsh Government.  A number of 
success have been achieved since the Programme's commencement:

- The launch of the VVP Programme for South Wales was held in Merthyr Tydfil 
outside the YMCA on Pontmorlais Promenade.  The Programme was launched 
by the then Minister for Housing and Regeneration Carl Sargeant and the AM 
Huw Lewis and provided a key opportunity to promote Merthyr and the £12.8m 
secured. 

- A Gateway Review, an independent review commissioned by WG, was 
undertaken on the Programme in 2014 and a green / amber result was allocated 
by the Gateway Team.  Only two recommendations were included within the 
report namely around benefit realisation and ensuring the housing element of the 
programme was fully linked into the council’s strategic objectives. A Housing 
Land Availability Study was commissioned following the receipt of these 
recommendations. 

- Ministerial Advisory Group (MAG) visited Merthyr in November 2014 which 
provided a great opportunity to showcase Merthyr and the approved projects.  
The MAG was met by the VVP Programme Team and the Leader of the Council. 

- The team achieved its year 1 spend of £3.666m by 31st March 2015.  This was a 
risk for several months due to the delays in the programme commencing in June 
2014 as opposed to April 2014. 

- A second Gateway review meeting was held in July 2015 and again, a green / 
amber result was allocated by the Gateway Team.  The only recommendation 
included within the report  was linked to the housing element of the Programme 
once again and the prioritisation of key sites.  An internal working group has now 
been established to focus specifically on this recommendation in preparation for 
any future Gateway Reviews.

- A VVP Stakeholder Conference was held on the 26th June 2015.  The day 
proved to be extremely successful with all stakeholders staying for the afternoon 
workshop session to discuss lessons learned and future programme 
development.  A common issue that was outlined from stakeholders was around 

Page 127



communication and a more robust communications plan will be developed for the 
remainder of the programme.  

- Three of the projects have been completed to date and two projects, the 
Enterprise Centre and St. David’s Community Hall, were officially launched by 
Lesley Griffiths Minister for Communities and Tackling Poverty in conjunction with 
the Leader of the Council.  

- The Penydarren Park Project was launched on the 31st October 2016 and was 
officially opened by the First Minister, Carwyn Jones AM along with the Leader of 
the Council and the Chair of Merthyr Town Football Club.  It is envisaged that all 
future projects will receive an official launch in order to fully publicise the 
programme and its successes. 

- A series of local launches have been held for the Meanwhile Schemes that have 
been created within the Town Centre including The Bait Shack and Furniture 
Reborn in Pontmorlais. 

- The team achieved its year 2 spend of £3.243m by 31st March 2015.  
- A series of re-profiles have been submitted to Welsh Government and the team is 

continually working with them to ensure that the year 3 spend is achieved. 

5.2 The team are working towards the achievement of full programme spend by the end 
of the financial year and it is anticipated again that this will be achievable.  The total 
spend allocation for year 3 is £5,964m. The match funding aligned to the programme 
is currently being monitored along with the targets and details of all levered funding 
secured and spend against the programme along with benefit realisation will be 
available by the end of March 17. 

5.3 The programme is continuing well and from the original submission to WG back in 
2013, four projects have been de-committed.  These include St. Tydfils Hospital site, 
Nant Morlais Micro Hydro, General Hospital and the Theatre Royal.  

5.4 St. Tydfils Hospital was deemed a difficult site from the very outset of the 
Programme.  Both the Planning and the Physical Regeneration Departments tried 
extensively to engage with the owners of the site to work with them to develop the 
site into housing units, but unfortunately the owners did not want to engage. 

5.5  In relation to the micro-hydro, it was not feasible for the scheme to be delivered.  A 
detailed feasibility was undertaken on the Nant Morlais and other potential sites 
within the VVP boundary area but there were no sites identified that were cost 
effective  enough to justify funding the project and to generate income.  The sites 
that were identified were outside of the boundary area and on private land therefore  
could not be considered as part of the scheme.  

5.6 The funding de-committed from both the St. Tydfils Hospital Site and the Micro-hydro 
scheme was used to enhance existing projects and to include new projects within the 
programme.  The targets lost were also accommodated within new and existing 
projects. 

5.7 The General Hospital and Theatre Royal sites, similarly to the St. Tydfils Hospital 
Site, are both privately owned and although it was not as difficult to engage with the 
owners of both properties, the information required to secure that grant eg. match 
funding / a proposed scheme for the site, was not in place to meet the programme 
timescales. Again, the funding was de-committed to accommodate new and existing 
projects.  

Page 128



5.8. The St. Tydfils Hospital Site was brought back into the programme in July 2016 as 
the owner of the site made contact with the local authority to say that they had 
identified a developer.  By September 16, the developer declined the grant due to 
limited timescales and the development not being progressed well enough to access 
the grant at that point.  The team are now working closely with Welsh Government to 
re-align this funding into an existing scheme. 

5.9 The YMCA project will not be progressed within this current programme.  Cambrian 
Heritage Regeneration Trust were unsuccessful with their Heritage Lottery Stage 2 
application due to the project being deemed high risk.  The team are now looking to 
identify other options to deliver the project in the future including the identification of 
an alternative delivery organisation.  In relation to the funding that was ring-fenced 
for this project, the team are working with Welsh Government looking at a potential 
option to secure the funding for the YMCA in the future.  Discussions are at very 
early stages in relation to this proposal. 

5.10 The programme has enabled a direct link with the LDP and has strengthened 
relationships with the Planning Department and other internal departments including 
Estates and legal.  The VVP programme relates to a number of key objectives in the 
LDP including: 

SO1 – To capitalise on Merthyr’s strategic position, further developing its role as the 
main commercial, service and employment centre in the Heads of the Valleys area 
by focusing development within the main town of Merthyr Tydfil.  
Projects such as the YMCA and the Castle were developed to create key 
employment hubs and develop the economy in Merthyr. 
SO2 – To focus appropriate levels of development within the County Borough’s 
smaller valley communities to create affordable and attractive places to live with 
good access to jobs and services.
A number of sites identified within the LDP were included within the VVP SOP to 
enable the sites to be surveyed in preparation for any future interest from potential 
developers.  
SO6 – To provide a range of dwelling sizes and types, including affordable and 
special needs housing, which support the needs of the local community, attract new 
inhabitants to the area and create mixed and socially inclusive communities.
A number of housing developments have been included within the programme and 
Planning have been fully integrated in all discussions to ensure housing created is 
required to support need and demand. 
SO8 – To promote social inclusion and ensure equality of opportunity through 
reducing the need to travel and providing better  access by sustainable means to 
employment opportunities, community facilities and services.
MT Connect has been included within the programme creating accessible links to the 
Town Centre and Planning have been fully integrated into discussions relating to the 
new Bus Station site. 
SO11 – To ensure the continued protection and enhancement of the natural, cultural, 
built and historic environment.
A number of historic and listed buildings have been included as part of the 
programme. 
SO12 – To contribute towards reducing the impact of climate change through 
reduced carbon dioxide emissions in new developments.
This objective again is linked to the Bus Station developments where reports have 
been produced on proposed co2 emissions on the new site. 

Page 129



5.11 Although the project is currently on track, there are a number of risks that the Council 
are taking into consideration.  These include:

- That changes are made to the Programme from Welsh Government
Mitigation – work closely with Welsh Government to understand and implement any 
potential policy changes. 

-     The loss of match funding.  
Mitigation – work with Project Managers ensuring that all match funding has been 
secured.   

- That outcomes are not achieved by the end of the programme.  
Mitigation - This will be monitored closely and will become an escalated risk if any 
individual projects substantially change. 

- Communication with stakeholders 
Mitigation – Work with Corporate Communications to publicise the benefits and the 
successes of the programme.  Also, communicate any changes.  

- Communication with internal officers / Elected Members 
Mitigation – Regular updates to be continued to the relevant Boards.  

- Reliance on delivery organisations to deliver projects on time and on budget. 
Mitigation – Work closely with each of the delivery organisations to ensure that the 
project is on track in terms of spend and output achievement. Monitor and mitigate 
any individual project risks.  

- That year 3 funding will not be achieved.  
Mitigation - This is being monitored and regular meetings are now being held to look 
at monthly projections. Work closely with Welsh Government to discuss any changes 
to the profile.    

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 By the end of the Programme in March 2017, it is anticipated that all VVP financial  
spend and outputs will be achieved.  All VVP spend will need to be defrayed before 
this date or the funding will be lost.  In relation to the targets, those that are due to be 
achieved post programme would need to be outlined to Welsh Government and a 
rationale provided as to why they were not achieved by the end of March 2016. It is 
envisaged that over 60% of the projects will be completed before the end of the 
programme.  A number of projects are due to run into 17/18 including the Castle and 
the Central Merthyr Housing Programme but Welsh Government are fully aware of 
this and the fact that there are issues outside of our control relating to the securing of 
match funding from HLF and the lengthy process in delivery key housing schemes. 

6.2 A further aspiration is to have delivered the Regeneration and Housing Programme 
as per the SOP to Welsh Government.  This will entail the delivery of all projects 
outlined within the offer letter.  Welsh Government have been provided with a 
detailed rationale for the de-commitment of any scheme and outputs have been 
accommodated within new or existing schemes where achievable. This will support 

Page 130



the evaluation of the programme and any queries that we may get internally or from 
stakeholders in the future. 

6.3 A number of key challenges were included within the SOP submission to Welsh 
Government.  These included: 

-  low availability of new housing, limited choice and poor quality of existing stock 
-  market failure resulting in long-term vacant sites and properties 
- Multiple constraints and issues with vacant sites 
- poor walk-ability and pedestrian accessibility between new and existing sites 
- lack of long term sustainable solutions to promote economic vibrancy 
- low skill levels which hinder local peoples access to employment opportunities 
- a persistent negative image of the town with residents, visitors and investors. 

It is the overall aim to have addressed each of the challenges outlined by the end of 
the programme.  A lot of work has been undertaken to date also. 

- A number of additional market housing and social housing units are being 
created from a number of live projects.  Following on from this, a group has been 
established with the RSLs looking at their tenant requirements to create new 
affordable housing  within the town and a Housing Need group has been 
established by the Housing Department to help inform any future programmes / 
projects. 

- Long-term vacant sites and properties have also been targeted through delivery 
to date.  Vacant properties in the town centre, in particular have been targeted 
through the Meanwhile project.  JOLs has opened in the former Chaplins building 
which had been vacant for a 2 – 3 year period and two schemes have been 
launched in Pontmorlais in two buildings which  had been vacant for over 5 years.   
Merthyr Tydfil Housing Association have continued to identify vacant sites in town 
for inclusion within the programme for residential schemes.  

- To date, a number of constraints and issues have been identified on a number of 
the key sites within the programme and the programme team along with internal 
departments have looked at ways of overcoming these constraints.  This will 
continue through the remainder of the programme also.  Some issues have been 
easier to overcome than others and where constraints cannot be resolved, the 
outcome may be that the project may need to be removed from the programme 
or changed substantially to become deliverable. 

- The programme has a key focus on accessibility and a Trails, Links and Open 
Spaces project has been included within the programme to ensure accessibility to 
key trails.  This includes signage and footfall monitors.  

- The Enterprise Centre which has been created through the VVP funding is part of 
the long-term solution to promote economic vibrancy.  The Centre has become a 
first point of contact for any new or existing business and provides support such 
as financial modelling, marketing advice and business planning and the 
opportunity for test trading to help sustain the business.  Other solutions 
developed have included the Meanwhile Schemes and a Town Centre Vacancy 
Mapping Exercise and Investment Plan.  

- The Enterprise Centre is also focusing on skills development and skills needs are 
identified on a new or existing businesses’ first contact with the Enterprise 
Centre.  The VVP Programme is also fully aligned to the Economic Growth 
Partnership that has been established by the Council.  The VVP Programme 
Manager sits on the Partnership and this opportunity will help to inform current 

Page 131



and existing projects in relation to skills levels and people accessing employment. 
This opportunity has also been enhanced through the Employability Team 
moving into the Economic Development Department in September 16. 

- Through the work of the TCP and the Town Centre Manager, and the projects 
delivered through the VVP Programme, it is envisaged that the negative 
perception of the town will start to change and improve.  A strong 
communications strategy has supported this including regular press releases on 
key successes achieved and updates in the Contact magazine. 

6.4 By the end of the Programme the Council also want to achieve the key aims of the 
SOP including

- Create sustainable and affordable housing within the town centre enabling 
resident to live healthy, productive lives in a safe, strong, inclusive, fair 
community 

- Provide links to training and best practice for local businesses, especially 
independent town centre retailers 

- Provide facilities offering joined up services to support employability addressing a 
range of needs including training, support and childcare 

- Create quality, affordable leisure facilities 

A number of projects currently being delivered will help to support this including:

- Affordable housing in the town centre – Labour Exchange, 115 High Street and 
the Vacant Property Grants.  These sites, prior to being targeted through VVP, 
were derelict, in a poor state of disrepair and with high levels of anti-social 
behaviour being experienced.  The programmes will create a safe and more 
attractive place to live within the town centre and will prevent high levels of anti-
social behaviour and vandalism.  

- Training and an offer of joined up services –the creation of the Enterprise Centre 
in July 2014 has provided training and support for new and existing local 
businesses and aims to identify barriers to work.  The Employability Team are 
also linked in for skills development and supporting local job creation 
opportunities. 

- Create quality, affordable leisure facilities – the re-development of a number of 
buildings within and around the Town Centre aim to create new leisure facilities 
for community use.  This includes St. Davids Community Hall which is now 
completed and Penydarren park, which was launched in October 16.  Merthyr 
Town Football Club has developed a new multipurpose function hall/banqueting 
suite to accommodate 100-120 people, re-developed and extended the club’s 
present offices and buildings including the entrance and new turnstiles, improved 
the present stands using steel cladding, created hospitality boxes and created a 
larger car-park for users of the facility.  The Club has already experienced a 
number of success and will continue to grow and become a well-utilised facility 
within the Town. 

6.5 A further aim is to have built strong working relationships with partners to support 
delivery within this current, and any future programmes. Again, this is something that 
has been achieved and that the Programme Team will continue to build on.   The 
Team has historically had a strong working relationship with the third sector and the 
VVP Programme has encouraged partnership working.  An example of this is the 
Enterprise Centre.  The Centre is managed by Tydfil Training but is fully supported 

Page 132



by an Enterprise Group consisting of a number of internal officers that aide delivery 
including the Town Centre Manager, Effect Co-ordinator and Business Support 
Officer.  The Programme has also enabled the opportunity for the team to work with 
the private sector, which has been a lot more problematic and was always a risk 
from the programme’s inception, as to whether the properties included in the 
programme would be taken forward.  An example of this are the owners of the St. 
Tydfil’s Hospital site who did not initially want to engage with the team to discuss 
funding for the re-development of the site, they wanted to engage only with Planning 
regarding the demolition.  Some private sector relationships have flourished for 
example Graft who have re-developed the former St. Johns Church in Dowlais.  The 
programme has also provided the opportunity to work with the Housing Associations 
and this has been extremely beneficial and has encouraged improved working 
relationships.  Each RSL namely Wales and West, Merthyr Tydfil Housing 
Association and Merthyr Valley Homes are all involved in the delivery of housing 
related projects and continue to look at key sites that can be developed in the future. 

6.6 The main aim overall is to achieve the key vision of the programme, re-enforcing 
Merthyr’s position as a key regional centre in the Valleys.  The VVP Programme has 
and will continue to enable this to happen through the re-development of the Town 
Centre, the creation of more affordable housing and the creation of improved quality 
facilities.  The Bus Station project will also enhance the town creating improved 
transport infrastructure and links to the A470 / A465 and the railway station.  The 
Programme has also enabled positive publicity of the area encouraging the change 
in people’s perception and inviting people to work in, live in and visit Merthyr Tydfil. 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 There are a number of opportunities available for Community Regeneration to build 
on the current successes of the VVP Programme. Firstly, is to achieve the aims of 
the this programme, as outlined above.  There has also been an opportunity to 
secure additional funding to support a number of projects that are already in delivery 
and have secured funding through VVP.  These include the Castle and Bus Station 
for example.  Funding has been sought for both projects through the Welsh 
Government ‘Building for the Future’ ERDF Programme which aims to bring disused 
sites or premises back into community use.  The Stage 1 Heritage Lottery Fund 
application for the Castle was approved in September 16 and this will be a key 
priority for the team over the next 5 years.  A Project team will be appointed to 
develop the Stage 2 application which will secure £4.1m towards the re-development 
of the Grade 1 Listed building.  

7.2 Welsh Government are currently exploring the possibilities of a VVP 2 Programme.  
The Regeneration Budget within Welsh Government has been reduced substantially 
therefore no further information on future programmes has yet emerged.  The team 
are working closely with Welsh Government to keep informed of any policy change / 
drive and have submitted a series of ‘Pipeline Projects’ as Welsh Government have 
sited that there may be a ‘Transition Phase’ between VVP 1 and VVP2 (should there 
be a future VVP2 Programme) 

7.3 There may also be an opportunity if there is a future programme to extend the 
boundary.  The current boundary focuses on the  North of the Borough but Welsh 
Government have confirmed that there is scope to amend any boundaries.  It may be 

Page 133



opportunistic to widen the boundary to include Taff Barged and Merthyr Vale to 
further enhance programmes such as the Taff Bargoed Regeneration Programme 
and Riverside.  The Hoover Site, Gethin Tips and the old dairy Crest site has also 
been identified as a key development site which wuld need to be a priority for any 
future programme to provide residential and employment opportunities.

7.4 Community Regeneration are currently concentrating on the development of an 
Economic Growth Strategy for Merthyr which will help to inform any future 
programme development.  The creation of an Economic Growth Partnership has and 
will continue to be invaluable to its creation as well as supporting inward investment 
opportunities.  Key representatives on the Partnership include the College, Job 
Centre Plus and local training providers who can each have a strong influence on the 
development of a future programme.  Colleagues from Social Regeneration and 
Employability also sit on the Partnership and will also have the opportunity to include 
complimentary projects to enhance what they are currently delivering and to link the 
skills agenda to any future capital infrastructure programmes.  The key elements that 
the Economic Growth Strategy will focus upon include:

- Amalgamate the findings identified within the Skills Review into the current draft 
Economic Growth Strategy Document (action plan) 

- Identify the indicators on a two tier level – firstly, the high level indicators higher 
strategic population levels that have been identified within the current draft 
Economic Growth Strategy and secondly, the programme level / local level 
indicators that the local authority have achieved / aspire to achieve.  For the local 
indicators, benchmarking against other local authority areas will be important 
therefore indicators need to reflect what other areas are recording – particularly in 
relation to ESF Programmes / Work Programmes including Work Programme 
outputs and DWP Work Choice programmes and all Enterprise/Business support 
programmes, national and locally  

- Identify what programmes are currently being implemented (particularly the ESF 
funded programmes) and what the current gaps in delivery are.  Based on these 
findings outline a new programme / policy in future. 

- Develop a scheme of a local operating model to underpin the delivery of the 
Strategy identifying its key components, delivery work strands and any gaps and 
requisite remedial action to address these including proposed new 
project/programme development. It is expected that this will include coverage of 
issues related to Economic Development, Inward Investment, Skills, Education 
and Training, Education 14+ plus links to the local Poverty strategy.

7.5 Through the recommendations of both Gateway Reviews, a robust Housing Market 
Analysis is being undertaken, which will support the marketing and development of 
key housing sites included within the LDP.  Through the current programme a 
number of site surveys have been undertaken on the 9 housing sites identified which 
will make the sites more appealing to developers once the sites are marketed.  The 
VVP Programme primarily assists with the delivery of the existing LDP by bringing 
sites forward for development but will also inform the next LDP on which 
development sites should be taken forward and will be particularly useful in 
demonstrating which sites are likely to viable and deliverable.

7.6 In March 2016, the 10 local authorities who represent the Cardiff Capital Region 
signed a City Deal agreement with the UK and Welsh Government.  It signified the 
beginning of a process that will seek significant investment built around a range of 

Page 134



themes.  The deal commits to £1.2 billion investment in the Cardiff Capital Region’s 
infrastructure with a key priority for investment being the delivery of the South East 
Wales Metro.  The deal will provide a number of opportunities for South East Wales 
and Merthyr Tydfil. 

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

8.1 The VVP has been highlighted as a key priority within the Corporate Plan and links 
directly to how Merthyr Tydfil will become a growing and sustainable economy.  The 
aims outlined within this report will address this and a key monitoring tool will be the 
achievement of full financial spend and outputs. 

Page 135



ELLIS COOPER 
DIRECTOR, PLACE AND 
TRANSFORMATION  

COUNCILLOR KATE MORAN 
PORTFOLIO MEMBER, REGENERATION, 

PLANNING AND COUNTRYSIDE

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

List the Background 
documents which have 
been relied on in 
preparing the report. 
E.g. previous minutes of 
relevant committees

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

1.

Page 136



Civic Centre, Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report – Corporate Plan Priority Area 6 
Employability

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
1.1. In Merthyr Tydfil (2013), outcomes were unsatisfactory with fewer working age people 

in employment and lower qualifications levels among working age people when 
compared across Wales.

1.2. In Merthyr Tydfil (2016), the current position of outcomes is adequate because the 
working age population in employment has improved.  In addition, the new EU projects 
are now underway and beginning to engage many eligible participants.

1.3. Our ambition is for outcomes for the working aged population to be good by 2017.  In 
order to achieve good we need to improve qualifications levels within the working age 
population to be higher than the Welsh average.

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1. The judgements and evaluations are noted and debated

Date Written 21 November 2016

Report Author Ewan McWilliams

Service Performance

Committee Date 13 December 2016

Page 137

Agenda Item 7

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

National Context
3.1. All local authorities in Wales are required to secure continuous improvement in the 

exercise of their functions by identifying their own priorities for improvement.  This legal 
requirement is set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

Council Vision
3.2. To strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the 

Valleys, and be a place to be proud of where:

a) People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions
b) People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life
c) People visit, enjoy and return

3.3. Our current approach to delivery of Children's Social Services directly and indirectly 
contributes to the priority outcomes set in both the Single Integrated Plan (SIP) and the 
Corporate Plan (CP).  The current strategy is to deliver those but our approach is 
evolving to align with the expectations of the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 2014 
and the Wellbeing of Future Generation Act 2015.

Corporate Plan - Employability
3.4. The local authority improvement objectives for 2013 to 2017 include the priority areas 

Economic Development and Employability.  The four key areas of development that are 
fundamental to economic growth are:

a) The economy
b) Infrastructure
c) The labour market
d) Skills

3.5. These priority areas seek to prioritise effort within the wide range of activities to have a 
strategic focus on economic growth to achieve the outcomes:

a) A growing and sustainable economy for Merthyr Tydfil, delivering a diverse range 
of quality job opportunities

b) Adults and young people (aged 16 and over) will develop their skills for work and 
both gain and sustain employment

3.6. This report will focus on the outcome "adults and young people (aged 16 and over) 
will develop their skills for work and both gain and sustain employment"

Page 138



4. WHERE WE WERE

Employability
4.1. In Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes were unsatisfactory with fewer working age people in 

employment and lower qualifications levels among working age people when compared 
across Wales.  However, comparably fewer young adults (aged 16 to 18) were not in 
education, employment or training.

Key Indicators
2013
Merthyr Tydfil

2013
Wales

Working age population in employment 63.7 % rank 20 68.9 %
Working age population with no qualifications 13.6 % rank 20 9.60 %
Working age population qualified below NVQ level 2 16.5 % - 14.0 %
Working age population qualified to NVQ level 2+ 69.8 % rank 20 76.3 %
Young adults not in education, employment, training 1.90 % rank 2 3.70 %
Care leavers in education, employment, training 53.8 % rank 14 56.4 %

5. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

Employability
5.1. By 2017, we want the percentage of working aged adults with no qualifications to be 

lower in Merthyr Tydfil than the Welsh average and the percentage of adults with level 1 
and 2 qualifications to be higher than the Welsh average.

Key Indicators
March 2016
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2017
Merthyr Tydfil

Working age population in employment 69.5 % 69.7 %
Working age population with no qualifications 12.5 % 11.5 %
Working age population qualified below NVQ level 2
Working age population qualified to NVQ level 2+

87.5 % 88.5 %

Young adults not in education, employment, training 1.50 % 1.00 %
Care leavers in education, employment, training  121 - NEW
Care leavers in education, employment, training  242 - NEW

1 The % of all care leavers who are in education, employment or training at 12 months after leaving care
2 The % of all care leavers who are in education, employment or training at 24 months after leaving care

Page 139



6. WHERE WE ARE NOW

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

Employability
6.1. The current position of this outcome is adequate because the working age population in 

employment has improved.  In addition, the locally delivered EU projects are beginning 
to engage many eligible participants.

6.2. The Bridges into Work 2 project has successfully engaged and signed up 80 people 
who all experience complex barriers.  5 people have secured employment which is a 
great achievement and 30 people have achieved a work related qualification.

6.3. The Working Skills for Adults 2 project has successfully engaged and signed up 264 
people for provision.  This has exceeded expectations across the region and with 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC having the most people signed up to date.

6.4. In its final year of measurement, the care leavers in education, employment or training 
improved to be above Wales.  The new changes come into effect this year but we are 
awaiting information from external source in order to calculate (care leavers).

Key Indicators
2016/17
Merthyr Tydfil

2016/17
Wales

Working age population in employment 66.9 % rank 20 71.3 %
Working age population with no qualifications 13.7 % rank 19 9.50 %
Working age population qualified below NVQ level 2 18.0 % - 14.0 %
Working age population qualified to NVQ level 2+ 68.3 % rank 21 77.1 %
Young adults not in education, employment, training 1.60 % rank 3 2.80 %
Care leavers in education, employment, training 63.2 % rank 11 60.7 %
Care leavers in education, employment, training  123 - - -
Care leavers in education, employment, training  244 - - -

3 The % of all care leavers who are in education, employment or training at 12 months after leaving care
4 The % of all care leavers who are in education, employment or training at 24 months after leaving care

Page 140



7. HOW DID WE GET HERE

Reference to Initiatives
(Full details in Appendix II)

7.1. Partnership NEET Strategy
7.2. Bridges into Work 2
7.3. Working Skills for Adults 2
7.4. Inspire to Achieve
7.5. Inspire to Work

Initiatives completed
7.6. Secure European Union Funding
7.7. Adult Community Learning Strategy

Lessons learnt
7.8. Collaboration is the most successful way of securing funds.  New future initiatives 

should be taken forward in this way.
7.9. Due to the establishment of the Economic Growth Group a series of target outcomes 

need to be agreed that will show a contribution to impact of targets associated to the 
Employability Service, as in Appendix 1.  This needs to be partnership approach.

8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

New initiatives
8.1. Consider the impact of improving school performance on adult qualification levels.
8.2. Explore the possibility of extensions (until 2020) to the Bridges into Work 2 and Working 

Skills for Adults 2 provision with the Torfaen County Borough Council and the Welsh 
European Funding Office.

8.3. Explore the launch of the Welsh Government All Age Employability Programme. 

9. THE WELLBEING DUTY (SS&WB ACT AND WFG ACT)
9.1. The Social Services and Wellbeing (SSWB) Act became law in Wales on 01 May 2014, 

which changes the way we assess people's needs and the way we deliver services to 
those people, where they will have a stronger voice to decide what care and support 
they receive.

9.2. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (WFG) Act became law in Wales on 29 April 2015, 
which is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of 
Wales.

Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
9.3. The service will contribute to the development of the Economy theme in the Wellbeing 

Assessment, with a particular focus on interpretation and understanding service 
provision.

Page 141



ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER: COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR CHRIS BARRY
PORTFOLIO: REGENERATION, PLANNING 

& COUNTRYSIDE

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2015/16
 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2016/17
 Scrutiny Report – 12 July 2016
 Scrutiny Report – 04 October 2016

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 142



Appendix I Data

SOURCE The percentage of the working age population in employment

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013 2014 2015 2016 Jun 2016 2017

MT (March) 63.0 65.0 68.2 66.1 66.9 69.7

Wales (March) 67.6 69.5 69.3 71.1 71.3

Difference (-4.6) (-4.5) (-1.1) (-5.0) (-4.4)

SOURCE The percentage of the working age population who are qualified to NVQ level 2 
and above

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012 2013 2014 2015 20155 2016

MT 69.4 69.8 70.6 68.3 67.9

Wales 75.0 76.3 77.6 77.1 76.2

Difference (-5.6) (-6.5) (-7.0) (-8.8) (-8.3)

SOURCE The percentage of the working age population who are qualified below NVQ 
level 2

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012 2013 2014 2015 20155 2016

MT 17.8 16.5 16.3 18.0 17.7

Wales 14.4 14.0 13.5 13.4 13.5

Difference (3.4) (2.5) (2.8) (4.6) (4.2)

SOURCE The percentage of the working age population with no qualifications

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012 2013 2014 2015 20155 2016

MT 12.7 13.6 13.1 13.7 14.4 12.5

Wales 10.5 9.6 8.9 9.5 10.2

Difference (2.2) (4.0) (4.2) (4.2) (4.2)

5 This reflects the newly calculated data using the working age for males and females as 18 to 64.

Page 143

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/People-and-Work/Employment/Persons-Employed/employmentrate-by-welshlocalarea-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Education-and-Skills/Post-16-Education-and-Training/Lifelong-Learning/Qualification-Levels/highestqualificationlevelsofworkingageadults-by-regionsofwales-qualification


TITLE The percentage of young adults (aged 16 to 18) not in education, employment 
or training

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2016

MT 6.20 1.90 2.60 1.60 1.50

Wales 4.20 3.70 3.10 2.80

Difference (2.0) (-1.8) (-0.5) (-1.2) ()

TITLE The percentage of former looked after children in education, employment 
or training at age 19

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT 53.8 50.0 61.5 63.2 - -

Wales 56.4 54.8 59.5 60.7 -

Difference (-2.6) (-4.8) (2.0) (2.5) ()

TITLE The percentage of all care leavers in education, training or employment at 12 
months after leaving care

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - - - In
Development -

Wales - - - -

Difference () () () () ()

TITLE The percentage of all care leavers in education, training or employment at 24 
months after leaving care

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2016/17

MT - - - - In
Development -

Wales - - - -

Difference () () () () ()

Page 144



Appendix II Projects

PROJECTS Apr
2015

Jul
2015

Oct
2015

Jan
2016

Apr
2016

Jul
2016

Oct
2016

Jan
2017

Apr
2017

Jul
2017

Oct
2017

Jan
2018

Secure EU Funding

ACL Strategy

NEET Strategy 7.1

Bridges into Work 2 7.2

Working Skills for Adults 2 7.3

Inspire to Achieve 7.4

Inspire to Work 7.5

Page 145



Back

PROJECT (C) Not in Education, Employment or Training Strategy

PROJECT MANAGER Early Years and Youth Manager

DESCRIPTION This project is the delivery of a strategy focused on helping children and 
young people who are not in education, employment or training (NEET).  
All children and young people who are identified as potential NEET or 
are NEET are given the opportunity to reach their full potential through 
coordinated support enabling them to take advantage of high quality 
learning environments and effective interventions that assists their 
transition between education and work.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) A reduction in the children and young people identified as NEET

START DATE 01 April 2015

FINISH DATE 31 July 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 05 December 2016

The NEETS Steering group is delivering successes reducing the 
proportion of young people who are not in education, employment or 
training.  The impact this year (June 2015) highlights a reduction to 1.60 
percent of young people classified as NEET and 0 per cent of young 
people classified as unknown, placing Merthyr Tydfil as 3rd in Wales.  
The steering group is currently developing a new 3-year strategy to 
continue developing this agenda.

All pre 16 identification is now carried out using the data from Capita 
one and the professional judgement of schools using an early 
identification toolkit of vulnerability factors.  This is currently run for all 
pupils from Year 6 to year 11 to identify those of highest risk. 

Page 146



Back

PROJECT (D) Bridges to Work 2

PROJECT MANAGER Employability Manager

DESCRIPTION This is a 36-month project to support adults into employment.  The 
focus is on adults who are economically inactive and adults who are 
long-term unemployed.  

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The expected outcome from this project is to support 250 adults with 50 
percent gaining employment

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2019

PROJECT UPDATE 30 November 2016

The project is operational, and seeks to support long term unemployed 
and economically inactive living in the non-communities first post coded 
areas and in most cases individuals who have complex barriers such 
as:

 Substance misuse 
 Significant  health conditions
 Numeracy and literacy issues
 Issues with Mental Health

To date the project has successfully engaged and signed up 80 people 
who all experience complex barriers.  5 people have secured 
employment which is a great achievement and 30 people have 
achieved a work related qualification.  

With the small geographical target area the target to engage with 250 
individuals is a challenge.  The project is completely reliant on potential 
participants providing the adequate elements of evidence in line with EU 
requirements.

Discussions are taking place with the Welsh European Funding Office 
to seek approval to progress a further commitment for additional 
funding, possibly until 2020.

Page 147



Back

PROJECT (E) Working Skills for Adults 2

PROJECT MANAGER Employability Manager

DESCRIPTION This is a 36-month project to support progression for people in 
employment.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The expected outcome from this project is to support 720 individuals 
with progression in employment

START DATE 02 November 2015

FINISH DATE 31 March 2019

PROJECT UPDATE 30 November 2016

Extensive marketing of the provision has been undertaken by the 
Administration Team.  Since January 2016 the focus has been on 
establishing a full delivery team in Partnership with Adult Community 
Learning with a view to ACL hosting a broad range of tutors to deliver 
recognised qualifications that are on the Qualification Credit 
Framework.

To date 264 people have been deemed as eligible and signed up to the 
provision – exceeding expectations across the region and with Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC having the most people signed up to date.

The development of the Procurement Framework, linked to Torfaen 
County Borough Council, will extend the offer to local people for more 
specialised provision.  This aims to increase availability of support for 
local people to upskills whilst in work allowing them to progress with an 
employer, earn more money or make a career change if they are at risk.

Officers from Merthyr Tydfil CBC have been supporting the Torfaen 
Team on the scoring panel following a high number of submissions to 
deliver specialised qualifications.  The contract is expected to go live 
early in the new year.

Page 148



Back

PROJECT (F) Inspire 2 Achieve

PROJECT MANAGER Inspire 2 Achieve Coordinator

DESCRIPTION This is a 38-month project to support 11 to 18 year olds at risk of 
becoming NEET. The operation has a clear focus on retaining young 
people in mainstream education who have been identified using the 
early identification toolkit (EIT) as at risk of becoming NEET (RED). 
Inspire2 Achieve provides early interventions aimed at identifying 
individual barriers and providing supportive actions to reduce the risk of 
young people dropping out of education.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The expected outcome from this project is to support up to 561 children 
and young people aged 11 to 24 who are at risk of becoming NEET. All 
interventions aim to improve academic performance, personal and 
social development, increase school attendance and enable young 
people to gain qualifications increasing opportunities and aiding there 
progression into further education.

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 30 June 2019

PROJECT UPDATE 05 December 2016

Inspire 2 Achieve rolled out with effect from 01 April 2016.  All staff have 
been recruited and the programme has underway supporting young 
people who are at risk of becoming NEET.  This has been critical to 
ensuring that young people leaving school in the July of 2016 took up a 
positive destination.

This destination measurement will be published by Careers Wales in 
due course and a report brought to council on NEETs by the Head of 
Community Wellbeing.

Page 149



Back

PROJECT (G) Inspire to Work

PROJECT MANAGER Inspire 2 Work Co-ordinator

DESCRIPTION This is a 32-month project, currently seeking approval, to support 16 to 
24 year olds into employment.  This project is intrinsically linked to 
Inspire 2 Achieve whereby those young people becoming NEET upon 
exiting school will transition into Inspire 2 Work, identified using the 
Careers Wales 5 tier model whilst also making links with 18 – 24 year 
olds who are unemployed. 

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The expected outcome from this project is to support 330 young people 
(205 16-17 years and 125 19 – 24 year) to move into employment, gain 
qualifications and/or progress onto further learning or training.

START DATE 01 October 2016

FINISH DATE 30 June 2019

PROJECT UPDATE 05 December 2016

The project has now been approved regionally

Approval of the Communities4Work programme impacted on the level 
of need across some regional partners.  The programme has been re-
profiled in terms of levels of need and financial commitments.

A report is in development for Elected Members to review and agree the 
programme and its financial commitments.

Page 150



Civic Centre, Castle Street
Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Performance Report – Corporate Plan Priority Area 5 
(Economic Development)

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
1.1. In Merthyr Tydfil (2012), outcomes were unsatisfactory with high levels of 

unemployment and lower levels of pay for full time workers.  The difference between 
new business births and business deaths was positive; however, there were fewer 
active enterprises and lower survivability than Wales.

1.2. The current position (2015) of outcomes is adequate because there is positive 
improvement within the business demography within Merthyr Tydfil, with an increase in 
active enterprise from 306 to 354.  There remains fewer active enterprises and lower 
survivability than Wales; however, the Enterprise based programmes delivered through 
VVP and EFECT are positively contributing to improvement.

1.3. Our ambition is for outcomes to be good by 2017.  In order to achieve good we need to 
maintain a competitive business sector and a reduction in unemployment to be in the 
top half of local authorities in Wales.

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)
2.1. The judgements and evaluations are noted and debated

Date Written 21 November 2016

Report Author Ewan McWilliams

Service Performance

Committee Date 13 December 2016

Page 151

Agenda Item 8

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

National Context
3.1. All local authorities in Wales are required to secure continuous improvement in the 

exercise of their functions by identifying their own priorities for improvement.  This legal 
requirement is set out in the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2009.

Council Vision
3.2. To strengthen Merthyr Tydfil’s position as the regional centre for the Heads of the 

Valleys, and be a place to be proud of where:

a) People learn and develop skills to fulfil their ambitions
b) People live, work, have a safe, healthy and fulfilled life
c) People visit, enjoy and return

3.3. Our current approach to delivery of Children's Social Services directly and indirectly 
contributes to the priority outcomes set in both the Single Integrated Plan (SIP) and the 
Corporate Plan (CP).  The current strategy is to deliver those but our approach is 
evolving to align with the expectations of the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 2014 
and the Wellbeing of Future Generation Act 2015.

Corporate Plan - Economic development
3.4. The local authority improvement objectives for 2013 to 2017 include the priority areas 

Economic Development and Employability.  The four key areas of development that are 
fundamental to economic growth are:

a) The economy
b) Infrastructure
c) The labour market
d) Skills

3.5. These priority areas seek to prioritise effort within the wide range of activities to have a 
strategic focus on economic growth to achieve the outcomes:

a) A growing and sustainable economy for Merthyr Tydfil, delivering a diverse range 
of quality job opportunities

b) Adults and young people (aged 16 and over) will develop their skills for work and 
both gain and sustain employment

3.6. This report will focus on the outcome "a growing and sustainable economy for 
Merthyr Tydfil, delivering a diverse range of quality job opportunities"

Page 152



4. WHERE WE WERE

Economic Development
4.1. In Merthyr Tydfil, outcomes were unsatisfactory with comparably higher levels of 

unemployment in Merthyr Tydfil and lower levels of pay for full time workers in Merthyr 
Tydfil.  The difference between new business births and business deaths was positive; 
however, the rate of active enterprises per 10,000 working age population was 
significantly lower than the average across Wales and the business survivability was 
lower.  The year's supply of housing land (3.60) was below the 5-year requirement 
stated in the Local Development Plan, Technical Advice Note (TAN) 1.

Key Indicators
2012
Merthyr Tydfil

2012
Wales

Jobseekers allowance claimants 6.10 % 4.30 %
Median annual pay (gross) for full time workers £ 22,046 £ 23,918
Median weekly pay (gross) for full time workers £ 413 £ 455
Business birth rate 11.3 % 9.40 %
Business death rate 10.8 % 10.2 %
Active business rate 306 455
3 year survivability of newly born enterprises 56.0 % 58.8 %
Year's supply of housing land 3.60 -

5. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

Economic Development
5.1. By 2017, we want to see positive levels of business births and survivability reflecting a 

competitive business sector that is both resilient and competitive in a changing global 
market.  In addition, through job creation we want to see a trend of continuous reduction 
in the JSA claimant population.

Key Indicators
March 2016
Merthyr Tydfil

March 2017
Merthyr Tydfil

Jobseekers allowance claimants Reduce Reduce
Median annual pay (gross) for full time workers Increase Increase
Median weekly pay (gross) for full time workers Increase Increase
Business birth rate - -
Business death rate - -
Active business rate Increase Increase
3 year survivability of newly born enterprises Increase Increase
Year's supply of housing land 5.00 5.00

Page 153



6. WHERE WE ARE NOW

Reference to Measures
(Full details in Appendix I)

Economic Development
6.1. The current position of outcomes is adequate because there continues to be a positive 

improvement within the business demography within Merthyr Tydfil, with an increase in 
active enterprise from 306 to 354.  There remains fewer active enterprises and lower 
survivability than Wales; however, the Enterprise based programmes delivered through 
VVP and EFECT are positively contributing towards the increase in active enterprise 
figures.

6.2. Merthyr Tydfil continues to have high business births and deaths, with the provisional 
data for 2015 suggesting the net gain to business numbers is greater than the previous 
year.  The latest provisional data also reflects a decline in the 3 year business survival 
rates.

6.3. There has been an increase in the median pay, which is most likely related to the 
increase in the national minimum wage from April to October 2016.

Key Indicators
2016
Merthyr Tydfil

2016
Wales

Jobseekers allowance claimants 2.70 %1 rank 18 2.20 %
Median annual pay (gross) for full time workers £ 22,533 rank 20 £ 25,667
Median weekly pay (gross) for full time workers £ 448 rank 20 £ 498
Business birth rate 17.4 % rank 1 12.1 %
Business death rate 11.3 % rank 22 9.10 %
Active business rate 354 rank 21 495
3 year survivability of newly born enterprises 57.7 % rank 17 60.4 %
Year's supply of housing land 1.60 2 - -

1  Data at October 2016
2  Data taken from the Joint Land Availability Study (July 2016)

Page 154



7. HOW DID WE GET HERE

Reference to Initiatives
(Full details in Appendix II)

7.1. Vibrant and Viable Places Programme
7.2. Social Enterprise Strategy and Programme Development
7.3. Destination Management Plan
7.4. Local Development Plan

Initiatives completed
7.5. Cyfarthfa Castle Stage 1 HLF Funding secured.
7.6. Launch of the Penydarren Park (VVP) Project on 31 October 2016.
7.7. Heritage and Regeneration Conference on 04 November 2016.
7.8. Appointment of Destination Management Co-ordinator. 
7.9. Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre was recognised by the Department of Communities and 

Local Government as a top 5 High Street in the 2016 awards.  This application 
recognised the success of our current partnership working and meanwhile scheme.  It 
has gained a huge amount of national press.

7.10. This year’s Town Centre awards were a huge success with 47 businesses in 
attendance.  The event was a huge morale booster for local businesses and great 
engagement opportunity.

Lessons learnt
7.11. n/a 

8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

New initiatives
8.1. Disseminate Destination Management Plan
8.2. Create Destination Management Partnership 
8.3. Develop the Stage 2 HLF3 application for the Castle
8.4. Further develop the Social Enterprise Strategy and continue Programme Development
8.5. Review Local Development Plan 

9. THE WELLBEING DUTY (SS&WB ACT AND WFG ACT)
9.1. The Social Services and Wellbeing (SSWB) Act became law in Wales on 01 May 2014, 

which changes the way we assess people's needs and the way we deliver services to 
those people, where they will have a stronger voice to decide what care and support 
they receive.

3 Heritage Lottery Fund

Page 155



9.2. The Wellbeing of Future Generations (WFG) Act became law in Wales on 29 April 2015, 
which is about improving the social, economic, environmental and cultural wellbeing of 
Wales.

Preparation for the Wellbeing Duty
9.3. The service will contribute to the development of the Economy theme in the Wellbeing 

Assessment, with a particular focus on interpretation and understanding service 
provision.

ALYN OWEN
CHIEF OFFICER: COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION

COUNCILLOR CHRIS BARRY
PORTFOLIO: REGENERATION, PLANNING 

& COUNTRYSIDE

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2015/16
 Corporate Plan, Annual Delivery Document 2016/17
 Scrutiny Report – 12 July 2016
 Scrutiny Report – 04 October 2016

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 156



Appendix I Data

SOURCE The percentage of the working age population claiming Jobseekers Allowance

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2013 2014 2015 2016 Oct 2016 2017

MT (March) 6.40 4.70 2.90 3.00 2.70 Reduce 18

Wales (March) 4.20 3.40 2.50 2.40 2.20

Difference (2.2) (1.3) (0.4) (0.6) (0.5)

SOURCE The median annual pay (gross) for full time workers (£)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2016

MT 22,046 21,533 21,859 22,217 22,553 Increase 20

Wales 23,918 24,427 24,848 25,178 25,667

Difference (-1,872) (-2,894) (-2,989) (-2,961) (-3,114)

SOURCE The median weekly pay (gross) for full time workers (£)

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2016

MT 413 425 439 426 448 Increase 20

Wales 455 475 480 484 498

Difference (-42) (-50) (-41) (-58) (-50)

SOURCE The active business enterprises per 10,000 population aged 16 to 64

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2016 2014

MT (rate) 306 329 344 354 Increase 21

Wales (rate) 455 466 481 495

Difference (-149) (-137) (-137) (-141) ()

Page 157

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157399/subreports/cc_compared/report.aspx?allInGB=&pivot=total&&sort=2&ascending=
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157399/report.aspx?town=merthyr%20tydfil
https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/lmp/la/1946157399/subreports/asher_compared/report.aspx?allInGB=&pivot=1&&sort=1&ascending=
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/activebusinessenterprisesperpopulation-by-area-year


SOURCE The business birth rate as a percentage of active enterprises

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012 2013 2014 2015 4 2016 2016 2014

MT (%) 11.3 18.1 15.5 17.4 - 1

(count) 130 225 200 230

Wales (%) 9.40 12.6 12.3 12.1

(count) 8,270 11,320 11,345 11,320

SOURCE The business death rate as a percentage of active enterprises

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012 2013 2014 2015 5 2016 2016

MT (%) 10.8 10.9 13.6 11.3 - 22

(count) 125 135 175 150

Wales (%) 10.2 9.20 9.20 9.10

(count) 8,950 8,255 8,490 8,620

SOURCE The percentage survivability (3 years) of newly born enterprises

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2016 2014

MT (%) 56.0 57.9 59.3 57.7 Increase 17

Wales (%) 58.8 56.4 60.1 60.4

Difference (-2.8) (1.5) (-0.8) (-2.7) ()

SOURCE The year's supply of housing land as determined by the Joint housing Land 
Availability Study

Annual Performance Data Annual Target LA Rank

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2016

MT 3.60 2.90 2.50 2.80 1.60 5.00

4 Provisional Data
5 Provisional Data

Page 158

https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/activebusinessenterprisesperpopulation-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/activebusinessenterprisesperpopulation-by-area-year
https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Business-Economy-and-Labour-Market/Businesses/Business-Demography/businesssurvivalrates-by-area-survivalyear
http://gov.wales/topics/planning/planningstats/housing-land-availability-in-wales/?lang=en


Appendix II Projects

PROJECTS Apr
2014

Jul
2014

Oct
2014

Jan
2015

Apr
2015

Jul
2015

Oct
2015

Jan
2016

Apr
2016

Jul
2016

Oct
2016

Jan
2017

Vibrant and Viable Places 7.1

Social Enterprise Strategy 7.2

Destination Management Plan 7.3

Local Development Plan 7.4

Page 159



Back

PROJECT (A) Vibrant and Viable Places Programme

PROJECT MANAGER Regeneration Programmes Manager

DESCRIPTION The VVP programme is the Welsh Government regeneration framework 
that has allocated £12.873m of monies to fund projects in Merthyr Tydfil 
from 2014 to 2017.  The aim of this programme is to:
 Revitalise and refurbish a number of key buildings in Merthyr Tydfil 

Town Centre
 Bring forward key sites for new housing opportunities
 Develop the Cyfarthfa Heritage area
 Develop infrastructure connecting to the Town Centre, and
 Devise an enterprise and entrepreneurship facilitation programme

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The projects focus on improvements to physical infrastructure that 
create opportunities to influence employment and business growth in 
the Merthyr Tydfil Town Centre.

START DATE 01 April 2014

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 30 November 2016

Work continues to address the Gateway Review recommendations.
 Planning undertake an annual Housing Land Availability Study to 

monitor the supply of housing land in Merthyr Tydfil; and
 An internal working group was established including Planning, 

Community Regeneration and Neighbourhood Services to focus on 
the recommendation "to ensure clear links with the housing element 
of the programme to the council's strategic objectives" in 
preparation for any future Gateway Reviews.

In the past three months a number of VVP programme developments 
have been implemented including:
 2 new "Meanwhile Schemes" launched in the Pontmorlais Area (The 

Bait Shack and Furniture Reborn)
 The Penydarren Park Project launched on the 31 October 2016
 Additional funding is being sought for the Labour Exchange Project
 Stage 1 HLF funding was secured for Cyfarthfa Castle and urgent 

roof repair works will be undertaken by the end of March 17.
 Ideas are currently being discussed in relation to the YMCA 

Building.
 A further two "Meanwhile Scheme" launches will be held in 

December 2016 with more in the future including St. Johns and the 
Central Merthyr Housing Schemes.

Page 160



Back

PROJECT (B) Social Enterprise Strategy and Programme Development

PROJECT MANAGER Programme Manager

DESCRIPTION This programme will aim to:
 Encourage strong links with the Social Services and Wellbeing Act
 Deliver a work programme to support social enterprises fulfil their 

social and business objectives and build on the Economic Impact of 
the SEWCED programme.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) Explore and maximise opportunities for social enterprises to deliver 
preventative wellbeing services within the community. 
Increase the economic impact of the sector within Merthyr Tydfil by 
increasing job opportunities and providing social benefits.

START DATE 01 April 2015

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 30 November 2016

Following implementation of the Social Services & Wellbeing Act, the 
Merthyr Tydfil Social Enterprise Network (MTSEN), which includes 
representatives of the LA, Wales Co-operative centre, VAMT and the 
third sector, met to develop a strategy that will include a focus to help 
organisations access the possible opportunities.

This strategy will be developed following consultation with the sector 
and a number of support agencies and will be in completed by 2017.

Page 161



Back

PROJECT (C) Destination Management Plan

PROJECT MANAGER Programme Manager

DESCRIPTION This plan focuses on delivering a quality visitor experience in Merthyr 
Tydfil.  The aim of the Destination Management Plan (DMP) is to:
 Deliver marketing, destination development and product 

development to ensure an improved visitor experience
 Create an effective Destination Management Partnership to deliver 

on key actions and monitor progress of the Destination 
Management Plan

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The DMP aims to provide a better, year-round experience for potential 
visitors and residents.  By evolving the tourism sector in a collaborative 
manner, we hope to increase visitors and improve the perception of the 
area.

START DATE 01 April 2015

FINISH DATE 31 March 2018

PROJECT UPDATE 30 November 2016

A new appointment to the Destination Management Co-ordinator was 
made on 14 November 2016.

Developments to support MTCBC ambition to be a premier UK activity
tourism destination:

 Rock UK officially launched their £4m redevelopment and 
expansion plans at the Summit Centre.  The new accommodation 
alone expects to almost double the Summit Centres annual visitors 
from 14,000 to 25,000-30,000 per year.  The Destination 
Management Co-ordinator will engage Rock UK to support the 
development through collaborative marketing campaigns and 
activity tourism packages.

Project expressions and ideas are being developed to apply for funding 
as part of the Visit Wales Year of Legends themed campaign for 2017.

Work continues on the Visit Merthyr website, a new culture and heritage 
video and our role within the South East Wales Destination 
Management Group.

Page 162



Back

PROJECT (D) Review Local Development Plan

PROJECT MANAGER Head of Planning and Countryside

DESCRIPTION The adopted Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) sets out the 
council's priorities for the development and use of land and its policies 
to implement them over the 15-year plan period between 2006 and 
2021.  The council is required to undertake a full review of the adopted 
LDP at least once every 4 years from the date of adoption.

SOURCE Corporate Plan

EXPECTED BENEFIT(S) The LDP expects to clarify the change in land use terms in order to 
accommodate development needs over the plan period, providing 
certainty for developers and the public.  The LDP will seek to:
 Balance social, economic and environmental issues in order to meet 

the needs of those people living, working and visiting Merthyr Tydfil
 Protect important elements of the built, natural and cultural 

environment
 Provide new housing, employment and community facilities in 

appropriate locations
 Promote sustainable and integrated forms of transport, and Provide 

a basis for determining planning applications and appeals in a 
consistent and rational manner

START DATE 01 April 2016

FINISH DATE 31 March 2017

PROJECT UPDATE 30 November 2016

This project is ongoing.  We will pursue alongside pre-deposit 
involvement in early 2017.

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Scrutiny Committee Work Programme

1.0 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide the Scrutiny Committee with its work programme for consideration and to 
prepare in advance for the next scrutiny committee meeting.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The Committee considers its work programme and approve, revise or amend it as 
deemed appropriate; and to consider the questions above in planning for the next 
meeting.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND
3.1 Scrutiny committees are required to prepare and keep under review a programme for 

their future work. By reviewing and prioritising issues, members are able to ensure 
that the work programme delivers a member-led agenda. 

3.2 At each meeting the committee will agree the agenda items for their next meeting 
and in preparation may in advance wish to ask itself the following questions.

Q) Why has the item been placed on a scrutiny work programme?
a. Does this item/topic contribute to the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan 

and priorities?
b. Is this item/topic relating to service performance concerns?
c. Is this item/topic of significant public interest?
d. Has the item/topic got budgetary implications?

Date Written 24th November 2016
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Service Area Legal & Governance Services
Committee Division Scrutiny 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 13th December 2016

Page 165

Agenda Item 10



e. Is this a item/topic where Scrutiny involvement will make a significant 
difference and achieve tangible outcomes?

f. Can effective Scrutiny of this issue be delivered from within available 
resources?

Q) What is the specific role of the committee?
           This will depend on the item – for example the role could be:

a. to determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department

b. to determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose
c. to satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a 

major issue 
d. to gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny 

investigation / review
e. to explore possible solutions to an issue

Q) What outcome is the committee seeking from the consideration of this 
item?

a. To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet 
regarding the proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council 

b. Identification of any causes for concern and note successes.
c. To receive an overview presentation.
d. To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy
e. To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the 

pressures facing each service. This also helps provide an overview of the 
policy frame work. 

f. For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of 
the corporate plan / other plan / other strategy.

g. Improvement in service delivery

Q) What information does the committee need to fulfil this role / achieve 
this outcome? 
What is the Committee trying to do? You might be trying to do some or all of 
the following i.e. establish facts; gather opinions; or explore new ideas / 
solutions.

Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information?
Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range 
of witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and 
External partners – e.g. Police,  Health Board etc

Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations?
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Directorate / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This 
will assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer 
ready for the meeting. 

Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item 
and for the witnesses that will be invited to attend?
Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. 
You may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. 

Page 166



community centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some 
people find the formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more 
appropriate to see first-hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining 
information on e.g. waste sites, regeneration projects etc.

3.3 Just so the scrutiny committees are aware the Council has seven key priorities as 
per the Corporate Plan. These are:- 1) Raising Standards of Attainment; 2) 
Employability;  3) Economic Development;  4) Promoting Active Lifestyles;  5) 
Promoting Independence; 6) Meeting the Needs of Vulnerable Children and 7)  A 
Sustainable Environment.

These seven Council priority areas are delivered through 4 themes and each of the 4 
Chief Officers has ownership and responsibility for one of them. The 4 themes are:-

 Raising Standards - (Chief Officer for Learning/ Cabinet member for 
Learning) 
Learning & LAESCYP Scrutiny Committee

 Improving Wellbeing - (Chief Officer for Social Services / Cabinet member 
for Social Services)
Social Services Scrutiny Committee

 Economic Growth - (Chief Officer for Community Regeneration / Cabinet 
member for Regeneration, Planning and Countryside)
Regeneration, Planning & Countryside Scrutiny Committee

 Sustainable Development - (Chief Officer for Neighbourhood Services / 
Cabinet member for Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection)
Neighbourhood Services and Public Protection Scrutiny Committee

3.4 To reflect the 4 themes as per above in a convenient form, 4 “strategies on a page” 
have been developed each reflects the Measures of Success; Desired Outcomes 
and Strategic Aims and Objectives.

3.5 Much of Scrutiny committee activity is aligned to the delivery of the Council’s 
corporate priorities and the “strategies of a page” can assist scrutiny committees in 
this role. See appendix I for the “strategies of a page”

3.6 A copy of the Committees work programme is also attached.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 167



This page is intentionally left blank



Measures of Success

Raising Standards

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims 

All learners attain at least
the expected standard at all

stages in their education

Vision:

AIM 1: Improve the quality of
leadership including the leadership
of learning and teaching

AIM 2: Improve LA and
commissioned services

Leadership in all schools
is good or better

All members of the
education community

collaborate well in order
to improve the standards
and wellbeing of pupils

Teaching in all schools
is good or better

LA provision improves 
standards of attainment 

and the quality of
leadership and teaching 

in schools

P
age 169



Specific Measurable Outcomes - Measures of Success

Improving Wellbeing

Desired Outcomes

Strategic Aims & Objectives:

Social Services:
- Children
- Adults
- Safeguarding

We will help people in
Merthyr Tydfil to maximise their
potential, be free from poverty,

be independent and healthy
and to live in supportive and

resilient communities.
People in Merthyr Tydfil 

will be able to lead 
independent and 

fulfilled lives.
Vulnerable children in 

Merthyr Tydfil live 
healthy, safe and fulfilled 

lives.

People in Merthyr Tydfil 
are physically active and 

as a result have 
improved health.

Vision:

P
age 170



Economic	  Growth	  Plan	  
	  
	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   	  Vision	  	  	  	  

Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Business	  Base	  	   Baseline	  
	  (year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   The	  Labour	  Market	  	   Baseline	  

(year)	   Target	  	   	  	   Priority	  Area	  	   Skills	  	   Baseline	  
(year)	   Target	  	  

Key	  Indicator	  	   Count	  of	  birth	  of	  new	  
enterprises	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Economic	  Ac@vity,	  

Unitary	  Authori@es	  in	  
Wales	  	  

27833	  (2011)	   30000	   	  	   Key	  Indicator	  	   Level	  2	  Skills	  	   6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Births	  	   225	  (2013)	   300	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Average	  Gross	  Weekly	  

Earnings	  	   £477.60	  
(2014)	   £500	   	  	   Indicator	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  level	  2	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  	  	  

6682	   7000	  

Indicator	  	   VAT	  /	  PAYE	  Registered	  
Enterprise	  Deaths	  	   135	  (2013)	   100	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Claimant	  Count	  Levels	  	   1,100	  (Mar	  2015)	   900	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Working	  Age	  PopulaLon	  

with	  no	  qualificaLons	  
(2011)	  

9963	   9000	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Gross	  Disposal	  
Household	  Income	  Per	  
Head	  	  	  

£13,500	   £14000	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	   Unemployment	  Levels	  
16	  +	  	   2000	   1600	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   Indicator	  	   Economic	  InacLvity	  
Levels	  16-‐64	  year	  olds	   7,900	   7,300	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	   	  	  

 

AIM 1: Develop a diverse 
and vibrant business 

base 

	  	  

AIM 2: Create a flexible, 
resilient and responsive 

labour market 	  

 
 

AIM 3:  Increase the 
quality and skills within 
the existing and future 

workforce necessary for 
effective business growth  

	  	  

 
 

AIM 4: Improve and create 
the right infrastructure to 

enable and accelerate 
business growth   

	  	  

Measurable	  Outcomes	  	  

Desired	  Outcomes	  	  

P
age 171



A Sustainable Environment

Vision
People in Merthyr Tydfil 
will live in communities 
that are sustainable, clean 
and energy efficient. 

Waste Management
Energy Management
Environmental Quality  - Cleaning / Fly Tipping / Litter
           - Air Quality
           - Noise

Flood Management
Planning & Countryside
Wildlife & Biodiversity
Parks & Open SpacesSpecific Measurable Outcomes - ‘Scores on Doors’

  - Measure of Success

Strategic Aims & Objectives -

Desired Outcomes -

Creation of more
‘Greener’ jobs

P
age 172



Regeneration, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version August 2016)

Committee Regeneration, Planning and Countryside

Date / Timing Overarching Item Officer & 
Cabinet 
Member

Scrutiny Focus 

Planning: Annual 
Performance 
Report (APR)

Judith Jones & 
Huw Roberts

Scrutiny & Challenge:- As of November 2015 all Local Planning Authorities are required to submit 
an APR to Welsh Government which assesses the performance of Development Control in terms 
of determining planning applications and also reports on customer survey feedback.

12th July 2016 Performance MP/AO/Cllr 
Barry

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 5 & 6 Reports.  An update on progress against the Corporate Plan
Service Performance Report (Community Regeneration).  An update on progress implementing 
the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from 
the Performance Board challenge.

Performance Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 5 & 6 Reports.  An update on progress against the Corporate Plan
Service Performance Report (Community Regeneration).  An update on progress implementing 
the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from 
the Performance Board challenge.

4th October 2016
Awareness 
Raising – 

“Countryside” 
elements of the 

Committees 
remit.

JW - Group 
Leader - 
Planning 

policy and 
Implementati

on section. 

The Chair has asked for an update on this issue from the Group Leader ‘Planning policy and 
Implementation section’ to include an outline of his areas of responsibility, including any targets 
he is working towards. 

“The Countryside elements that fall within Judith Jones’s (Head of Planning and Countryside)  
remit relate to ecology, biodiversity and landscape which sit under the umbrella of 
implementation within the ‘Planning policy and Implementation section’, for which Justin Waite 
is the Group Leader”. 

Special 26th 
October 2016
(meeting 
cancelled)

Performance EMcW / 
CL/AO

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 6 Report – Employability.  An update on progress implementing the 
service strategy and the associated risks; issues and challenges for example activities from the 
Performance Board challenge.

P
age 173



Regeneration, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version August 2016)

Destination 
Management 

Plan

CL / AO / 
Cllr. CB / RB

Scrutiny & Challenge:- A report detailing how the adopted Destination Management Plan is 
being delivered across the County Borough:

(i) Progress on the overall delivery of the newly adopted DMP in relation to key actions 
and outputs, the Visit Merthyr film and guide and the trends in terms of visitors to 
the County Borough, the length of stay and the focus of activity.  

(ii) Progress on the local delivery including stakeholder engagement, local work-plans 
and groups / structures established

(iii) Update on product development including Cyfarthfa Heritage Area, Rock UK and 
BPW; detail on the relationship between MTCBC and the Leisure Trust. 

(iv) Progress on regional delivery and the projects the local authority are delivering and / 
or opportunities being pursued 

(v) Progress on the trans-national opportunities identified through the European funded 
Atlantic and Interreg Programmes. 

Performance Alan Owen, 
Chris Long 
and Zoe 
Thomas

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 5 & 6 Reports (Employability and Economic Growth).  

15th November 2016

Performance Ken Bateman Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Service Performance Report (Building Control ). An update on progress implementing the service 
strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from the 
Performance Board challenge.

13th December 2016

VVP CL / AO /ZT 
and Cllr. CB

Scrutiny & Challenge:- A report detailing the progress of the Vibrant and Viable Places 
Programme in Merthyr:

(i) Progress on project delivery as the Programme draws to a close in March 2017 
including re-profiles undertaken and an update on the remaining budget. 

(ii) Risks affecting the Programme during its final year of delivery and the mitigations in 
place

(iii) Update on completed projects and the sustainability of those projects 
(iv) Progress on the developments of VVP2 including WG Guidance issued, project ideas 

and stakeholder engagement. 
(v) Update on the Building for the Future ERDF funded programme which will 

compliment a number of key priority projects identified in the current VVP 
Programme. 

P
age 174



Regeneration, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version August 2016)

Planning: Annual 
Monitoring 

Report (AMR)

Judith Jones Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that an AMR is 
produced and submitted to WG each year. The AMR reports on the success (or not) of the LDP in 
delivering/implementing policies.

Performance Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 5 & 6 Reports.  An update on progress against the Corporate Plan
Service Performance Report (Community Regeneration).  An update on progress implementing 
the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from 
the Performance Board challenge.
*Appendix = Performance Board update.  A synopsis from the Performance Board

Social Enterprise CL / AO /IE 
and Cllr. CB

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  A report on the Social Enterprise Strategy detailing: 

(i) Update - Revised Social enterprise strategy, developed through the Merthyr Tydfil Social 
Enterprise Network.  
(ii) SEWCED Legacy – The continued Economic impact of the financial             Investment and 
organisations future requirements. 
(iii)        Social services and wellbeing act – opportunities for social Enterprises
(iv) Current support provisions and the LA’s role in helping organisations access the support.  

Performance Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Service performance Report (Planning). An update on progress implementing the service strategy 
and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from the Performance 
Board challenge.

Housing 
Allocation Policy 

(Draft)

SP / JP / Cllr 
CB

Scrutiny and Challenge:
All Local Authorities have to publish a scheme which determines the priority and procedure for 
the allocation of social housing. A new policy is being drafted throughout the summer of 2016, 
with a view to receiving full Council Approval in Nov/Dec 2016. It is suggested that the 
Committee review its initial implementation in 2017.

7th February 2017

Housing Renewal 
Funding

SP / JP / Cllr 
CB

Scrutiny and Challenge: 
The Authority only has one Renewal Area (Bedlinog Ward) and the funding is ending on 31st 
March 2017. Three members of staff rely on the funding, although they undertake other 
functions within the Council. In addition there is and will be ongoing requests for repairs to 
properties that have been part of the scheme. A report providing the risks being faced and areas 

P
age 175



Regeneration, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version August 2016)

of concern.

Economic Growth 
Plan 

AO, CL and 
Cllr. CB 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- A report to provide an update on the Economic Growth Plan and it’s key 
areas of focus to: increase employment, encourage business growth and investment and to 
tackle social disadvantage. 

Performance To be 
confirmed

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Corporate Plan, Priority Area 5 & 6 Reports.  An update on progress against the Corporate Plan
Service Performance Report (Community Regeneration).  An update on progress implementing 
the service strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from 
the Performance Board challenge.

21st March 2017

Local Housing 
Market 

Assessment

Julian Pike Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Of the Local Housing Market Assessment – conducted by ORS 
(Consultants). This was discussed at the November meeting of the Scrutiny Committee. The 
report will be available for the scrutiny meeting to view and comment on as necessary.

Performance EMcW Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
Service performance Report (Planning). An update on progress implementing the service 
strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges for example activities from the 
Performance Board challenge.

2nd May 2017

P
age 176



Regeneration, Planning and Countryside Scrutiny Committee 
Work Programme Descriptors 2016/17

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change)

(Work programme Version August 2016)

Additional items to 
consider for Work 
programme

P
age 177



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Performance Report - Policy and Implementation
	5 LDP Annual Monitoring Report 2016
	To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen
	LDP Annual Monitoring Report 2016
	1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)


	6 Vibrant and Viable Places (VVP) Report
	7 Performance Report - Corporate Plan Priority Area 6 (Employability)
	8 Performance Report - Corporate Plan Priority Area 5 (Economic Development)
	10 Scrutiny Work Programme 2016-17
	Strategies on a Page
	Committee Work Programme


